
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 

7.00 pm 
Tuesday 

28 March 2017 
Council Chamber - 

Town Hall 

 
Members 7: Quorum 3 
 
COUNCILLORS: 
 

Conservative 
(3) 

Residents’ 
(2) 

East Havering 
Residents’ 

 (1) 

UKIP  
  

(1) 

John Crowder 
(Chairman) 

Melvin Wallace 
Jason Frost 

 

Stephanie Nunn 
Nic Dodin 

 

Clarence Barrett David Johnson  
(Vice-Chair) 

 
 
 

Trade Union Observers Admitted/Scheduled Bodies 
Representative 

(No Voting Rights) (2) (Voting Rights) (1) 

John Giles, (Unison) 
Andy Hampshire, GMB 
 

 
 

  

 
 

For information about the meeting please contact: 
James Goodwin  - 01708 432432 

james.goodwin@OneSource.co.uk 

Public Document Pack



Pensions Committee, 28 March 2017 

 
 

 

Protocol for members of the public wishing to report on meetings of the London 
Borough of Havering 
 
Members of the public are entitled to report on meetings of Council, Committees and Cabinet, 
except in circumstances where the public have been excluded as permitted by law. 
 
Reporting means:- 
 

 filming, photographing or making an audio recording of the proceedings of the meeting; 

 using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or hear proceedings at 
a meeting as it takes place or later; or 

 reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at a meeting, orally or in writing, so 
that the report or commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later if the 
person is not present. 

 
Anyone present at a meeting as it takes place is not permitted to carry out an oral commentary 
or report. This is to prevent the business of the meeting being disrupted. 
 
Anyone attending a meeting is asked to advise Democratic Services staff on 01708 433076 
that they wish to report on the meeting and how they wish to do so. This is to enable 
employees to guide anyone choosing to report on proceedings to an appropriate place from 
which to be able to report effectively. 
 
Members of the public are asked to remain seated throughout the meeting as standing up and 
walking around could distract from the business in hand. 



Pensions Committee, 28 March 2017 

 
 

 

AGENDA ITEMS 
 
1 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
 The Chairman will announce details of the arrangements in case of fire or other 

events that might require the meeting room or building’s evacuation. 
 

2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND ANNOUNCEMENT OF SUBSTITUTE 
MEMBERS  

 
 (if any) - receive 

 

3 DISCLOSURE OF  INTERESTS  

 
 Members are invited to disclose any interest in any of the items on the agenda at this 

point of the meeting.  
 
Members may still disclose any interest in any item at any time prior to the 
consideration of the matter. 
 
 

4 FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT (Pages 1 - 48) 

 

5 2016 ACTUARIAL VALUATION DRAFT REPORT (Pages 49 - 92) 

 

6 INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT (Pages 93 - 144) 

 

7 URGENT BUSINESS  

 
 To consider any other item in respect of which the Chairman is of the opinion, by 

reason of special circumstances which shall be specific in the minutes that the item 
should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 
  
 

8 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

 
 To consider whether the public should now be excluded from the remainder of the 

meeting on the grounds that it is likely that, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, if members of the public were present 
during those items there would be disclosure to them of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972; and, if it 
is decided to exclude the public on those grounds, the Committee to resolve 
accordingly on the motion of the Chairman. 
  
 
 
 

 
 Andrew Beesley 

Head of Democratic Services 
 

 



Pensions Committee, 28 March 2017 

 
 

 

 



 
 

 PENSIONS COMMITTEE  
    28 MARCH 2017 
 

 
Subject Heading:  

 
FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT  

 
CLT Lead: 
 

 
Debbie Middleton 

Report Author and contact details: 
 
 

Debbie Ford 
Pension Fund Accountant 
01708432569 
Debbie.ford@onesource.co.uk 

Policy context: 
 
 

Administration Authority must prepare, 
maintain & publish a statement setting out 
their Funding Strategy in accordance with 
regulations 

Financial summary: 
 
 

None directly 

 
 

The subject matter of this report deals with the following Council 
Objectives 

 
Havering will be clean and its environment will be cared for [] 
People will be safe, in their homes and in the community [] 
Residents will be proud to live in Havering  [x] 

 
 

 
SUMMARY 

 
 

The Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) is a Statement that has been prepared in 
accordance with Regulation 58(4) (a) of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 (as amended).  

The Statement sets out the objectives of the London Borough of Havering’s 
strategy, in its capacity as Administering Authority, for the funding of the London 
Borough of Havering Pension Fund.  

The FSS applies to all employers participating in the Fund. 

 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Debbie.ford@


 
 

 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 
 

That the Committee: 
 

1. Agree the Funding Strategy Statement.  
 

 
REPORT DETAIL 

 
 

1. Background 
 
1.1 The Local Government Pension Schemes Regulations 2013, paragraph 58 

states that: 

(1) An administering authority must, after consultation with such persons as 
it considers appropriate, prepare, maintain and publish a written statement 
setting out its funding strategy. 

(2) The statement must be published no later than 31st March 2015. 

(3) The authority must keep the statement under review and, after 
consultation with such persons as it considers appropriate, make such 
revisions as are appropriate following a material change in its policy set out 
in the statement, and if revisions are made, publish the statement as 
revised. 

(4) In preparing, maintaining and reviewing the statement, the administering 
authority must have regard to — 

(a)    the guidance set out in the document published in October 20121 
by CIPFA, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy and called ―Preparing and Maintaining a Funding 
Strategy Statement in the Local Government Pension Scheme 
2012, 

(b) the statement of investment principles published by the 
administering authority under regulation 12 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2009(a). 

 

 

 

 

                                            
1
 As amended by updated CIPFA guidance 

Page 2



 
 

 

 

2.  Funding Strategy Statement 

 

2.1 The DRAFT Funding Strategy Statement is attached as Appendix A and 
will be effective from 1 April 2017. This will be the second version of the 
FSS since the publication of the 2013 LGPS regulations. 

 

2.2. The Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) has been prepared: 

a) in conjunction with Fund’s Actuary Hymans Robertson, 

b) in accordance with Regulation 58 (4) (a) of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2013,  

c) with regard to guidance published by CIPFA, updated from 2004 in 
2012 and later replaced with the 2016 version titled “Preparing and 
Maintaining a funding strategy statement”.  

 

2.3 Key points that the CIPFA guidance states should be addressed are: 

a) After consultation with all relevant interested parties involved with the 
fund – for example, local authority employers, admitted bodies, 
scheduled/resolution bodies – the administering authority will prepare 
and publish its funding strategy.  

b) In preparing the FSS, the administering authority must have regard 
to:  

 i. this guidance  

ii. its statement of investment principles or investment strategy 
statement, whichever is appropriate.  

c) The FSS must be revised and published whenever there is a material 
change in either the policy on the matters set out in the FSS, 
statement of investment principles or investment strategy statement.  

d) The revised FSS should be completed and approved by the pensions 
committee (or equivalent) prior to the completion of each valuation.  

e) Each fund actuary must have regard to the FSS as part of the fund 
valuation process.  

2.4  CIPFA guidance states that the FSS should have regard to the following key 
subjects that should be included, shown in italics and against these 
references are included to where these can be found within the Fund’s FSS:  

 

a) purpose of the FSS in policy terms (covered throughout the FSS but 
can be found mainly within in Section 1 & Appendix A)  

b) aims and purpose of the pension fund (covered throughout the FSS 
but mainly within Section 2 and Appendix A & D) 

Page 3



 
 

 

c) responsibilities of the key parties (can be found within Appendix B of 
the FSS)  

d) solvency issues, target funding levels and long-term cost efficiency 
(covered throughout the FSS but mainly covered within Sections 3,5 
and Appendix E) 

e) links to investment policy set out in the statement of investment 
principles (SIP) or investment strategy statement (ISS)(can be found 
within Section 4 of the FSS)  

f) identification of risks and countermeasures (can be found within  
Appendix C of the FSS).  

 

2.5 The FSS is reviewed in detail at least every three years as part of the 
triennial valuation. This statement was reviewed during the revaluation 
process which commenced on the 31 March 2016. The Valuation results will 
be published by 31 March 2017.  

 

2.6 In line with paragraph 58 (1) LGPS Regulations 2013 the Administrating 
Authority has consulted with all its participating employers in the Fund and 
all responses should be considered by the administrating authority. The 
DRAFT version of the Funding Strategy Statement was distributed to all 
participating employers in the fund on the 20 December 2016 for 
comments. Closing date for the consultation was the 10 February 2017. 

  

2.7 No comments were received from the other employers in the fund.   

 

2.8 Following agreement by the Committee the FSS will be updated where 
required and published on the Council’s website. 

 
 

 
 

IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS 
 
 
Financial implications and risks: 
 
There are no financial implications arising directly, however the objective of the 
Fund’s strategy is to ensure the long term solvency of the Fund. This will ensure 
that sufficient funds are available to meet all members’/dependents’ benefits as 
they fall due for payment. 
 
Legal implications and risks: 
 
None arise from this report. 
 

Page 4



 
 

 

Human Resources implications and risks: 
 
None arise from this report. 
 
Equalities implications and risks: 
 
None arise from this report. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 

Background Papers List 
DRAFT Funding Strategy Statement (February 2017) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

L
o

n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 

H
a

v
e

ri
n
g
 P

e
n
s
io

n
 F

u
n
d

 
D

R
A

F
T

 F
u
n
d
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 

 D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
6

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND  

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

 
C

o
n

te
n

ts
 

 

Funding Strategy Statement PAGE 

 

1 Introduction 1 
2 Basic Funding issues 4 
3 Calculating contributions for individual Employers 8 
4 Funding strategy and links to investment strategy 19 

 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A – Regulatory framework 21 
Appendix B – Responsibilities of key parties 25 
Appendix C – Key risks and controls 27 
Appendix D – The calculation of Employer contributions 32 
Appendix E – Actuarial assumptions 35 
Appendix F – Glossary 38 
 

 

Page 8



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 001 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 What is this document? 

This is the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) of the London Borough of Havering Pension Fund (“the Fund”), 

which is administered by London Borough of Havering, (“the Administering Authority”).  

It has been prepared by the Administering Authority in collaboration with the Fund‟s actuary, Hymans Robertson 

LLP, and after consultation with the Fund‟s employers and investment adviser.  It is effective from [DATE POST 

CONSULTATION]. 

1.2 What is the London Borough of Havering Pension Fund? 

The Fund is part of the national Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  The LGPS was set up by the UK 

Government to provide retirement and death benefits for local government employees, and those employed in 

similar or related bodies, across the whole of the UK.  The Administering Authority runs the London Borough of 

Havering Fund, in effect the LGPS for the London Borough of Havering area, to make sure it:  

 receives the proper amount of contributions from employees and employers, and any transfer payments; 

 invests the contributions appropriately, with the aim that the Fund‟s assets grow over time with investment 

income and capital growth; and 

 uses the assets to pay Fund benefits to the members (as and when they retire, for the rest of their lives), 

and to their dependants (as and when members die), as defined in the LGPS Regulations. Assets are also 

used to pay transfer values and administration costs. 

The roles and responsibilities of the key parties involved in the management of the Fund are summarised in 

Appendix B. 

1.3 Why does the Fund need a Funding Strategy Statement? 

Employees‟ benefits are guaranteed by the LGPS Regulations, and do not change with market values or 

employer contributions.  Investment returns will help pay for some of the benefits, but probably not all, and 

certainly with no guarantee.  Employees‟ contributions are fixed in those Regulations also, at a level which 

covers only part of the cost of the benefits.   

Therefore, employers need to pay the balance of the cost of delivering the benefits to members and their 

dependants.   

The FSS focuses on how employer liabilities are measured, the pace at which these liabilities are funded, and 

how employers or pools of employers pay for their own liabilities.  This statement sets out how the Administering 

Authority has balanced the conflicting aims of: 

 affordability of employer contributions,  

 transparency of processes,  

 stability of employers‟ contributions, and  

 prudence in the funding basis.  

There are also regulatory requirements for an FSS, as given in Appendix A. 

The FSS is a summary of the Fund‟s approach to funding its liabilities, and this includes reference to the Fund‟s 

other policies; it is not an exhaustive statement of policy on all issues.  The FSS forms part of a framework 

which includes: 

Page 9



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 002 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

 the LGPS Regulations; 

 the Rates and Adjustments Certificate (confirming employer contribution rates for the next three years) 

which can be found in an appendix to the formal valuation report; 

 the Fund‟s policies on admissions, cessations and bulk transfers; 

 actuarial factors for valuing individual transfers, early retirement costs and the costs of buying added 

service; and 

 the Fund‟s Investment Strategy Statement (see Section 4) 

1.4 How does the Fund and this FSS affect me? 

This depends who you are: 

 a member of the Fund, i.e. a current or former employee, or a dependant: the Fund needs to be sure it is 

collecting and holding enough money so that your benefits are always paid in full; 

 an employer in the Fund (or which is considering joining the Fund): you will want to know how your 

contributions are calculated from time to time, that these are fair by comparison to other employers in the 

Fund, and in what circumstances you might need to pay more.  Note that the FSS applies to all employers 

participating in the Fund; 

 an Elected Member whose council participates in the Fund: you will want to be sure that the council 

balances the need to hold prudent reserves for members‟ retirement and death benefits, with the other 

competing demands for council money; 

 a Council Tax payer: your council seeks to strike the balance above, and also to minimise cross-subsidies 

between different generations of taxpayers. 

1.5 What does the FSS aim to do? 

The FSS sets out the objectives of the Fund‟s funding strategy, such as:  

 to ensure the long-term solvency of the Fund, using a prudent long term view.  This will ensure that 

sufficient funds are available to meet all members‟/dependants‟ benefits as they fall due for payment; 

 to ensure that employer contribution rates are reasonably stable where appropriate; 

 to minimise the long-term cash contributions which employers need to pay to the Fund, by recognising the 

link between assets and liabilities and adopting an investment strategy which balances risk and return (this 

will also minimise the costs to be borne by Council Tax payers); 

 to reflect the different characteristics of different employers in determining contribution rates.  This involves 

the Fund having a clear and transparent funding strategy to demonstrate how each employer can best meet 

its own liabilities over future years; and 

 to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and ultimately to the Council Tax payer 

from an employer defaulting on its pension obligations. 

  

Page 10



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 003 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

1.6 How do I find my way around this document? 

In Section 2 there is a brief introduction to some of the main principles behind funding, i.e. deciding how much 

an employer should contribute to the Fund from time to time. 

In Section 3 we outline how the Fund calculates the contributions payable by different employers in different 

situations. 

In Section 4 we show how the funding strategy is linked with the Fund‟s investment strategy. 

In the Appendices we cover various issues in more detail if you are interested: 

A. the regulatory background, including how and when the FSS is reviewed, 

B. who is responsible for what, 

C. what issues the Fund needs to monitor, and how it manages its risks, 

D. some more details about the actuarial calculations required, 

E. the assumptions which the Fund actuary currently makes about the future, 

F. a glossary explaining the technical terms occasionally used here. 

If you have any other queries please contact Debbie Ford in the first instance at e-mail address 
Debbie.Ford@oneSource.co.uk or on telephone number 01708 432 569.  

Page 11



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 004 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

2 Basic Funding issues 

(More detailed and extensive descriptions are given in Appendix D). 

2.1 How does the actuary measure the required contribution rate? 

In essence this is a three-step process: 

1. Calculate the ultimate funding target for that employer, i.e. the ideal amount of assets it should hold in 

order to be able to pay all its members‟ benefits. See Appendix E for more details of what assumptions 

we make to determine that funding target; 

2. Determine the time horizon over which the employer should aim to achieve that funding target. See the 

table in 3.3 and Note (c) for more details; 

3. Calculate the employer contribution rate such that it has a predetermined minimum probability of 

achieving that funding target over that time horizon, allowing for different likelihoods of various possible 

economic outcomes over that time horizon. See 2.3 below, and the table in 3.3 Note (e) for more details. 

2.2 What is each employer’s contribution rate? 

This is described in more detail in Appendix D. Employer contributions are normally made up of two elements: 

a) the estimated cost of benefits being built up each year, after deducting the members‟ own contributions 

and including administration expenses. This is referred to as the “Primary rate”, and is expressed as a 

percentage of members‟ pensionable pay; plus 

b) an adjustment for the difference between the Primary rate above, and the actual contribution the 

employer needs to pay, referred to as the “Secondary rate”.  In broad terms, payment of the Secondary 

rate will aim to return the employer to full funding over an appropriate period (the “time horizon”) while 

making allowances for the stability of employer contribution rates. The Secondary rate may be expressed 

as a percentage of pay or a monetary amount in each year.  

The rates for all employers are shown in the Fund‟s Rates and Adjustments Certificate, which forms part of the 

formal Actuarial Valuation Report.  Employers‟ contributions are expressed as minima, with employers able to 

pay contributions at a higher rate.  Account of any higher rate will be taken by the Fund actuary at subsequent 

valuations, i.e. will be reflected as a credit when next calculating the employer‟s contributions. 

2.3 What different types of employer participate in the Fund? 

Historically the LGPS was intended for local authority employees only.  However over the years, with the 

diversification and changes to delivery of local services, many more types and numbers of employers now 

participate.  There are currently more employers in the Fund than ever before, a significant part of this being 

due to new academies. In addition, the new academies and maintained schools are tendering for bought in 

services (e.g. catering) which will extend further the admitted bodies following the New Fair Deal (October 

2013). 

In essence, participation in the LGPS is open to public sector employers providing some form of service to the 

local community. Whilst the majority of members will be local authority employees (and ex-employees), the 

majority of participating employers are those providing services in place of (or alongside) local authority 

services: academy schools, contractors, housing associations, charities, etc. 

The LGPS Regulations define various types of employer as follows: 

Page 12



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 005 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Scheduled bodies - councils, and other specified employers such as academies and further education 

establishments.  These must provide access to the LGPS in respect of their employees who are not eligible to 

join another public sector scheme (such as the Teachers Scheme).  These employers are so-called because 

they are specified in a schedule to the LGPS Regulations.     

It is now possible for Local Education Authority schools to convert to academy status, and for other forms of 

school (such as Free Schools) to be established under the academies legislation. All such academies (or Multi 

Academy Trusts), as employers of non-teaching staff, become separate new employers in the Fund.  As 

academies are defined in the LGPS Regulations as “Scheduled Bodies”, the Administering Authority has no 

discretion over whether to admit them to the Fund, and the academy has no discretion whether to continue to 

allow its non-teaching staff to join the Fund.  There has also been guidance issued by the DCLG regarding the 

terms of academies‟ membership in LGPS Funds. 

Designating employers - employers such as town and parish councils are able to participate in the LGPS via 

resolution (and the Fund cannot refuse them entry where the resolution is passed).  These employers can 

designate which of their employees are eligible to join the scheme.  

The New Fair Deal gives any council staff providing services under contract to certain maintained schools 

(including Foundation schools), who are TUPE‟d to another contractor, the right to remain in the LGPS. This 

would be through an admission agreement.  Please note, this does not apply to Higher and Further Education 

bodies. 

Other employers are able to participate in the Fund via an admission agreement, and are referred to as 

„admission bodies‟.  These employers are generally those with a “community of interest” with another scheme 

employer – community admission bodies (“CAB”) or those providing a service on behalf of a scheme 

employer – transferee admission bodies (“TAB”).  CABs will include housing associations and charities, TABs 

will generally be contractors.  The Fund is able to set its criteria for participation by these employers and can 

refuse entry if the requirements as set out in the Fund‟s admissions policy are not met. Please note, the 

terminology CAB and TAB has been dropped from recent LGPS Regulations, which instead combine both under 

the single term „admission bodies‟; however, we have retained the old terminology here as we consider it to be 

helpful in setting funding strategies for these different employers. 

The extension of TABs, particularly for low value contracts, can expose both the scheme employers and the 

other employers in the Fund to risk. The risk from Academies is partly offset by the Secretary of State 

guarantee. 
 

2.4 How does the measured contribution rate vary for different employers? 

All three steps above are considered when setting contributions (more details are given in Section 3 and 

Appendix D). 

1. The funding target is based on a set of assumptions about the future, (e.g. investment returns, inflation, 

pensioners‟ life expectancies). However, if an employer is approaching the end of its participation in the 

Fund then its funding target may be set on a more prudent basis, so that its liabilities are less likely to be 

spread among other employers after its cessation; 

2. The time horizon required is, in broad terms, the period over which any deficit is to be recovered. A 

shorter period will lead to higher contributions, and vice versa (all other things being equal). Employers 

may be given a lower time horizon if they have a less permanent anticipated membership, or do not have 

tax-raising powers to increase contributions if investment returns under-perform; and 

  

Page 13



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 006 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

3. The probability of achieving the funding target over that time horizon will be dependent on the Fund‟s 

view of the strength of employer covenant and its funding profile. Where an employer is considered to be 

weaker, or potentially ceasing from the Fund, then the required probability will be set higher, which in turn 

will increase the required contributions (and vice versa). 

For some employers it may be agreed to pool contributions, see 3.4.  

Any costs of non ill-health early retirements must be paid by the employer, see 3.6. 

Costs of ill-health early retirements are covered in 3.7 and 3.8. 

2.5 How is a deficit (or surplus) calculated? 

An employer‟s “funding level” is defined as the ratio of: 

 the market value of the employer‟s share of assets (see Appendix D, section D5, for further details of how 

this is calculated), to  

 the value placed by the actuary on the benefits built up to date for the employer‟s employees and ex-

employees (the “liabilities”).  The Fund actuary agrees with the Administering Authority the assumptions to 

be used in calculating this value. 

If this is less than 100% then it means the employer has a shortfall, which is the employer‟s deficit; if it is more 

than 100% then the employer is said to be in surplus.  The amount of deficit or surplus is the difference between 

the asset value and the liabilities value. 

It is important to note that the deficit/surplus and funding level are only measurements at a particular point in 

time, on a particular set of assumptions about the future. Whilst we recognise that various parties will take an 

interest in these measures, for most employers the key issue is how likely it is that their contributions will be 

sufficient to pay for their members‟ benefits (when added to their existing asset share and anticipated 

investment returns).  

In short, deficits and funding levels are short term measures, whereas contribution-setting is a longer term 

issue. 

2.6 How does the Fund recognise that contribution levels can affect council and employer service 

provision, and council tax? 

The Administering Authority and the Fund actuary are acutely aware that, all other things being equal, a higher 

contribution required to be paid to the Fund will mean less cash available for the employer to spend on the 

provision of services.  For instance: 

 Higher Pension Fund contributions may result in reduced council spending, which in turn could affect the 

resources available for council services, and/or greater pressure on council tax levels; 

 Contributions which Academies pay to the Fund will therefore not be available to pay for providing 

education; and 

 Other employers will provide various services to the local community, perhaps through housing 

associations, charitable work, or contracting council services. If they are required to pay more in pension 

contributions to the LGPS then this may affect their ability to provide the local services at a reasonable 

cost. 

  

Page 14



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 007 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Whilst all this is true, it should also be borne in mind that: 

 The Fund provides invaluable financial security to local families, whether to those who formerly worked in 

the service of the local community who have now retired, or to their families after their death; 

 The Fund must have the assets available to meet these retirement and death benefits, which in turn 

means that the various employers must each pay their own way.  Lower contributions today will mean 

higher contributions tomorrow: deferring payments does not alter the employer‟s ultimate obligation to the 

Fund in respect of its current and former employees; 

 Each employer will generally only pay for its own employees and ex-employees (and their dependants), 

not for those of other employers in the Fund; 

 The Fund strives to maintain reasonably stable employer contribution rates where appropriate and 

possible. However, a recent shift in regulatory focus means that solvency within each generation is 

considered by the Government to be a higher priority than stability of contribution rates; 

 The Fund wishes to avoid the situation where an employer falls so far behind in managing its funding 

shortfall that its deficit becomes unmanageable in practice: such a situation may lead to employer 

insolvency and the resulting deficit falling on the other Fund employers. In that situation, those employers‟ 

services would in turn suffer as a result; and 

 Council contributions to the Fund should be at a suitable level, to protect the interests of different 

generations of council tax payers. For instance, underpayment of contributions for some years will need 

to be balanced by overpayment in other years; the council will wish to minimise the extent to which 

council tax payers in one period are in effect benefitting at the expense of those paying in a different 

period.  

Overall, therefore, there is clearly a balance to be struck between the Fund‟s need for maintaining prudent 

funding levels, and the employers‟ need to allocate their resources appropriately.  The Fund achieves this 

through various techniques which affect contribution increases to various degrees (see 3.1).  In deciding which 

of these techniques to apply to any given employer, the Administering Authority takes a view on the financial 

standing of the employer, i.e. its ability to meet its funding commitments and the relevant time horizon. 

For instance, where the Administering Authority has reasonable confidence that an employer will be able to 

meet its funding commitments, then the Fund will permit options such as stabilisation (see 3.3 Note (b)), a 

longer time horizon relative to other employers, and/or a lower probability of achieving their funding target. Such 

options will temporarily produce lower contribution levels than would otherwise have applied.  This is permitted 

in the expectation that the employer will still be able to meet its obligations for many years to come. 

On the other hand, where there is doubt that an employer will be able to meet its funding commitments or 

withstand a significant change in its commitments, then a higher funding target, and/or a shorter deficit recovery 

period relative to other employers, and/or a higher probability of achieving the target may be required. 

The Fund actively seeks employer input, including to its funding arrangements, through various means: see 

Appendix A.   

  

Page 15



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 008 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

3 Calculating contributions for individual Employers 

3.1 General comments 

A key challenge for the Administering Authority is to balance the need for stable, affordable employer 

contributions with the requirement to take a prudent, longer-term view of funding and ensure the solvency of the 

Fund.  With this in mind, the Fund‟s three-step process identifies the key issues: 

1. What is a suitably (but not overly) prudent funding target?  

2. How long should the employer be permitted to reach that target? This should be realistic but not so long 

that the funding target is in danger of never actually being achieved. 

3. What probability is required to reach that funding target? This will always be less than 100% as we cannot 

be certain of future market movements. Higher probability “bars” can be used for employers where the 

Fund wishes to reduce the risk that the employer ceases leaving a deficit to be picked up by other 

employers.  

These and associated issues are covered in this Section. 

The Administering Authority recognises that there may occasionally be particular circumstances affecting 

individual employers that are not easily managed within the rules and policies set out in the Funding Strategy 

Statement.  Therefore the Administering Authority may, at its sole discretion, with advice from the actuary, adopt 

alternative funding approaches on a case by case basis for specific employers. 

3.2 The effect of paying lower contributions  

In limited circumstances the Administering Authority may permit employers to pay contributions at a lower level 

than is assessed for the employer using the three step process above.  At their absolute discretion the 

Administering Authority may:  

 extend the time horizon for targeting full funding; 

 adjust the required probability of meeting the funding target; 

 permit an employer to participate in the Fund‟s stabilisation mechanisms;  

 permit extended phasing in of contribution rises or reductions; 

 pool contributions amongst employers with similar characteristics; and/or 

 accept some form of security or guarantee in lieu of a higher contribution rate than would otherwise be the 

case. 

Employers which are permitted to use one or more of the above methods will often be paying, for a time, 

contributions less than required to meet their funding target, over the appropriate time horizon with the required 

likelihood of success.  Such employers should appreciate that: 

 their true long term liability (i.e. the actual eventual cost of benefits payable to their employees and ex-

employees) is not affected by the pace of paying contributions;  

 lower contributions in the short term will be assumed to incur a greater loss of investment returns on the 

deficit.  Thus, deferring a certain amount of contribution may lead to higher contributions in the long-term; 

and 

 it may take longer to reach their funding target, all other things being equal.    

Page 16



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 009 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Overleaf (3.3) is a summary of how the main funding policies differ for different types of employer, followed by 

more detailed notes where necessary. 

Section 3.4 onwards deals with various other funding issues which apply to all employers. 

Page 17



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 010 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

3.3 The different approaches used for different employers 

Type of 
employer 

Scheduled Bodies Community Admission 
Bodies and Designating 

Employers 

Transferee Admission 
Bodies 

Sub-type Local 
Authorities 

Colleges  Academies Open to 
new 

entrants 

Closed to 
new entrants 

Open to 
New 

Entrants 

Closed to 
New 

Entrants 

Funding 
Target Basis 
used 

Ongoing, assumes long-term Fund 
participation  

(see Appendix E) 

Ongoing, but may move to 
“gilts basis” - see Note (a) 

Ongoing, assumes fixed 
contract term in the Fund 

(see Appendix E) 

Primary rate 
approach 

(see Appendix D – D.2) 

 

Stabilised 
contribution 
rate? 

Yes - see 
Note (b) 

No No No No No 

Maximum 
time horizon 
– Note (c) 

20 years 20 years 20 years Future working lifetime 
subject to a maximum of 15 

years 

Outstanding contract term 
subject to a maximum of 15 

years 

Secondary 
rate – Note 
(d) 

Monetary Amount or percentage of pay as appropriate 

 

Treatment of 
surplus 

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement 

Contributions kept at Primary rate. However, 
reductions may be permitted by the Administering 

Authority 

Reduce contributions by 
spreading the surplus over 
the remaining contract term 

Probability of 
achieving 
target – Note 
(e) 

60% 75% 75% 75% 

 

75% 

Phasing of 
contribution 
changes 

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement 

  3 years, subject to the Administering Authority being 
satisfied as to the strength of the employer‟s covenant. 

None 

Review of 
rates – Note 
(f) 

Administering Authority reserves the right to review contribution rates 
and amounts, and the level of security provided, at regular intervals 

between valuations 

Particularly reviewed in last 
3 years of contract 

New 
employer 

n/a n/a Note (g) Note (h) Notes (h) & (i) 

Cessation of 
participation: 
cessation 
debt payable 

Cessation is assumed not to be 
generally possible, as Scheduled Bodies 

are legally obliged to participate in the 
LGPS.  In the rare event of cessation 
occurring (machinery of Government 
changes for example), the cessation 

debt principles applied would be as per 
Note (j). 

Can be ceased subject to 
terms of admission 

agreement.  Cessation 
debt will be calculated on a 

basis appropriate to the 
circumstances of cessation 

– see Note (j). 

Participation is assumed to 
expire at the end of the 

contract.  Cessation debt (if 
any) calculated on ongoing 
basis. Awarding Authority 

will be liable for future 
deficits and contributions 

arising. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 011 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Note (a) (Basis for CABs and Designating Employers closed to new entrants) 

In the circumstances where: 

 the employer is a Designating Employer, or an Admission Body but not a Transferee Admission Body, and 

 the employer has no guarantor, and 

 the admission agreement is likely to terminate, or the employer is likely to lose its last active member, within 

a timeframe considered appropriate by the Administering Authority to prompt a change in funding,  

the Administering Authority may set a higher funding target (e.g. using a discount rate set equal to gilt yields) by 

the time the agreement terminates or the last active member leaves, in order to protect other employers in the 

Fund.  This policy will increase regular contributions and reduce, but not entirely eliminate, the possibility of a 

final deficit payment being required from the employer when a cessation valuation is carried out.   

The Administering Authority also reserves the right to adopt the above approach in respect of those Designating 

Employers and Admission Bodies with no guarantor, where the strength of covenant is considered to be weak 

but there is no immediate expectation that the admission agreement will cease or the Designating Employer 

alters its designation. 

Note (b) (Stabilisation) 

Stabilisation is a mechanism where employer contribution rate variations from year to year are kept within a pre-

determined range, thus allowing those employers‟ rates to be relatively stable. In the interests of stability and 

affordability of employer contributions, the Administering Authority, on the advice of the Fund Actuary, believes 

that stabilising contributions can still be viewed as a prudent longer-term approach.  However, employers whose 

contribution rates have been “stabilised” (and may therefore be paying less than their theoretical contribution 

rate) should be aware of the risks of this approach and should consider making additional payments to the Fund 

if possible. 

This stabilisation mechanism allows short term investment market volatility to be managed so as not to cause 

volatility in employer contribution rates, on the basis that a long term view can be taken on net cash inflow, 

investment returns and strength of employer covenant. 

The current stabilisation mechanism applies if: 

 the employer satisfies the eligibility criteria set by the Administering Authority; and 

 there are no material events which cause the employer to become ineligible, e.g. significant reductions in 

active membership (due to outsourcing or redundancies), or changes in the nature of the employer (perhaps 

due to Government restructuring), or changes in the security of the employer. 

On the basis of extensive modelling carried out for the 2016 valuation exercise (see Section 4), the 

Administering Authority has agreed a stabilisation mechanism with the Fund Actuary taking into account a 

number of factors. 

The stabilisation criteria and limits will be reviewed at the 31 March 2019 valuation, to take effect from 1 April 

2020.  However the Administering Authority reserves the right to review the stabilisation criteria and limits at any 

time before then, on the basis of membership and/or employer changes as described above. 

  

Page 19



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 012 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Note (c) (Maximum time horizon) 

The maximum time horizon starts at the commencement of the revised contribution rate (1 April 2017 for the 

2016 valuation).  The Administering Authority would normally expect the same period to be used at successive 

triennial valuations, but would reserve the right to propose alternative time horizons, for example where there 

were no new entrants. 

Note (d) (Secondary rate) 

For employers where stabilisation is not being applied, the Secondary contribution rate for each employer 

covering the three year period until the next valuation will often be set as a percentage of salaries.  However, 

the Administering Authority reserves the right to amend these rates between valuations and/or to require these 

payments in monetary terms instead, for instance where: 

 the employer is relatively mature, i.e. has a large Secondary contribution rate (e.g. above 15% of payroll), 

 there has been a significant reduction in payroll due to outsourcing or redundancy exercises, or 

 the employer has closed the Fund to new entrants. 

Note (e) (Probability of achieving funding target) 

Each employer has its funding target calculated, and a relevant time horizon over which to reach that target. 

Contributions are set such that, combined with the employer‟s current asset share and anticipated market 

movements over the time horizon, the funding target is achieved with a given minimum probability. A higher 

required probability bar will give rise to higher required contributions, and vice versa. 

The way in which contributions are set using these three steps, and relevant economic projections, is described 

in further detail in Appendix D. 

Different probabilities are set for different employers depending on their nature and circumstances: in broad 

terms, a higher probability will apply due to one or more of the following: 

 the Fund believes the employer poses a greater funding risk than other employers,  

 the employer does not have tax-raising powers; 

 the employer does not have a guarantor or other sufficient security backing its funding position; and/or 

 the employer is likely to cease participation in the Fund in the short or medium term. 

Note (f) (Regular Reviews) 

Such reviews may be triggered by significant events including but not limited to: significant reductions in payroll, 

altered employer circumstances, Government restructuring affecting the employer‟s business, or failure to pay 

contributions or arrange appropriate security as required by the Administering Authority. 

The result of a review may be to require increased contributions (by strengthening the actuarial assumptions 

adopted and/or moving to monetary levels of deficit recovery contributions), and/or an increased level of security 

or guarantee.    

Page 20



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 013 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Note (g) (New Academy conversions) 

At the time of writing, the Fund‟s policies on academies‟ funding issues are as follows:  

i. The new academy will be regarded as a separate employer in its own right and will not be pooled with 

other employers in the Fund.  The only exception is where the academy is part of a Multi Academy Trust 

(MAT) in which case the academy‟s figures will be calculated as below but can be combined with those of 

the other academies in the MAT; 

ii. The new academy‟s past service liabilities on conversion will be calculated based on its active Fund 

members on the day before conversion.  For the avoidance of doubt, these liabilities will include all past 

service of those members, but will exclude the liabilities relating to any ex-employees of the school who 

have deferred or pensioner status; 

iii. The new academy will be allocated an initial asset share from the ceding council‟s assets in the Fund.  

This asset share will be calculated using the estimated funding position of the ceding council at the date 

of academy conversion. The asset allocation will be based on market conditions and the academy‟s 

active Fund membership on the day prior to conversion; 

iv. The new academy‟s initial contribution rate will be calculated using market conditions, the council funding 

position and, membership data, all as at the day prior to conversion; 

v. Therefore, new academies may start with a deficit, depending on market conditions, which will be 

recovered over the same period as the council. 

The Fund‟s policies on academies are subject to change in the light of any amendments to DCLG guidance. 

Any changes will be notified to academies and will be reflected in a subsequent version of this FSS. In 

particular, policy iii above will be reconsidered at each valuation.  

Note (h) (New Admission Bodies) 

With effect from 1 October 2012, the LGPS 2012 Miscellaneous Regulations introduced mandatory new 

requirements for all Admission Bodies brought into the Fund from that date.  Under these Regulations, all new 

Admission Bodies will be required to provide some form of security, such as a guarantee from the letting 

employer, an indemnity or a bond.  The security is required to cover some or all of the following: 

 the strain cost of any redundancy early retirements resulting from the premature termination of the contract; 

 allowance for the risk of asset underperformance; 

 allowance for the risk of a fall in gilt yields; 

 allowance for the possible non-payment of employer and member contributions to the Fund; and/or 

 the current deficit. 

Transferee Admission Bodies: For all TABs, the security must be to the satisfaction of the Administering 

Authority as well as the letting employer, and will normally be reassessed on a triennial basis. See also Note (i) 

below. 

Community Admission Bodies: The Administering Authority will only consider requests from CABs (or other 

similar bodies, such as section 75 NHS partnerships) to join the Fund if they are sponsored by a Scheduled 

Body with tax raising powers, guaranteeing their liabilities and also providing a form of security as above.  

Page 21



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 014 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

The above approaches reduce the risk, to other employers in the Fund, of potentially having to pick up any 

shortfall in respect of Admission Bodies ceasing with an unpaid deficit. 

Note (i) (New Transferee Admission Bodies) 

A new TAB usually joins the Fund as a result of the letting/outsourcing of some services from an existing 

employer (normally a Scheduled Body such as a council or academy) to another organisation (a “contractor”).  

This involves the TUPE transfer of some staff from the letting employer to the contractor.  Consequently, for the 

duration of the contract, the contractor is a new participating employer in the Fund so that the transferring 

employees maintain their eligibility for LGPS membership.  At the end of the contract the employees revert to 

the letting employer or to a replacement contractor. 

Ordinarily, the TAB would be set up in the Fund as a new employer with responsibility for all the accrued 

benefits of the transferring employees; in this case, the contractor would usually be assigned an initial asset 

allocation equal to the past service liability value of the employees‟ Fund benefits.  The quid pro quo is that the 

contractor is then expected to ensure that its share of the Fund is also fully funded at the end of the contract: 

see Note (j). 

Employers which “outsource” have flexibility in the way that they can deal with the pension risk potentially taken 

on by the contractor. Clearly as the risk ultimately resides with the employer letting the contract, it is for them to 

agree the appropriate route with the contractor; subject to complying with the Administering Authority 

requirements regarding guarantees, indemnities or bonds to minimise the risk to the other employers in the 

Fund.  In particular there are three different routes that such employers may wish to adopt.   

i) Pooling 

Under this option the contractor is pooled with the letting employer.  In this case, the contractor pays the 

same rate as the letting employer. 

ii) Letting employer retains pre-contract risks 

Under this option the letting employer would retain responsibility for assets and liabilities in respect of 

service accrued prior to the contract commencement date.  The contractor would be responsible for the 

future liabilities that accrue in respect of transferred staff.  The contractor‟s contribution rate could vary 

from one valuation to the next. It would be liable for any deficit at the end of the contract term in respect 

of assets and liabilities attributable to service accrued during the contract term. 

iii) Fixed contribution rate agreed 

Under this option the contractor pays a fixed contribution rate and does not pay any cessation deficit. 

The Administering Authority is willing to administer any of the above options as long as the approach is 

documented in the Admission Agreement as well as the transfer agreement.  The Admission Agreement should 

ensure that some element of risk transfers to the contractor where it relates to their decisions and it is unfair to 

burden the letting employer with that risk.  For example the contractor should typically be responsible for 

pension costs that arise from: 

 above average pay increases, including the effect in respect of service prior to contract commencement 

even if the letting employer takes on responsibility for the latter under (ii) above; and   

 redundancy and early retirement decisions. 

  

Page 22



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 015 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Note (j) (Admission Bodies Ceasing) 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Admission Agreement, the Administering Authority may consider any of 

the following as triggers for the cessation of an admission agreement with any type of body: 

 Last active member ceasing participation in the Fund (please note, recent LGPS Regulation changes mean 

that the Administering Authority has the discretion to defer taking action for up to three years, so that if the 

employer acquires one or more active Fund members during that period then cessation is not triggered. The 

current Fund policy is that this is left as a discretion and may or may not be applied in any given case); 

 The insolvency, winding up or liquidation of the Admission Body; 

 Any breach by the Admission Body of any of its obligations under the Agreement that they have failed to 

remedy to the satisfaction of the Fund; 

 A failure by the Admission Body to pay any sums due to the Fund within the period required by the Fund; or 

 The failure by the Admission Body to renew or adjust the level of the bond or indemnity, or to confirm an 

appropriate alternative guarantor, as required by the Fund. 

On cessation, the Administering Authority will instruct the Fund actuary to carry out a cessation valuation to 

determine whether there is any deficit or surplus. Where there is a deficit, payment of this amount in full would 

normally be sought from the Admission Body; where there is a surplus it should be noted that current legislation 

does not permit a refund payment to the Admission Body. 

For non-Transferee Admission Bodies whose participation is voluntarily ended either by themselves or the 

Fund, or where a cessation event has been triggered, the Administering Authority must look to protect the 

interests of other ongoing employers.  The actuary will therefore adopt an approach which, to the extent 

reasonably practicable, protects the other employers from the likelihood of any material loss emerging in future: 

(a) Where a guarantor does not exist then, in order to protect other employers in the Fund, the cessation 

liabilities and final deficit will normally be calculated using a “gilts cessation basis”, which is more 

prudent than the ongoing basis.  This has no allowance for potential future investment outperformance 

above gilt yields, and has added allowance for future improvements in life expectancy. This could give 

rise to significant cessation debts being required.   

(b) Where there is a guarantor for future deficits and contributions, the details of the guarantee will be 

considered prior to the cessation valuation being carried out.   In some cases the guarantor is simply 

guarantor of last resort and therefore the cessation valuation will be carried out consistently with the 

approach taken had there been no guarantor in place.  Alternatively, where the guarantor is not simply 

guarantor of last resort, the cessation may be calculated using the ongoing basis as described in 

Appendix E; 

(c) Again, depending on the nature of the guarantee, it may be possible to simply transfer the former 

Admission Body‟s liabilities and assets to the guarantor, without needing to crystallise any deficit. This 

approach may be adopted where the employer cannot pay the contributions due, and this is within the 

terms of the guarantee. 

Under (a) and (c), any shortfall would usually be levied on the departing Admission Body as a single lump sum 

payment.  If this is not possible then the Fund would spread they payment subject to there being some security 

in place for the employer such as a bond indemnity or guarantee. 

  

Page 23



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 016 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

In the event that the Fund is not able to recover the required payment in full, then the unpaid amounts fall to be 

shared amongst all of the other employers in the Fund.  This may require an immediate revision to the Rates 

and Adjustments Certificate affecting other employers in the Fund, or instead be reflected in the contribution 

rates set at the next formal valuation following the cessation date. 

As an alternative, where the ceasing Admission Body is continuing in business, the Fund at its absolute 

discretion reserves the right to enter into an agreement with the ceasing Admission Body.  Under this 

agreement the Fund would accept an appropriate alternative security to be held against any deficit, and would 

carry out the cessation valuation on an ongoing basis: deficit recovery payments would be derived from this 

cessation debt.  This approach would be monitored as part of each triennial valuation: the Fund reserves the 

right to revert to a “gilts cessation basis” and seek immediate payment of any funding shortfall identified.  The 

Administering Authority may need to seek legal advice in such cases, as the Body would have no contributing 

members. 

All TABs would have a cessation valuation carried out at the normal end of the contract period. Any sums due to 

the Fund to meet shortfalls at this time would require immediate payment. These sums may be subject to a 

„pass-through‟ arrangement with the Scheme employer but may not be covered by a bond, indemnity or 

guarantee. 

 

3.4 Pooled contributions 

From time to time, with the advice of the Actuary, the Administering Authority may set up pools for employers 

with similar or complementary characteristics.  This will always be in line with its broader funding strategy. The 

current pools in place within the Fund are as follows: 

 smaller CABs (as a way of sharing experience and smoothing out the effects of costly but relatively rare 

events such as ill-health retirements or deaths in service);   

 Schools generally are also pooled with their funding Council.  However there may be exceptions for 

specialist or independent schools; and 

 Smaller Transferee Admission Bodies may be pooled with the letting employer, provided all parties 

(particularly the letting employer) agree. 

Those employers which have been pooled are identified in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate. 

Employers who are permitted to enter (or remain in) a pool at the 2016 valuation will not normally be advised of 

their individual contribution rate unless agreed by the Administering Authority. 

Community Admission Bodies that are deemed by the Administering Authority to have closed to new entrants 

are not usually permitted to participate in a pool.   

3.5 Additional flexibility in return for added security 

The Administering Authority may permit greater flexibility to the employer‟s contributions if the employer 

provides added security to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority.   

Such flexibility includes a reduced rate of contribution, an extended time horizon, or permission to join a pool 

with another body (e.g. the Local Authority).  

Such security may include, but is not limited to, a suitable bond, a legally-binding guarantee from an appropriate 

third party, or security over an employer asset of sufficient value. 

  

Page 24



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 017 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

The degree of flexibility given may take into account factors such as: 

 the extent of the employer‟s deficit; 

 the amount and quality of the security offered; 

 the employer‟s financial security and business plan; and  

 whether the admission agreement is likely to be open or closed to new entrants. 

3.6 Non ill health early retirement costs 

It is assumed that members‟ benefits are payable from the earliest age that the employee could retire without 

incurring a reduction to their benefit (and without requiring their employer‟s consent to retire).  The relevant age 

may be different for different periods of service, following the benefit changes from April 2008 and April 2014.  

Employers are required to pay additional contributions („strain‟) wherever an employee retires before attaining 

this age.  The actuary‟s funding basis makes no allowance for premature retirement except on grounds of ill-

health. Additional contributions (strain) costs are payable immediately.  

3.7 Ill health early retirement costs 

In the event of a member‟s early retirement on the grounds of ill-health, a funding strain will usually arise, which 

can be very large. Such strains are currently met by each employer, although individual employers may elect to 

take external insurance (see 3.8 below). 

Employers will usually have an „ill health allowance‟. The Fund monitors each employer‟s ill health experience 

on an ongoing basis.  If the cumulative cost of ill health retirements over any intervaluation period exceeds the 

allowance at the previous valuation, the employer will be charged additional contributions on the same basis as 

apply for non ill-health cases. Details will be included in each separate Admission Agreement. 

3.8 External Ill health insurance 

If an employer provides satisfactory evidence to the Administering Authority of a current external insurance 

policy covering ill health early retirement strains, then: 

- the employer‟s contribution to the Fund each year is reduced by the amount of that year‟s insurance 

premium, so that the total contribution is unchanged, and 

- there is no need for monitoring of allowances. 

The employer must keep the Administering Authority notified of any changes in the insurance policy‟s coverage 

or premium terms, or if the policy is ceased. 

  

Page 25



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 018 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

3.9 Employers with no remaining active members 

In general an employer ceasing in the Fund, due to the departure of the last active member, will pay a cessation 

debt on an appropriate basis (see 3.3, Note (j)) and consequently have no further obligation to the Fund. 

Thereafter it is expected that one of two situations will eventually arise: 

a) The employer‟s asset share runs out before all its ex-employees‟ benefits have been paid. In this situation 

the other Fund employers will be required to contribute to pay all remaining benefits: this will be done by 

the Fund actuary apportioning the remaining liabilities on a pro-rata basis at successive formal valuations; 

b) The last ex-employee or dependant dies before the employer‟s asset share has been fully utilised.  In this 

situation the remaining assets would be apportioned pro-rata by the Fund‟s actuary to the other Fund.  

c) In exceptional circumstances the Fund may permit an employer with no remaining active members to 

continue contributing to the Fund. This would require the provision of a suitable security or guarantee, as 

well as a written ongoing commitment to fund the remainder of the employer‟s obligations over an 

appropriate period. The Fund would reserve the right to invoke the cessation requirements in the future, 

however.  The Administering Authority may need to seek legal advice in such cases, as the employer 

would have no contributing members. 

3.10 Policies on bulk transfers 

Each case will be treated on its own merits, but in general: 

 The Fund will not pay bulk transfers greater than the lesser of (a) the asset share of the transferring 

employer in the Fund, and (b) the value of the past service liabilities of the transferring members; 

 The Fund will not grant added benefits to members bringing in entitlements from another Fund unless the 

asset transfer is sufficient to meet the added liabilities; and 

 The Fund may permit shortfalls to arise on bulk transfers if the Fund employer has suitable strength of 

covenant and commits to meeting that shortfall in an appropriate period.  This may require the employer‟s 

Fund contributions to increase between valuations.   

  

Page 26



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 019 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

4 Funding strategy and links to investment strategy 

4.1 What is the Fund’s investment strategy? 

The Fund has built up assets over the years, and continues to receive contribution and other income.  All of this 

must be invested in a suitable manner, which is the investment strategy. 

Investment strategy is set by the Administering Authority, after consultation with the employers and after taking 

investment advice.  The precise mix, manager make up and target returns are set out in the Investment Strategy 

Statement, which is available to members and employers. 

The investment strategy is set for the long-term, but is reviewed from time to time.  Normally a full review is 

carried out as part of each actuarial valuation, and is kept under review between actuarial valuations to ensure 

that it remains appropriate to the Fund‟s liability profile.   

The same investment strategy is currently followed for all employers. 

4.2 What is the link between funding strategy and investment strategy? 

The Fund must be able to meet all benefit payments as and when they fall due.  These payments will be met by 

contributions (resulting from the funding strategy) or asset returns and income (resulting from the investment 

strategy).  To the extent that investment returns or income fall short, then higher cash contributions are required 

from employers, and vice versa 

Therefore, the funding and investment strategies are inextricably linked.   

4.3 How does the funding strategy reflect the Fund’s investment strategy? 

In the opinion of the Fund actuary, the current funding policy is consistent with the current investment strategy of 

the Fund.  The asset outperformance assumption contained in the discount rate (see Appendix E3) is within a 

range that would be considered acceptable for funding purposes; it is also considered to be consistent with the 

requirement to take a “prudent longer-term view” of the funding of liabilities as required by the UK Government 

(see Appendix A1). 

However, in the short term – such as the three yearly assessments at formal valuations – there is the scope for 

considerable volatility and there is a material chance that in the short-term and even medium term, asset returns 

will fall short of this target.  The stability measures described in Section 3 will damp down, but not remove, the 

effect on employers‟ contributions.   

The Fund does not hold a contingency reserve to protect it against the volatility of equity investments.   

4.4 How does this differ for a large stable employer? 

The Actuary has developed four key measures which capture the essence of the Fund‟s strategies, both funding 

and investment: 

Prudence - the Fund should have a reasonable expectation of being fully funded in the long term; 

Affordability – how much can employers afford; 

Stewardship – the assumptions used should be sustainable in the long term, without having to resort to overly 

optimistic assumptions about the future to maintain an apparently healthy funding position; and 

Stability – employers should not see significant moves in their contribution rates from one year to the next, to 

help provide a more stable budgeting environment. 

Page 27



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 020 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

The key problem is that the key objectives often conflict.  For example, minimising the long term cost of the 

scheme (i.e. keeping employer rates affordable) is best achieved by investing in higher returning assets e.g. 

equities.  However, equities are also very volatile (i.e. go up and down fairly frequently in fairly large moves), 

which conflicts with the objective to have stable contribution rates. 

Therefore, a balance needs to be maintained between risk and reward, which has been considered by the use 

of Asset Liability Modelling: this is a set of calculation techniques applied by the Fund‟s actuary to model the 

range of potential future solvency levels and contribution rates. 

The Actuary was able to model the impact of these four key areas, for the purpose of setting a stabilisation 

approach (see 3.3 Note (b)). The modelling demonstrated that retaining the present investment strategy, 

coupled with constraining employer contribution rate changes as described in 3.3 Note (b), struck an 

appropriate balance between the above objectives.  In particular the stabilisation approach currently adopted 

meets the need for stability of contributions without jeopardising the Administering Authority‟s aims of prudent 

stewardship of the Fund.   

Whilst the current stabilisation mechanism is to remain in place until 2020, it should be noted that this will need 

to be reviewed following the 2019 valuation. 

4.5 Does the Fund monitor its overall funding position? 

The Administering Authority monitors the investment performance quarterly and reports this to the regular 

Pensions Committee meetings.   

Page 28



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 021 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

5 Statutory reporting and comparison to other LGPS Funds 

5.1 Purpose 

Under Section 13(4)(c) of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (“Section 13”), the Government Actuary‟s 

Department must, following each triennial actuarial valuation, report to the Department of Communities & Local 

Government (DCLG) on each of the LGPS Funds in England & Wales. This report will cover whether, for each 

Fund, the rate of employer contributions are set at an appropriate level to ensure both the solvency and the long 

term cost efficiency of the Fund.   

This additional DCLG oversight may have an impact on the strategy for setting contribution rates at future 

valuations. 

5.2 Solvency 

For the purposes of Section 13, the rate of employer contributions shall be deemed to have been set at an 

appropriate level to ensure solvency if: 

(a) the rate of employer contributions is set to target a funding level for the Fund of 100%, over an 

appropriate time period and using appropriate actuarial assumptions (where appropriateness is 

considered in both absolute and relative terms in comparison with other funds); and either  

(b) employers collectively have the financial capacity to increase employer contributions, and/or the Fund is 

able to realise contingent assets should future circumstances require, in order to continue to target a 

funding level of 100%; or 

(c) there is an appropriate plan in place should there be, or if there is expected in future to be, a material 

reduction in the capacity of fund employers to increase contributions as might be needed.   

5.3 Long Term Cost Efficiency 

The rate of employer contributions shall be deemed to have been set at an appropriate level to ensure long term 

cost efficiency if: 

i. the rate of employer contributions is sufficient to make provision for the cost of current benefit accrual, 

ii. with an appropriate adjustment to that rate for any surplus or deficit in the Fund. 

In assessing whether the above condition is met, DCLG may have regard to various absolute and relative 

considerations.  A relative consideration is primarily concerned with comparing LGPS pension funds with other 

LGPS pension funds.  An absolute consideration is primarily concerned with comparing Funds with a given 

objective benchmark. 

Relative considerations include: 

1. the implied deficit recovery period; and 

2. the investment return required to achieve full funding after 20 years.  

 

Absolute considerations include: 

1. the extent to which the contributions payable are sufficient to cover the cost of current benefit accrual and 

the interest cost on any deficit; 

2. how the required investment return under “relative considerations” above compares to the estimated 

future return being targeted by the Fund‟s current investment strategy;  

Page 29



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 022 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

3. the extent to which contributions actually paid have been in line with the expected contributions based on 

the extant rates and adjustments certificate; and  

4. the extent to which any new deficit recovery plan can be directly reconciled with, and can be 

demonstrated to be a continuation of, any previous deficit recovery plan, after allowing for actual Fund 

experience.  

DCLG may assess and compare these metrics on a suitable standardised market-related basis, for example 

where the local funds‟ actuarial bases do not make comparisons straightforward.  

Page 30



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 023 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Appendix A – Regulatory framework 

A1 Why does the Fund need an FSS? 

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has stated that the purpose of the FSS is:  

“to establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will identify how employers’ pension 

liabilities are best met going forward; 

to support the regulatory framework to maintain as nearly constant employer contribution rates as possible; 

and    

to take a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities.” 

These objectives are desirable individually, but may be mutually conflicting. 

The requirement to maintain and publish a FSS is contained in LGPS Regulations which are updated from time 

to time.  In publishing the FSS the Administering Authority has to have regard to any guidance published by 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) (most recently in 2016) and to its Statement of 

Investment Principles / Investment Strategy Statement. 

This is the framework within which the Fund‟s actuary carries out triennial valuations to set employers‟ 

contributions and provides recommendations to the Administering Authority when other funding decisions are 

required, such as when employers join or leave the Fund.  The FSS applies to all employers participating in the 

Fund. 

A2 Does the Administering Authority consult anyone on the FSS? 

Yes.  This is required by LGPS Regulations.  It is covered in more detail by the most recent CIPFA guidance, 

which states that the FSS must first be subject to “consultation with such persons as the authority considers 

appropriate”, and should include “a meaningful dialogue at officer and elected member level with council tax 

raising authorities and with corresponding representatives of other participating employers”. 

In practice, for the Fund, the consultation process for this FSS was as follows: 

a) A draft version of the FSS was issued to all participating employers on 20 December 2016; 

b) Comments were requested within 30 days; 

c) Following the end of the consultation period the FSS was updated where required and then published, on 

DATE. 

A3 How is the FSS published? 

The FSS is made available through the following routes: 

 Published on the website, at [CLIENT URL]; 

 Copies sent to investment managers and independent advisers; and 

 Copies made available on request. 

A4 How often is the FSS reviewed? 

The FSS is reviewed in detail at least every three years as part of the triennial valuation.  This version is 

expected to remain unaltered until it is consulted upon as part of the formal process for the next valuation in 

2019.  

Page 31



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 024 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

It is possible that (usually slight) amendments may be needed within the three year period.  These would be 

needed to reflect any regulatory changes, or alterations to the way the Fund operates (e.g. to accommodate a 

new class of employer). Any such amendments would be consulted upon as appropriate:  

 trivial amendments would be simply notified at the next round of employer communications,  

 amendments affecting only one class of employer would be consulted with those employers,  

 other more significant amendments would be subject to full consultation. 

In any event, changes to the FSS would need agreement by the Pensions Committee and would be included in 

the relevant Committee Meeting minutes. 

A5 How does the FSS fit into other Fund documents? 

The FSS is a summary of the Fund‟s approach to funding liabilities.  It is not an exhaustive statement of policy 

on all issues, for example there are a number of separate statements published by the Fund including the 

Investment Strategy Statement, Governance Strategy and Communications Strategy.  In addition, the Fund 

publishes an Annual Report and Accounts with up to date information on the Fund.   

These documents can be found on the web at [CLIENT URL]. 

  

Page 32



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 025 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Appendix B – Responsibilities of key parties 

The efficient and effective operation of the Fund needs various parties to each play their part. 

B1 The Administering Authority should:- 

1. operate the Fund as per the LGPS Regulations; 

2. effectively manage any potential conflicts of interest arising from its dual role as Administering Authority 

and a Fund employer; 

3. collect employer and employee contributions, and investment income and other amounts due to the Fund; 

4. ensure that cash is available to meet benefit payments as and when they fall due; 

5. pay from the Fund the relevant benefits and entitlements that are due; 

6. invest surplus monies (i.e. contributions and other income which are not immediately needed to pay 

benefits) in accordance with the Fund‟s Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) and LGPS Regulations; 

7. communicate appropriately with employers so that they fully understand their obligations to the Fund; 

8. take appropriate measures to safeguard the Fund against the consequences of employer default; 

9. manage the valuation process in consultation with the Fund‟s actuary; 

10. provide data and information as required by the Government Actuary‟s Department to carry out their 

statutory obligations (see Section 5); 

11. prepare and maintain a FSS and an ISS, after consultation;  

12. notify the Fund‟s actuary of material changes which could affect funding (this is covered in a separate 

agreement with the actuary); and  

13. monitor all aspects of the fund‟s performance and funding and amend the FSS and ISS as necessary and 

appropriate. 

B2 The Individual Employer should:- 

1. deduct contributions from employees‟ pay correctly; 

2. pay all contributions, including their own as determined by the actuary, promptly by the due date; 

3. have a policy and exercise discretions within the regulatory framework; 

4. make additional contributions in accordance with agreed arrangements in respect of, for example, 

augmentation of scheme benefits, early retirement strain; and  

5. notify the Administering Authority promptly of all changes to its circumstances, prospects or membership, 

which could affect future funding. 

B3 The Fund Actuary should:- 

1. prepare valuations, including the setting of employers‟ contribution rates.  This will involve agreeing 

assumptions with the Administering Authority, having regard to the FSS and LGPS Regulations, and 

targeting each employer‟s solvency appropriately;  

2. provide data and information as required by the Government Actuary‟s Department to carry out their 

statutory obligations (see Section 5); 

3. provide advice relating to new employers in the Fund, including the level and type of bonds or other forms 

of security (and the monitoring of these); 

Page 33



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 026 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

4. prepare advice and calculations in connection with bulk transfers and individual benefit-related matters; 

5. assist the Administering Authority in considering possible changes to employer contributions between 

formal valuations, where circumstances suggest this may be necessary; 

6. advise on the termination of employers‟ participation in the Fund; and 

7. fully reflect actuarial professional guidance and requirements in the advice given to the Administering 

Authority. 

B4 Other parties:- 

1. investment advisers (either internal or external) should ensure the Fund‟s ISS remains appropriate, and 

consistent with this FSS; 

2. investment managers, custodians and bankers should all play their part in the effective investment (and 

dis-investment) of Fund assets, in line with the ISS; 

3. auditors should comply with their auditing standards, ensure Fund compliance with all requirements, 

monitor and advise on fraud detection, and sign off annual reports and financial statements as required; 

4. governance advisers may be appointed to advise the Administering Authority on efficient processes and 

working methods in managing the Fund; 

5. legal advisers (either internal or external) should ensure the Fund‟s operation and management remains 

fully compliant with all regulations and broader local government requirements, including the 

Administering Authority‟s own procedures; 

6. the Department for Communities and Local Government (assisted by the Government Actuary‟s 

Department) and the Scheme Advisory Board, should work with LGPS Funds to meet Section 13 

requirements. 

  

Page 34



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 027 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Appendix C – Key risks and controls 

C1 Types of risk 

The Administering Authority has an active risk management programme in place.  The measures that it has in 

place to control key risks are summarised below under the following headings:  

financial;  

demographic; 

regulatory; and 

governance. 

C2 Financial risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms 

Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the 

anticipated returns underpinning the valuation of 

liabilities over the long-term. 

Only anticipate long-term returns on a relatively 

prudent basis to reduce risk of under-performing. 

Assets invested on the basis of specialist advice, in a 

suitably diversified manner across asset classes, 

geographies, managers, etc. 

Analyse progress at three yearly valuations for all 

employers.   

Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities between 

valuations at whole Fund level.    

Inappropriate long-term investment strategy.  Overall investment strategy options considered as an 

integral part of the funding strategy.  Used asset 

liability modelling to measure four key outcomes.   

Chosen option considered to provide the best balance. 

Fall in risk-free returns on Government bonds, 

leading to rise in value placed on liabilities. 

Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund level allows for 

the probability of this within a longer term context.   

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above. 

Some investment in bonds helps to mitigate this risk.   

Active investment manager under-performance 

relative to benchmark. 

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses market 

performance and active managers relative to their 

index benchmark.   

Pay and price inflation significantly more than 

anticipated. 

The focus of the actuarial valuation process is on real 

returns on assets, net of price and pay increases.  

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, gives early 

warning.  

Some investment in bonds also helps to mitigate this 

Page 35



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 028 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms 

risk.   

Employers pay for their own salary awards and should 

be mindful of the geared effect on pension liabilities of 

any bias in pensionable pay rises towards longer-

serving employees.   

Effect of possible increase in employer‟s 

contribution rate on service delivery and 

admission/scheduled bodies 

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has been agreed 

as part of the funding strategy.  Other measures are 

also in place to limit sudden increases in contributions. 

Orphaned employers give rise to added costs 

for the Fund 

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or 

security/guarantor) to minimise the risk of this 

happening in the future. 

If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the added cost 

spread pro-rata among all employers – (see 3.9). 

Academy school ceases due to failure. The Fund seeks a cessation valuation and 

makes a claim to the Secretary of State for Education 

under the Academies guarantee. 
 

Admission Bodies failure. The Fund will seek to have in place a bond/indemnity 

and/or „pass-through‟ arrangement with scheme 

employer or a tripartite admission agreement. 

 

 

C3 Demographic risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Pensioners living longer, thus increasing cost to 

Fund. 

 

Set mortality assumptions with some allowance for 

future increases in life expectancy. 

The Fund Actuary has direct access to the experience 

of over 50 LGPS funds which allows early identification 

of changes in life expectancy that might in turn affect 

the assumptions underpinning the valuation. 

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively 

contributing employees declines relative to 

retired employees. 

Continue to monitor at each valuation, consider 

seeking monetary amounts rather than % of pay and 

consider alternative investment strategies. 

Deteriorating patterns of early retirements Employers are charged the extra cost of non ill-health 

retirements following each individual decision. 

Employer ill health retirement experience is monitored, 

and insurance is an option. 

Reductions in payroll causing insufficient deficit In many cases this may not be sufficient cause for 

Page 36



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 029 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

recovery payments concern, and will in effect be caught at the next formal 

valuation.  However, there are protections where there 

is concern, as follows: 

Employers in the stabilisation mechanism may be 

brought out of that mechanism to permit appropriate 

contribution increases (see Note (b) to 3.3). 

For other employers, review of contributions is 

permitted in general between valuations (see Note (f) 

to 3.3) and may require a move in deficit contributions 

from a percentage of payroll to fixed monetary 

amounts. 

 

C4 Regulatory risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Changes to national pension requirements 

and/or HMRC rules e.g. changes arising from 

public sector pensions reform. 

 

The Administering Authority considers all consultation 

papers issued by the Government and comments 

where appropriate.  

The results of the most recent reforms were built into 

the 2013 valuation.  Any changes to member 

contribution rates or benefit levels will be carefully 

communicated with members to minimise possible opt-

outs or adverse actions.  

Time, cost and/or reputational risks associated 

with any DCLG intervention triggered by the 

Section 13 analysis (see Section 5). 

Take advice from Fund Actuary on position of Fund as 

at prior valuation, and consideration of proposed 

valuation approach relative to anticipated Section 13 

analysis. 

Changes by Government to particular employer 

participation in LGPS Funds, leading to impacts 

on funding and/or investment strategies. 

The Administering Authority considers all consultation 

papers issued by the Government and comments 

where appropriate.  

Take advice from Fund Actuary on impact of changes 

on the Fund and amend strategy as appropriate. 

 

C5 Governance risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Page 37



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 030 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Administering Authority unaware of structural 

changes in an employer‟s membership (e.g. 

large fall in employee members, large number of 

retirements) or not advised of an employer 

closing to new entrants. 

The Administering Authority has a close relationship 

with employing bodies and communicates required 

standards e.g. for submission of data.  

The Actuary may revise the rates and Adjustments 

certificate to increase an employer‟s contributions 

between triennial valuations 

Deficit contributions may be expressed as monetary 

amounts. 

Actuarial or investment advice is not sought, or 

is not heeded, or proves to be insufficient in 

some way 

The Administering Authority maintains close contact 

with its specialist advisers. 

Advice is delivered via formal meetings involving 

Elected Members, and recorded appropriately. 

Actuarial advice is subject to professional requirements 

such as peer review. 

Administering Authority failing to commission 

the Fund Actuary to carry out a termination 

valuation for a departing Admission Body. 

The Administering Authority requires employers with 

Best Value contractors to inform it of forthcoming 

changes. 

Community Admission Bodies‟ memberships are 

monitored and, if active membership decreases, steps 

will be taken. 

An employer ceasing to exist with insufficient 

funding or adequacy of a bond. 

 

The Administering Authority believes that it would 

normally be too late to address the position if it was left 

to the time of departure. 

The risk is mitigated by: 

Seeking a funding guarantee from another scheme 

employer, or external body, where-ever possible (see 

Notes (h) and (j) to 3.3). 

Alerting the prospective employer to its obligations and 

encouraging it to take independent actuarial advice.  

Vetting prospective employers before admission. 

Where permitted under the regulations requiring a bond 

to protect the Fund from various risks. 

Requiring new Community Admission Bodies to have a 

guarantor. 

Reviewing bond or guarantor arrangements at regular 

Page 38



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 031 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

intervals (see Note (f) to 3.3). 

Reviewing contributions well ahead of cessation if 

thought appropriate (see Note (a) to 3.3). 

 

  

Page 39



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 032 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Appendix D – The calculation of Employer contributions 

In Section 2 there was a broad description of the way in which contribution rates are calculated.  This Appendix 

considers these calculations in much more detail. 

All three steps above are considered when setting contributions (more details are given in Section 3 and 

Appendix D: 

1. The funding target is based on a set of assumptions about the future, eg investment returns, inflation, 

pensioners‟ life expectancies. However, if an employer is approaching the end of its participation in the 

Fund then it‟s funding target may be set on a more prudent basis, so that it‟s liabilities are less likely to be 

spread among other employers after it‟s cessation of participation; 

2. The time horizon required is, in broad terms, the period over which any deficit is to be recovered. A 

shorter period will lead to higher contributions, and vice versa (all other things being equal). Employers 

may be given a lower time horizon if they have a less permanent anticipated membership, or do not have 

tax-raising powers to increase contributions if investment returns under-perform; 

3. The required probability of achieving the funding target over that time horizon will be dependent on the 

Fund‟s view of the strength of employer covenant and its funding profile. Where an employer is 

considered to be weaker, or potentially ceasing from the Fund, then the required probability will be set 

higher, which in turn will increase the required contributions (and vice versa). 

The calculations involve actuarial assumptions about future experience, and these are described in detail in 

Appendix E. 

D1 What is the difference between calculations across the whole Fund and calculations for an 

individual employer? 

Employer contributions are normally made up of two elements: 

a) the estimated cost of ongoing benefits being accrued,  referred to as the “Primary contribution rate” (see 

D2 below); plus 

b) an adjustment for the difference between the Primary rate above, and the actual contribution the 

employer needs to pay, referred to as the “Secondary contribution rate” (see D3 below).  

The contribution rate for each employer is measured as above, appropriate for each employer‟s funding position 

and membership. The whole Fund position, including that used in reporting to DCLG (see section 5), is 

calculated in effect as the sum of all the individual employer rates. DCLG currently only regulates at whole Fund 

level, without monitoring individual employer positions. 

D2 How is the Primary contribution rate calculated?  

The Primary element of the employer contribution rate is calculated with the aim that these contributions will 

meet benefit payments in respect of members‟ future service in the Fund.  This is based upon the cost (in 

excess of members‟ contributions) of the benefits which employee members earn from their service each year.   

The Primary rate is calculated separately for all the employers, although employers within a pool will pay the 

contribution rate applicable to the pool as a whole.  The Primary rate is calculated such that it is projected to: 

1. meet the required funding target for all future years‟ accrual of benefits*, excluding any accrued assets, 

2. within the determined time horizon (see note 3.3 Note (c) for further details), 

Page 40



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 033 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

3. with a sufficiently high probability, as set by the Fund‟s strategy for the category of employer (see 3.3 

Note (e) for further details). 

* The projection is for the current active membership where the employer no longer admits new entrants, or 

additionally allows for new entrants where this is appropriate. 

The projections are carried out using an economic modeller developed by the Fund‟s actuary Hymans 

Robertson: this allows for a wide range of outcomes as regards key factors such as asset returns (based on the 

Fund‟s investment strategy), inflation, and bond yields. The measured contributions are calculated such that the 

proportion of outcomes meeting the employer‟s funding target (by the end of the time horizon) is equal to the 

required probability.  

The approach includes expenses of administration to the extent that they are borne by the Fund, and includes 

allowances for benefits payable on death in service and on ill health retirement. 

D3 How is the Secondary contribution rate calculated? 

The combined Primary and Secondary rates aim to achieve the employer‟s funding target, within the appropriate 

time horizon, with the relevant degree of probability. 

For the funding target, the Fund actuary agrees the assumptions to be used with the Administering Authority – 

see Appendix E.  These assumptions are used to calculate the present value of all benefit payments expected 

in the future, relating to that employer‟s current and former employees, based on pensionable service to the 

valuation date only (i.e. ignoring further benefits to be built up in the future). 

The Fund operates the same target funding level for all employers of 100% of its accrued liabilities valued on 

the ongoing basis, unless otherwise determined (see Section 3).  

The Secondary rate is calculated as the balance over and above the Primary rate, such that the total is 

projected to: 

1. meet the required funding target relating to combined past and future service benefit accrual, including 

accrued asset share (see D5 below); 

2. within the determined time horizon (see 3.3 Note (c) for further details); 

3. with a sufficiently high probability, as set by the Fund‟s strategy for the category of employer (see 3.3 

Note (e) for further details); and 

4. allowing for any adjustments that may be required to keep contributions as stable as possible. 

The projections are carried out using an economic modeller developed by the Fund Actuary Hymans Robertson: 

this allows for a wide range of outcomes as regards key factors such as asset returns (based on the Fund‟s 

investment strategy), inflation, and bond yields. The measured contributions are calculated such that the 

proportion of outcomes with at least 100% solvency (by the end of the time horizon) is equal to the required 

probability.  

D4 What affects a given employer’s valuation results? 

The results of these calculations for a given individual employer will be affected by: 

1. past contributions relative to the cost of accruals of benefits;   

2. different liability profiles of employers (e.g. mix of members by age, gender, service vs. salary); 

Page 41



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 034 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

3. the effect of any differences in the funding target, i.e. the valuation basis used to value the employer‟s 

liabilities;  

4. any different time horizons;   

5. the difference between actual and assumed rises in pensionable pay; 

6. the difference between actual and assumed increases to pensions in payment and deferred pensions; 

7. the difference between actual and assumed retirements on grounds of ill-health from active status;  

8. the difference between actual and assumed amounts of pension ceasing on death; 

9. the additional costs of any non ill-health retirements relative to any extra payments made; and/or 

10. differences in the required probability of achieving the funding target. 

D5 How is each employer’s asset share calculated? 

The Administering Authority does not account for each employer‟s assets separately.  Instead, the Fund‟s 

actuary is required to apportion the assets of the whole Fund between the employers at each triennial valuation.  

This apportionment uses the income and expenditure figures provided for certain cash flows for each employer. 

This process adjusts for transfers of liabilities between employers participating in the Fund, but does make a 

number of simplifying assumptions.  The split is calculated using an actuarial technique known as “analysis of 

surplus”.  

Actual investment returns achieved on the Fund between each valuation are applied proportionately across all 

employers, to the extent that employers in effect share the same investment strategy.  Transfers of liabilities 

between employers within the Fund occur automatically within this process, with a sum broadly equivalent to the 

reserve required on the ongoing basis being exchanged between the two employers.    

The Fund actuary does not allow for certain relatively minor events, including but not limited to: 

1. the actual timing of employer contributions within any financial year; and 

2. the effect of the premature payment of any deferred pensions on grounds of incapacity. 

These effects are swept up within a miscellaneous item in the analysis of surplus, which is split between 

employers in proportion to their liabilities. 

The methodology adopted means that there will inevitably be some difference between the asset shares 

calculated for individual employers and those that would have resulted had they participated in their own ring-

fenced section of the Fund.   

The asset apportionment is capable of verification but not to audit standard.  The Administering Authority 

recognises the limitations in the process, but it considers that the Fund actuary‟s approach addresses the risks 

of employer cross-subsidisation to an acceptable degree. 

 

  

Page 42



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 035 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Appendix E – Actuarial assumptions 

E1 What are the actuarial assumptions? 

These are expectations of future experience used to place a value on future benefit payments (“the liabilities”). 

Assumptions are made about the amount of benefit payable to members (the financial assumptions) and the 

likelihood or timing of payments (the demographic assumptions).  For example, financial assumptions include 

investment returns, salary growth and pension increases; demographic assumptions include life expectancy, 

probabilities of ill-health early retirement, and proportions of member deaths giving rise to dependants‟ benefits.   

Changes in assumptions will affect the measured funding target.  However, different assumptions will not of 

course affect the actual benefits payable by the Fund in future. 

The combination of all assumptions is described as the “basis”.  A more optimistic basis might involve higher 

assumed investment returns (discount rate), or lower assumed salary growth, pension increases or life 

expectancy; a more optimistic basis will give lower funding targets and lower employer costs. A more prudent 

basis will give higher funding targets and higher employer costs. 

E2 What basis is used by the Fund? 

The Fund‟s standard funding basis is described as the “ongoing basis”, which applies to most employers in most 

circumstances.  This is described in more detail below.  It anticipates employers remaining in the Fund in the 

long term. 

However, in certain circumstances, typically where the employer is not expected to remain in the Fund long 

term, a more prudent basis applies: see Note (a) to 3.3. 

E3 What assumptions are made in the ongoing basis? 

a) Investment return / discount rate 

The key financial assumption is the anticipated return on the Fund‟s investments.  This “discount rate” 

assumption makes allowance for an anticipated out-performance of Fund returns relative to long term yields on 

UK Government bonds (“gilts”).  There is, however, no guarantee that Fund returns will out-perform gilts.  The 

risk is greater when measured over short periods such as the three years between formal actuarial valuations, 

when the actual returns and assumed returns can deviate sharply.   

Given the very long-term nature of the liabilities, a long term view of prospective asset returns is taken.  The 

long term in this context would be 20 to 30 years or more.   

For the purpose of the triennial funding valuation at 31 March 2016 and setting contribution rates effective from 

1 April 2017, the Fund actuary has assumed that future investment returns earned by the Fund over the long 

term will be 1.8% per annum greater than gilt yields at the time of the valuation (this is the same as that used at 

the 2013 valuation).  In the opinion of the Fund actuary, based on the current investment strategy of the Fund, 

this asset out-performance assumption is within a range that would be considered acceptable for the purposes 

of the funding valuation. 

  

Page 43



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 036 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

b) Salary growth 

Pay for public sector employees is currently subject to restriction by the UK Government until 2020.  Although 

this “pay freeze” does not officially apply to local government and associated employers, it has been suggested 

that they are likely to show similar restraint in respect of pay awards.  Based on long term historical analysis of 

the membership in LGPS funds, and continued austerity measures, the salary increase assumption at the 2016 

valuation has been set to be a blended rate combined of: 

1. 1% p.a. until 31 March 2020, followed by 

2. retail prices index (RPI) per annum thereafter.   

This is a change from the previous valuation, which assumed a flat assumption of RPI per annum. The change 

has led to a reduction in the funding target (all other things being equal). 

c) Pension increases 

Since 2011 the consumer prices index (CPI), rather than RPI, has been the basis for increases to public sector 

pensions in deferment and in payment.  Note that the basis of such increases is set by the Government, and is 

not under the control of the Fund or any employers. 

As at the previous valuation, we derive our assumption for RPI from market data as the difference between the 

yield on long-dated fixed interest and index-linked government bonds.  This is then reduced to arrive at the CPI 

assumption, to allow for the “formula effect” of the difference between RPI and CPI.  At this valuation, we 

propose a reduction of 1.0% per annum.  This is a larger reduction than at 2013, which will serve to reduce the 

funding target (all other things being equal). (Note that the reduction is applied in a geometric, not arithmetic, 

basis). 

d) Life expectancy 

The demographic assumptions are intended to be best estimates of future experience in the Fund based on 

past experience of LGPS funds which participate in Club Vita, the longevity analytics service used by the Fund, 

and endorsed by the actuary.   

The longevity assumptions that have been adopted at this valuation are a bespoke set of “VitaCurves”, 

produced by the Club Vita‟s detailed analysis, which are specifically tailored to fit the membership profile of the 

Fund.  These curves are based on the data provided by the Fund for the purposes of this valuation.  

It is acknowledged that future life expectancy and, in particular, the allowance for future improvements in life 

expectancy, is uncertain.  There is a consensus amongst actuaries, demographers and medical experts that life 

expectancy is likely to improve in the future.  Allowance has been made in the ongoing valuation basis for future 

improvements in line with the 2013 version of the Continuous Mortality Investigation model published by the 

Actuarial Profession and a 1.25% per annum minimum underpin to future reductions in mortality rates.  This is a 

similar allowance for future improvements than was made in 2013. 

The approach taken is considered reasonable in light of the long term nature of the Fund and the assumed level 

of security underpinning members‟ benefits.    

  

Page 44



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 037 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

e) General 

The same financial assumptions are adopted for most employers, in deriving the funding target underpinning the 

Primary and Secondary rates: as described in (3.3), these calculated figures are translated in different ways into 

employer contributions, depending on the employer‟s circumstances. 

The demographic assumptions, in particular the life expectancy assumption, in effect vary by type of member 

and so reflect the different membership profiles of employers. 

  

Page 45



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 038 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Appendix F – Glossary 

Actuarial 

assumptions/basis 

The combined set of assumptions made by the actuary, regarding the future, to 

calculate the value of the funding target.  The main assumptions will relate to the 

discount rate, salary growth, pension increases and longevity.  More prudent 

assumptions will give a higher target value, whereas more optimistic assumptions 

will give a lower value.  

Administering 

Authority 

The council with statutory responsibility for running the Fund, in effect the Fund‟s 

“trustees”. 

Admission Bodies Employers where there is an Admission Agreement setting out the employer‟s 

obligations. These can be Community Admission Bodies or Transferee Admission 

Bodies. For more details (see 2.3). 

Bond Indemnity To cover early termination of a contract due to, but not limited to, 

 funding strain arising from the early payment of liabilities that will arise as a 

consequence of redundancy if the Employer goes into liquidation, 

insolvency or winds up. Employees over age 55 are eligible for immediate 

payment of pension in the event of being made redundant; 

 

 any general funding shortfall, arising from variations between experience 

and assumptions used when determining the ongoing Employer‟s 

contribution rate; and 

 

 a provision to cover the potential liability due to adverse market conditions 

over the period until the next actuarial valuation.  

This bond does not cover any final cessation payments at the end of a contract. 

Cessation 

Valuation 

At the natural end of a contract or when the last active member of an Employer 

retires, a cessation valuation is carried out to determine the final contribution due 

from the Employer. The final contribution due may be subject to a „pass-through‟ 

arrangement with the scheme employer. 

Covenant The assessed financial strength of the employer. A strong covenant indicates a 

greater ability (and willingness) to pay for pension obligations in the long run. A 

weaker covenant means that it appears that the employer may have difficulties 

meeting its pension obligations in full over the longer term. 

Designating 

Employer 

Employers such as town and parish councils that are able to participate in the LGPS 

via resolution.  These employers can designate which of their employees are 

eligible to join the Fund. 

Discount rate The annual rate at which future assumed cashflows (in and out of the Fund) are 

discounted to the present day.  This is necessary to provide a funding target which 

is consistent with the present day value of the assets. A lower discount rate gives a 

higher target value, and vice versa.  It is used in the calculation of the Primary and 

Page 46



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 039 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Secondary rates.  

Employer An individual participating body in the Fund, which employs (or used to employ) 

members of the Fund.  Normally the assets and funding target values for each 

employer are individually tracked, together with its Primary rate at each valuation.  

Funding target The actuarially calculated present value of all pension entitlements of all members 

of the Fund, built up to date.  This is compared with the present market value of 

Fund assets to derive the deficit.  It is calculated on a chosen set of actuarial 

assumptions. 

Gilt A UK Government bond, ie a promise by the Government to pay interest and capital 

as per the terms of that particular gilt, in return for an initial payment of capital by 

the purchaser. Gilts can be “fixed interest”, where the interest payments are level 

throughout the gilt‟s term, or “index-linked” where the interest payments vary each 

year in line with a specified index (usually RPI). Gilts can be bought as assets by 

the Fund, but their main use in funding is as an objective measure of solvency. 

Guarantee / 

guarantor 

A formal promise by a third party (the guarantor) that it will meet any pension 

obligations not met by a specified employer. The presence of a guarantor will mean, 

for instance, that the Fund can consider the employer‟s covenant to be as strong 

as its guarantor‟s. 

Letting employer An employer which outsources or transfers a part of its services and workforce to 

another employer (usually a contractor). The contractor will pay towards the LGPS 

benefits accrued by the transferring members, but ultimately the obligation to pay 

for these benefits will revert to the letting employer. A letting employer will usually 

be a local authority, but can sometimes be another type of employer such as an 

Academy. The letting employer will meet the actuarial fees for setting contribution 

rates and any bond reviews. 

LGPS The Local Government Pension Scheme, a public sector pension arrangement put 

in place via Government Regulations, for workers in local government.  These 

Regulations also dictate eligibility (particularly for Scheduled Bodies), members‟ 

contribution rates, benefit calculations and certain governance requirements.  The 

LGPS is divided into 101 Funds which map the UK.  Each LGPS Fund is 

autonomous to the extent not dictated by Regulations, e.g. regarding investment 

strategy, employer contributions and choice of advisers.  

Maturity A general term to describe a Fund (or an employer‟s position within a Fund) where 

the members are closer to retirement (or more of them already retired) and the 

investment time horizon is shorter.  This has implications for investment strategy 

and, consequently, funding strategy.  

Members The individuals who have built up (and may still be building up) entitlement in the 

Fund.  They are divided into actives (current employee members), deferreds (ex-

employees who have not yet retired) and pensioners (ex-employees who have now 

retired, and dependants of deceased ex-employees).  

Pass-through A risk sharing agreement between the letting employer and the contractor.  

Page 47



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING PENSION FUND 040 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

November 2016  

C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\4\5\4\AI00012454\$W2FUX4VH.DOCX  

 

Primary 

contribution rate 

The employer contribution rate required to pay for ongoing accrual of active 

members‟ benefits (including an allowance for administrative expenses). See 

Appendix D for further details. 

Profile The profile of an employer‟s membership or liability reflects various measurements 

of that employer‟s members, ie current and former employees. This includes: the 

proportions which are active, deferred or pensioner; the average ages of each 

category; the varying salary or pension levels; the lengths of service of active 

members vs their salary levels, etc. A membership (or liability) profile might be 

measured for its maturity also. 

Rates and 

Adjustments 

Certificate 

A formal document required by the LGPS Regulations, which must be updated at 

least every three years at the conclusion of the formal valuation. This is completed 

by the actuary and confirms the contributions to be paid by each employer (or pool 

of employers) in the Fund for the three year period until the next valuation is 

completed. 

Scheduled Bodies  Types of employer explicitly defined in the LGPS Regulations, whose employers 

must be offered membership of their local LGPS Fund.  These include Councils, 

colleges, universities, academies, police and fire authorities etc, other than 

employees who have entitlement to a different public sector pension scheme (e.g. 

teachers, police and fire officers, university lecturers).  

Secondary 

contribution rate 

The difference between the employer‟s actual and Primary contribution rates. 

See Appendix D for further details. 

Stabilisation Any method used to smooth out changes in employer contributions from one year to 

the next.  This is very broadly required by the LGPS Regulations, but in practice is 

particularly employed for large stable employers in the Fund.  Different methods 

may involve: probability-based modelling of future market movements; longer deficit 

recovery periods; higher discount rates; or some combination of these.  

Valuation An actuarial investigation to calculate the liabilities, future service contribution rate 

and common contribution rate for a Fund, and usually individual employers too.  

This is normally carried out in full every three years (last done as at 31 March 

2016), but can be approximately updated at other times.  The assets value is based 

on market values at the valuation date, and the liabilities value and contribution 

rates are based on long term bond market yields at that date also. 

 

Page 48



 
 

 PENSIONS COMMITTEE  
    28 MARCH 2017 
 

Subject Heading: 
 
 

2016 ACTUARIAL VALUATION DRAFT 
REPORT  

CLT Lead: 
 

Debbie Middleton 

Report Author and contact details: 
 
 

Debbie Ford 
Pension Fund Accountant 
01708432569 
Debbie.ford@onesource.co.uk  

Policy context: 
 
 

Administration Authority must obtain an 
actuarial valuation of the pension funds’ 
assets & liabilities as at 31 March 2016 

Financial summary: 
 
 

None directly 

 
 

The subject matter of this report deals with the following Council 
Objectives 

 
Havering will be clean and its environment will be cared for [] 
People will be safe, in their homes and in the community [] 
Residents will be proud to live in Havering  [x] 

 
 

 
SUMMARY 

 
 

The DRAFT 2016 Actuarial Valuation Report has been prepared by the Fund’s 
Actuary in accordance with Regulation 62 of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013. 

The report sets out an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the pension 
fund as at 31 March 2016.  

The report also sets out the minimum contributions to be paid by each employer 
from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 as determined by the Fund’s Actuary, using 
assumptions agreed by the Council’s Statutory Section 151 officer. 

 
 
 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Debbie.ford@onesource.co.uk


 
 

 

 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 
That the committee: 
 

1. Note the DRAFT 2016 Actuarial Valuation Report (Appendix A) 
 

 
REPORT DETAIL 

 
 

1. Background 
 

1.1 The Local Government Pension Schemes Regulations 2013, paragraph 62 
(1) states that an administering authority must obtain: 

(a) an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of each of its 
pensions funds as at 31st March 2016 and on 31st March in every third 
year afterwards; 

(b) a report by an actuary in respect of the valuation; and 

(c) a rates and adjustments certificate prepared by an actuary. 

(2) Each of those documents must be obtained before the first anniversary 
of the date (“the valuation date”) as at which the valuation is made or such 
later date as the Secretary of State may agree. 

(3) A report under paragraph (1) (b) must contain a statement of the 
demographic assumptions used in making the valuation; and the statement 
must show how the assumptions relate to the events which have actually 
occurred in relation to members of the Scheme since the last valuation. 

(4) A rates and adjustments certificate is a certificate specifying — 

(a) the primary rate of the employer’s contribution; and 

(b) the secondary rate of the employer’s contribution, 

for each year of the period of three years beginning with 1st April in the year 
following that in which the valuation date falls. 

(5) The primary rate of an employer’s contribution is the amount in respect 
of the cost of future accruals which, in the actuary’s opinion, should be paid 
to a fund by all bodies whose employees contribute to it so as to secure its 

Page 50



 
 

 

solvency, expressed as a percentage of the pay of their employees who are 
active members. 

(6) The actuary must have regard to — 

(a) the existing and prospective liabilities arising from circumstances 
common to all those bodies; 

(b) the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a common rate as 
possible; 

(c) the current version of the administering authority’s funding strategy 
mentioned in regulation 58 (funding strategy statements); and 

(d) the requirement to secure the solvency of the pension fund and the 
long term cost efficiency of the Scheme, so far as relating to the pension 
fund. 

(7) The secondary rate of an employer’s contributions is any percentage or 
amount by which, in the actuary’s opinion, contributions at the primary rate 
should, in the case of a Scheme employer, be increased or reduced by 
reason of any circumstances peculiar to that employer. 

(8) A rates and adjustments certificate must contain a statement of the 
assumptions on which the certificate is given as respects — 

(a) the number of members who will become entitled to payment of 
pensions under the provisions of the Scheme; and 

(b) the amount of the liabilities arising in respect of such members, 
during the period covered by the certificate. 

(9) The administering authority must provide the actuary preparing a 
valuation or a rates and adjustments certificate with the consolidated 
revenue account of the fund and such other information as the actuary 
requests. 

1.2  As mentioned under Regulation 62 (2) the Final version of the 2016 
Actuarial Valuation Report must be produced by the 31 March 2017. 

1.3 Section 4 of the report sets out the results in detail but in summary the 
funding level of the fund as improved the last 2013 valuation as shown in the 
table below: 

 

 

 

Page 51



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.4  The minimum contributions to be paid by each employer from 1 April 2017 
to 31 March 2020 are shown in the Rates and Adjustment certificate within 
Appendix H of the attached report. Employer contributions are collected 
using the ‘Total Contribution Rate’ (combined primary & secondary) unless a 
cash value is presented. Cash is collected via invoice payments with the 
exception of the London Borough of Havering pool which is collected via 
payroll and a transfer from the corporate risk budget, as shown in the 
following table:   

 

 

  * As staff numbers decrease then the estimated pensionable pay figure may be reduced, impacting on the 

amount collected via payroll, so the estimated surplus currently provides a contingency if pensionable pay 
reduces.  

 

 31 March 
2013 

31 March  

2016 

 £m £m 

Total Liabilities 752.1 857.3 

Total Assets 460.6 572.9 

Surplus/(Deficit) (291.5) (284.4) 

Funding Level 61% 67% 

 
Valuation Years 

 

01 Apr 
17 - 31 
Mar 18 

01 Apr 
18 - 31 
Mar 19 

01 Apr 
19 - 31 
Mar 20 

    What the Havering pool is expected 
to pay in ER contributions as per 
valuation report: 

   

 
£m £m £m 

Estimated pensionable pay 84.76 85.29 85.82 

Primary Rate @15.6% 13.22 13.31 13.39 

Secondary Rate as Cash sums 9.65 11.15 12.65 

    Total ER Contributions due  22.87 24.46 26.04 

    How the contributions are collected: 
   

    Collected @ 22% of pensionable pay 
via payroll 18.65 18.76 18.88 

shortfall in ER contributions using 
22% (ER’s due less collected) 4.23 5.69 7.16 

How the shortfall is funded:    

    
Planned funding from Corporate Risk 
budget 5.50 7.00 9.50 

*surplus (shortfall less planned funding)  1.27 1.31 2.34 

Page 52



 
 

 

 
IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS 

 
 
Financial implications and risks: 
 
The Valuation is a planning exercise for the Fund, to assess the amount of money 
needed to meet the benefits owed to its members as they fall due for payment.  
 
The purpose of the valuation is to estimate what the cost of members benefits will 
be so that the fund can develop strategies to meet this.  
 
The valuation results depend on actuarial assumptions that are made about the 
future which cannot be predicted with certainty and it is unlikely that future 
experience will match the assumptions used. There are a variety of risks that are 
primarily already contained within Section 5 of the 2016 valuation report. 
 
 
Legal implications and risks: 
 
The Regulatory requirements are included within the body of the report. 
 
Human Resources implications and risks: 
 
None arise from this report. 
 
Equalities implications and risks: 
 
None arise from this report. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 

Background Papers List 
London Borough of Havering Pension Fund 2016 Draft Actuarial Valuation Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London Borough of 
Havering Pension Fund  
2016 Actuarial Valuation 
Draft Valuation Report 
February 2017 
 

Steven Law 

Barry McKay 

 

Fellows of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries  

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

Page 55



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Hymans Robertson LLP has carried out an actuarial valuation of the London Borough of Havering Pension Fund 

(“the Fund”) as at 31 March 2016, details of which are set out in this report (“the Report”), which is addressed to the 

Administering Authority of the Fund, the London Borough of Havering (“our Client”).  The Report was prepared for 

the sole use and benefit of our Client and not for any other party; and Hymans Robertson LLP makes no 

representation or warranties to any third party as to the accuracy or completeness of the Report. 

The Report was not prepared for any third party and it will not address the particular interests or concerns of any 

such third party.  The Report is intended to advise our Client on the past service funding position of the Fund as at 

31 March 2016 and employer contribution rates from 1 April 2017, and should not be considered a substitute for 

specific advice in relation to other individual circumstances. 

As the Report has not been prepared for a third party, no reliance by any party will be placed on the Report.  It 

follows that there is no duty or liability by Hymans Robertson LLP (or its members, partners, officers, employees 

and agents) to any party other than our Client.  Hymans Robertson LLP therefore disclaims all liability and 

responsibility arising from any reliance on or use of the Report by any person having access to the Report or by 

anyone who may be informed of the contents of the Report. 

Hymans Robertson LLP is the owner of all intellectual property rights in the Report and the Report is protected by 

copyright laws and treaties around the world.  All rights are reserved. 

The Report must not be used for any commercial purposes unless Hymans Robertson LLP agrees in advance.

Page 56



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

3 

 

 

Contents 
                              Page 

 

  Executive summary 4 
1  Introduction 5 
2  Valuation Approach 6 
3  Assumptions 8 
4  Results 11 
5  Risk Assessment 14 
6  Related issues 17 
7  Reliances and limitations 18 
Appendix A: About the pension fund 19 
Appendix B: Summary of the Fund’s benefits 20 
Appendix C: Risk based approach to setting contribution rates 26 
Appendix D: Data 28 
Appendix E: Assumptions 30 
Appendix F: Technical appendix for contribution rate modelling 33 
Appendix G: Events since valuation date 36 
Appendix H: Rates and adjustments certificate 37 

 

 

  

 

 

Page 57



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

4 

 

 

Executive summary 
We have carried out an actuarial valuation of the London Borough of Havering Pension Fund (‘the Fund’) as at 31 

March 2016.  The results are presented in this report and are briefly summarised below. 

Funding position 

The table below summarises the funding position of the Fund as at 31 March 2016 in respect of benefits earned by 

members up to this date (along with a comparison at the last formal valuation at 31 March 2013). 

 
The improvement in funding position between 2013 and 2016 is mainly due to strong investment performance over 

the inter-valuation period. The liabilities have also increased due to a reduction in future expected investment 

returns, although this has been partially been offset by lower than expected pay and benefit growth. 

Contribution rates  

The table below summarises the Whole Fund Primary and Secondary Contribution rates at this triennial valuation.  

These rates are the payroll weighted average of the underlying individual employer primary and secondary rates, 

calculated in accordance with the Regulations and CIPFA guidance.    

 
The rates above include an allowance for administration expenses of 0.8% of pay. 

 

At the previous formal valuation at 31 March 2013, a different regulatory regime was in force.  Therefore a 

contribution rate that is directly comparative to the rates above is not provided. 

Broadly, contributions required to be made by employers in respect of new benefits earned by members (the 

primary contribution rate) have increased as future expected investment returns have fallen. Changes to employer 

contributions targeted to fund the deficit have been variable across employers. 

The minimum contributions to be paid by each employer from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 are shown in the 

Rates and Adjustments Certificate in Appendix H.  

      

  

31 March 2013 31 March 2016
Past Service Position (£m) (£m)
Past Service Liabilities 752 857
Market Value of Assets 461 573
Surplus / (Deficit) (292) (284)

Funding Level 61% 67%

Primary rate (%)
1 April 2017 - 31 March 2020 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

TBC TBC TBC TBC

Secondary Rate (£)

Page 58



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

5 

 

 

1 Introduction 
We have carried out an actuarial valuation of the London Borough of Havering Pension Fund (“the Fund”) as at 31 

March 2016 under Regulation 62 of The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (“the Regulations”).  

The purpose of the valuation is to assess the value of the assets and liabilities of the Fund as at 31 March 2016 and 

to calculate the required rate of employers’ contributions payable to the Fund for the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 

March 2020. 

Valuation Report 

This report records the high level outcomes of the actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2016.  The valuation report is 

prepared by the actuary to the Fund and is addressed to London Borough of Havering as the Administering 

Authority to the Fund. 

Component reports 

This document is part of an “aggregate” report, i.e. it is the culmination of various “component” reports and 

discussions, in particular: 

 Correspondence relating to data including the Data Report;  

 The Initial Results report (dated 31 August 2016) which outlined the whole fund results; 

 The formal agreement by the Administering Authority of the actuarial assumptions used in this document, at a 

meeting TBC; 

 The contribution modelling carried out for employers, as detailed in our report and presentation to the 

Administering Authority on 13 December 2016; 

 The Funding Strategy Statement, confirming the different contribution rate setting approaches for different 

types of employer; and  

 The initial results schedules for individual employers in the Fund.  

  

Page 59



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

6 

 

 

2 Valuation Approach 
The valuation is a planning exercise for the Fund, to assess the monies needed to meet the benefits owed to its 

members as they fall due.  As part of the valuation process, the Fund reviews its funding and investment strategies 

to ensure that an appropriate contribution plan is in place.  

It is important to realise that the actual cost of members’ benefits is unknown.  This cost will not be known with 

certainty until the last benefit is paid to the last pensioner.  The purpose of this valuation is to estimate what this 

cost will be, so that the Fund can then develop a funding strategy to meet it.  

Setting the funding strategy for an open defined benefit pension fund such as the London Borough of Havering 

Pension Fund is complex. Firstly, the time period is very long; benefits earned in the LGPS today will be paid out 

over a period of the next 80 years or more and it remains open to new joiners and accrual of benefits.  Secondly, 

the LGPS remains a defined benefit scheme so there are significant uncertainties in the final cost of the benefits to 

be paid.  Finally, in order to reduce employer costs, the Fund has a return seeking investment strategy which can 

result in high levels of asset volatility.  

Such a valuation can only ever be an estimate – as the future cannot be predicted with certainty.  However, as 

actuaries, we can use our understanding of the Fund and the factors that affect it to set the pace of funding in 

conjunction with the Administering Authority.  The pace of this funding can vary according to the level of prudence 

that is built into the valuation method and assumptions. 

The valuation approach adopted recognises the uncertainties and risks posed to funding by the factors discussed 

above and follows the process outlined below. 

Step 1: The Fund sets a funding target (or funding basis) which defines the target amount of assets to be held to 

meet the future cashflows.  The assumptions underlying the funding target are discussed further in the 

next section.  A measurement is made at the valuation date to compare the assets held with the funding 

target.   

Step 2: The Fund sets the time horizon over which the funding target is to be reached. 

Step 3: The Fund sets contributions that give a sufficiently high likelihood of meeting the funding target over the 

set time horizon.  More detail on this risk based approach to setting contribution rates can be found in 

Appendix C. 

For this valuation, as for the previous valuation, our calculations identify separately the expected cost of members’ 

benefits in respect of scheme membership completed before the valuation date (“past service”) and that which is 

expected to be completed after the valuation date (“future service”). 

Past service 

The principal measurement here is the comparison of the funding position at the valuation date against the funding 

target.  The market value of the Fund’s assets as at the valuation date are compared against the value placed on 

the Fund’s liabilities in today’s terms (calculated using a market-based approach).  By maintaining a link to the 

market in both cases, this helps ensure that the assets and liabilities are valued in a consistent manner.  Our 

calculation of the Fund’s liabilities also explicitly allows for expected future pay and pension increases.  The 

assumptions used in the assessment of the funding position at the valuation date are detailed in the next section. 

The funding level is the ratio of assets to liabilities at the valuation date.  A funding level of less/more than 100% 

implies that there is a deficit/surplus in the Fund at the valuation date against the funding target.  

Page 60



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

7 

 

 

Funding plans are set to eliminate any deficit (or surplus) over the set time horizon and therefore get back to a 

funding level of 100%.  To do so, additional contributions may be required to be paid into the Fund; these 

contributions are included in each employer’s “secondary rate”. 

Future service 

In addition to benefits that have already been earned by members prior to the valuation date, employee members 

will continue to earn new benefits in the future.  The cost of these new benefits must be met by both employers and 

employees.  The employers’ share of this cost is known as the “primary rate”. 

The primary rates for employers are determined with the aim of meeting the funding target in respect of these new 

benefits at the end of the set time horizon with an appropriate likelihood of success. The primary rate will depend on 

the profile of the membership (amongst other factors).  For example, the rate is higher for older members as there is 

less time to earn investment returns before the member’s pension comes into payment.   

The methodology for calculating the primary rate will also depend on whether an employer is open or closed to new 

entrants.  A closed employer will have a higher rate as we must allow for the consequent gradual ageing of the 

workforce. 

For the reasons outlined above regarding the uncertainty of the future, there is no guarantee that the amount paid 

for the primary rate will be sufficient to meet the cost of the benefits that accrue.  Similarly, there is no guarantee 

that the secondary contributions will result in a 100% funding level at the end of each employers’ respective time 

horizon.  Further discussion of this uncertainty is set out in Appendix C. 
  

Page 61



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

8 

 

 

3 Assumptions 
Due to the long term nature of the Fund, assumptions about the future are required to place a value on the benefits 

earned to date (past service) and the cost of benefits that will be earned in the future (future service). 

Broadly speaking, our assumptions fall into two categories when projecting and placing a value on the future benefit 

payments and accrual – financial and demographic. 

Financial assumptions typically try to anticipate the size of these benefits.  For example, what members’ final 

salaries will be at retirement and how their pension will increase over time.  In addition, the financial assumptions 

also help us to estimate how much all these benefits will cost the Fund in today’s money by making an assumption 

about future anticipated returns on the Fund’s investments.  

Demographic assumptions typically try to forecast when benefits will come into payment and what form these will 

take. For example, when members will retire (e.g. at their normal retirement age or earlier), how long they will then 

survive and whether a dependant’s pension will be paid.  In this valuation of the Fund, we use a single agreed set of 

demographic assumptions which is set out below and in more detail in Appendix E. 

For measuring the funding position, the liabilities of the Fund are reported on a single constant set of financial 

assumptions about the future, based on financial market data as at 31 March 2016. 

However, when we assess the required employer contributions, we use a model that calculates the contributions 

required under 5000 different possible future economic scenarios. Under these 5000 different economic scenarios, 

key financial assumptions about pension increases and Fund investment returns vary across a wide range.  More 

information about these types of assumptions is set out in Appendix F. 

Financial assumptions 

Discount rate 

In order to place a current value on the future benefit payments from the Fund, an assumption about future 

investment returns is required to “discount” future benefit payments back to the valuation date.  In setting the 

discount rate the Fund is determining the extent to which it relies on future investment returns required to meet 

benefit payments in excess of the monies already held at the valuation date. 

For a funding valuation such as this, the discount rate is required by the Regulations to incorporate a degree of 

prudence.  The discount rate is therefore set by taking into account the Fund’s current and expected future 

investment strategy and, in particular, how this strategy is expected to outperform the returns from Government 

bonds over the long term. The additional margin for returns in excess of that available on Government bonds is 

called the Asset Outperformance Assumption (AOA). 

The selection of an appropriate AOA is a matter of judgement and the degree of risk inherent in the Fund’s 

investment strategy should always be considered as fully as possible.   

There has been a downward shift in the expected returns on many asset classes held by the Fund since the 2013 

valuation. The Fund is satisfied that an AOA of 1.8% p.a. is a prudent assumption for the purposes of this valuation. 

Price inflation / pension increases 

Pension (both in payment and deferment) benefit increases and the revaluation of career-average earnings are in 

line with Consumer Price Inflation (CPI).  As there continues to be no suitable market for CPI linked financial 

instruments, the Fund derives the expected level of future CPI with reference to Retail Prices Inflation (RPI). 

Due to further analysis of CPI since 2013, the Fund expects the average long term difference between RPI and CPI 

to be 1.0% p.a. compared with 0.8% p.a. at the 2013 valuation. 

Page 62



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

9 

 

 

At the previous valuation, the assumption for RPI was derived from market data as the difference between the yield 

on long-dated fixed interest and index-linked government bonds.  At this valuation, the Fund continues to adopt a 

similar approach.  

Salary increases 

Due to the change to a CARE scheme from 2014, there is now a closed group of membership in the Fund with 

benefits linked to final salary.  The run-off of this final salary linked liability was modelled, taking into account the 

short-term restrictions in public sector pay growth.   

The results of this modelling and analysis were reported in the “2016 valuation pay growth assumption” document 

dated 10 March 2016. Based on the results of this modelling the Fund set a salary growth assumption of RPI – 

0.7%. This reflects both short term pay constraints and the belief that general economic growth and hence pay 

growth may be at a lower level than historically experienced for a prolonged period of time.   

Note that this assumption is made in respect of the general level of salary increases (e.g. as a result of inflation and 

other macroeconomic factors).  We also make a separate allowance for expected pay rises granted in the future as 

a result of promotion. This assumption takes the form of a set of tables which model the expected promotional pay 

awards based on each member’s age and class.  Please see Appendix E. 

A summary of the financial assumptions underpinning the target funding basis and adopted during the assessment 

of the liabilities of the Fund as at 31 March 2016 (alongside those adopted at the last valuation for comparison) are 

shown below. 

 
*Arithmetic addition 

**Geometric addition 
  

Financial assumptions 31 March 2013 31 March 2016

3.0% 2.2% 
1.8%* 1.8%**
4.8% 4.0% 

3.3% 3.2% 
(0.8%)* (1.0%)**
2.5% 2.1% 

3.3% 3.2% 
0.0%* (0.7%)**
3.3% 2.4% 

Salary increases
Retail Prices Inflation (RPI)
Increases in excess of RPI

Salary increase assumption

Benefit increase assumption (CPI)
Assumed RPI/CPI gap

Benefit increases
Retail Prices Inflation (RPI)

Discount rate
Return on long-dated gilts

Asset Outperformance Assumption
Discount rate

Page 63



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

10 

 

 

Demographic assumptions 

Longevity 

The main demographic assumption to which the valuation results are most sensitive is that relating to the longevity 

of the Fund’s members.  For this valuation, the Fund has adopted assumptions which give the following sample 

average future life expectancies for members: 

 
Further details of the longevity assumptions adopted for this valuation can be found in Appendix E.  Note that the 

figures above for actives and deferreds assume that they are aged 45 at the valuation date. 

Other demographic assumptions  

We are in the unique position of having a very large local authority data set from which to derive our other 

demographic assumptions. We have analysed the trends and patterns that are present in the membership of local 

authority funds and tailored our demographic assumptions to reflect LGPS experience. 

Details of the other demographic assumptions adopted by the Fund are set out in Appendix E.   

Further comments on the assumptions  

As required for Local Government Pension Scheme valuations, our approach to this valuation must include a 

degree of prudence. This has been achieved by explicitly allowing for a margin of prudence in the AOA.  

For the avoidance of doubt, we believe that all other proposed assumptions represent the “best estimate” of future 

experience. This effectively means that there is a 50% chance that future experience will be better or worse than 

the chosen assumption.  

Taken as a whole, we believe that our proposed assumptions are more prudent than the best estimate. 

The actuarial assumptions underlying the Scheme Advisory Board’s Key Performance Indicators may be viewed as 

best estimate.  Using these assumptions, the assessed funding position as at 31 March 2016 would have been 

78%. 

Assets 

We have taken the assets of the Fund into account at their bid value as provided to us by the Administering 

Authority.  

In our opinion, the basis for placing a value on members’ benefits is consistent with that for valuing the assets - both 

are related to market conditions at the valuation date.  

31 March 2013 31 March 2016
Male

Pensioners 22.1 years 22.0 years 
Non-pensioners 24.2 years 23.9 years

Female
Pensioners 24.1 years 24.2 years

Non-pensioners 26.7 years 26.3 years

Page 64



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

11 

 

 

4 Results 
The Administering Authority has prepared a Funding Strategy Statement which sets out its funding objectives for 

the Fund.  In broad terms, the main valuation objectives are to hold sufficient assets in the Fund to meet the 

assessed cost of members’ accrued benefits on the target funding basis (“the Funding Objective”) and to set 

employer contributions which ensure both the long term solvency and the long term cost efficiency of the Fund (“the 

Contribution Objective”). 

Funding Position Relative to Funding Target 

In assessing the extent to which the Funding Objective was met at the valuation date, we have used the actuarial 

assumptions described in the previous section of this report for the target funding basis and the funding method, 

also earlier described.  The table below compares the value of the assets and liabilities at 31 March 2016. The 31 

March 2013 results are also shown for reference. 

A funding level of 100% would correspond to the Funding Objective being met at the valuation date. 

 
The Funding Objective was not met at this Valuation: there was a shortfall of assets relative to the assessed cost of 

members’ benefits on the target funding basis of around £284m.  

Summary of changes to the funding position 

The chart below illustrates the factors that caused the changes in the funding position between 31 March 2013 and 

31 March 2016: 

  

Valuation Date 31 March 2013 31 March 2016
Past Service Liabilities (£m) (£m)

Employees 266.2 271.9
Deferred Pensioners 114.5 157.3

Pensioners 371.4 428.1
Total Liabilities 752.1 857.3
Assets 460.6 572.9
Surplus / (Deficit) (291.5) (284.4)
Funding Level 61% 67%

Page 65



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

12 

 

 

 

Further comments on some of the items in this chart: 

 There is an interest cost of £44m. This is broadly three years of compound interest at 4.8% p.a. applied to the 

previous valuation deficit of £292m (and can be thought of as the investment return that would have been 

achieved on the extra assets the Fund would have held if fully funded). 

 Investment returns being higher than expected since 2013 lead to a gain of £22m.  This is roughly the 

difference between the actual three-year return (19.6%) and expected three-year return (15.1%) applied to 

the Whole Fund assets from the previous valuation of £461m, with a further allowance made for cashflows 

during the period. 

 The membership experience of the Fund has differed to the assumptions made at the 2013 valuation leading 

to gain of £27m.  The table below summarises the significant factors that underlie these differences: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Tier1 and Tier 2 ill-health retirements only 

**Includes allowances for promotional increases 

 The impact of the change in demographic assumptions has been a gain of around £1m. 

 The change in mortality assumptions (baseline and improvements) has given rise to a gain of £10m.  . 

 The change in financial conditions since the previous valuation has led to a loss of £48m. This is due to a 

decrease in the real discount rate between 2013 and 2016.  The estimated impact of this is a loss of around 

£103m.  This has partially been offset by the increase to the assumed gap between RPI and CPI and the 

reduction in the expected future salary growth for benefits linked to final salary (a combined estimated gain of 

£55m). 

 Other experience items, such as changes in the membership data, have served to decrease the deficit at this 

valuation by around £3m. 

Employer Contribution Rates 

The Contribution Objective is achieved by setting employer contributions which are likely to be sufficient to meet 

both the cost of new benefits accruing and to address any funding deficit relative to the funding target over the 

agreed time horizon.  A secondary objective is to maintain, where possible, relatively stable employer contribution 

rates. 

For each employer in the Fund, to meet the Contribution Objective, a Primary Contribution Rate has been 

calculated in order to fund the cost of new benefits accruing in the Fund. Additionally, if required, a secondary 

contribution rate has also been calculated to target a fully funded position within the employer’s set time horizon. 

These rates have been assessed using a financial model that assesses the funding outcome for the employer 

under 5000 different possible future economic scenarios, where the key financial assumptions about pension 

increases and investment returns vary.  The employer contribution rates have been set to achieve the funding 

target over the agreed time horizon and with the appropriate likelihood of success.  The time horizon and the 

likelihood parameters vary by employer according to each employer’s characteristics.  These parameters are set 

Expected Actual Difference Impact

Pre-retirement experience

Early leavers (no.of lives) 3,392 2,238 (1,154) Positive

Ill-health retirements* (no.of lives) 103 46 (57) Positive

Salary increases** (p.a.) 3.7% 2.4% (1.3%) Positive

Post-retirement experience

Benefit increases (p.a.) 2.5% 1.2% (1.3%) Positive

Pensions ceasing (£m) 2.3 2.3 0 Nil

Page 66



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

13 

 

 

out in the Funding Strategy Statement and have been communicated to employers.  More information about the 

methodology used to calculate the contribution rates is set out in Appendix C. 

The employer contributions payable from 1 April 2017 are given in Appendix H, and these have been devised in 

line with the Funding Strategy Statement: see section 6. 

The table below summarises the Whole Fund Primary and Secondary Contribution rates at this valuation.  These 

rates are the payroll weighted average of the underlying individual employer primary and secondary rates, 

calculated in accordance with the Regulations and CIPFA guidance.    

 
The rates above include an allowance for administration expenses of 0.8% of pay. 

The table below shows the Fund “Common Contribution rate’ as at 31 March 2013 for information purposes. 

The change in regulatory regime and guidance on contribution rates means that a direct comparison to the 

Whole Fund rate at 2016 is not appropriate. 

  

Primary rate (%)
1 April 2017 - 31 March 2020 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

TBC TBC TBC TBC

Secondary Rate (£)

31 March 2013
Contribution Rates (% of pay)
Employer future service rate (incl. expenses) 20.1%
Past Service Adjustment 17.5%
Total employer contribution rate (incl. expenses) 37.6%
Employee contribution rate 6.3%
Expenses 0.7%

Page 67



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

14 

 

 

5 Risk Assessment 
The valuation results depend critically on the actuarial assumptions that are made about the future of the Fund.  If 

all of the assumptions made at this valuation were exactly borne out in practice then the results presented in this 

document would represent the true cost of the Fund as it currently stands at 31 March 2016.  

However, no one can predict the future with certainty and it is unlikely that future experience will exactly match the 

assumptions.  The future therefore presents a variety of risks to the Fund and these should be considered as part of 

the valuation process. In particular: 

 The main risks to the financial health of the Fund should be identified; 

 Where possible, the financial significance of these risks should be quantified; 

 Consideration should be given as to how these risks can then be controlled or mitigated; and  

 These risks should then be monitored to assess whether any mitigation is actually working. 

This section investigates the potential implications of the actuarial assumptions not being borne out in practice. 

Sensitivity of past service funding position results to changes in assumptions 

The table below gives an indication of the sensitivity of the funding position to changes in two of the main financial 

assumptions used: 

 
The valuation results are also very sensitive to unexpected changes in future longevity.  All else being equal, if 

longevity improves in the future at a faster pace than allowed for in the valuation assumptions, the funding level will 

decline and the required employer contribution rates will increase.  

Recent medical advances, changes in lifestyle and a greater awareness of health-related matters have resulted in 

life expectancy amongst pension fund members improving in recent years at a faster pace than was originally 

foreseen.  It is unknown whether and to what extent such improvements will continue in the future.  

For the purposes of this valuation, we have selected assumptions that we believe make an appropriate allowance 

for future improvements in longevity, based on the actual experience of the Fund since the previous valuation. 

 

 
  

2.5% 2.1% 1.7%
1,032 975 922 Liabilities (£m)
573 573 573 Assets (£m)
(459) (403) (349) (Deficit) (£m)
55% 59% 62% Funding Level
907 857 810 Liabilities (£m)
573 573 573 Assets (£m)
(334) (284) (238) (Deficit) (£m)
63% 67% 71% Funding Level
799 755 714 Liabilities (£m)
573 573 573 Assets (£m)
(226) (182) (141) (Deficit) (£m)
72% 76% 80% Funding Level

Benefit Increases & CARE Revaluation

D
is

co
u

n
t 

R
at

es

3.2%

4.0%

4.8%

Page 68



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

15 

 

 

The table below shows how the valuation results at 31 March 2016 are affected by adopting different longevity 

assumptions.  

 
The “further improvements” are a more cautious set of improvements that, in the short term, assume the ‘cohort 

effect’ of strong improvements in life expectancy currently being observed amongst a generation born around the 

early and mid 1930s will continue to strengthen for a few more years before tailing off. This is known as “non-

peaked”. 

This is not an exhaustive list of the assumptions used in the valuation. For example, changes to the assumed level 

of withdrawals and ill health retirements will also have an effect on the valuation results. 

Note that the tables show the effect of changes to each assumption in isolation.  In reality, it is perfectly possible for 

the experience of the Fund to deviate from more than one of our assumptions simultaneously and so the precise 

effect on the funding position is therefore more complex. Furthermore, the range of assumptions shown here is by 

no means exhaustive and should not be considered as the limits of how extreme experience could actually be. 

Sensitivity of contribution rates to changes in assumptions 

The employer contribution rates are dependent on a number of factors including the membership profile, current 

financial conditions, the outlook for future financial conditions, and demographic trends such as longevity.  Changes 

in each of these factors can have a material impact on the contribution rates (both primary and secondary 

rates).  We have not sought to quantify the impact of differences in the assumptions because of the complex 

interactions between them. 

Investment risk 

The Fund holds some of its assets in return seeking assets such as equities to help reduce employers’ costs.  

However, these types of investments can result in high levels of asset volatility.  Therefore, there is a risk that future 

investment returns are below expectations and the funding target is not met.  This will require additional 

contributions from employers to fund any deficit. 

Whilst the Fund takes steps to ensure that the level of investment risk is managed and monitored via strategy 

reviews and performance monitoring, it can never be fully mitigated. 

Regulatory risk 

One further risk to consider is the possibility of future changes to Regulations that could materially affect the 

benefits that members become entitled to.  It is difficult to predict the nature of any such changes but it is not 

inconceivable that they could affect, not just the cost of benefits earned after the change, but could also have a 

retrospective effect on the past service position. 

Managing the risks 

Whilst there are certain things, such as the performance of investment markets or the life expectancy of members, 

that are not directly within the control of the Fund, that does not mean that nothing can be done to understand them 

further and to mitigate their effect.  Although these risks are difficult (or impossible) to eliminate, steps can be taken 

to manage them.  
  

Peaked Non-peaked
improvements improvements

(£m) (£m)
Liabilities 857 878 

Assets 573 573 
(Deficit) (284) (305)

Funding Level 67% 65%

Page 69



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

16 

 

 

Ways in which some of these risks can be managed could be: 

 Set aside a specific reserve to act as a cushion against adverse future experience (possibly by selecting a 

set of actuarial assumptions that are deliberately more prudent). 

 Take steps internally to monitor the decisions taken by members (e.g. 50:50 scheme take-up, commutation) 

and employers (e.g. relating to early / ill health retirements or salary increases) in a bid to curtail any adverse 

impact on the Fund. 

 Pooling certain employers together at the valuation and then setting a single (pooled) contribution rate that 

they will all pay.  This can help to stabilise contribution rates (at the expense of cross-subsidy between the 

employers in the pool during the period between valuations). 

 Carrying out a review of the future security of the Fund’s employers (i.e. assessing the strength of employer 

covenants) and ultimately their ability to continue to pay contributions or make good future funding deficits. 

 Carry out a bespoke analysis of the longevity of Fund members and monitor how this changes over time, so 

that the longevity assumptions at the valuation provide as close a fit as possible to the particular experience 

of the Fund.   

 Undertake an asset-liability modelling exercise that investigates the effect on the Fund of possible investment 

scenarios that may arise in the future.  An assessment can then be made as to whether long term, secure 

employers in the Fund can stabilise their future contribution rates (thus introducing more certainty into their 

future budgets) without jeopardising the long-term health of the Fund. 

 Purchasing ill health liability insurance to mitigate the risk of an ill health retirement impacting on solvency 

and funding level of an individual employer where appropriate. 

 Monitoring different employer characteristics in order to build up a picture of the risks posed. Examples 

include membership movements, cash flow positions and employer events such as cessations. 

 Regularly reviewing the Fund’s membership data to ensure it is complete, up to date and accurate. 

  

Page 70



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

17 

 

 

6 Related issues 
The Fund’s valuation operates within a broader framework, and this document should therefore be considered 

alongside the following: 

 the Funding Strategy Statement, which in particular highlights how different types of employer in different 

circumstances have their contributions calculated; 

 the Investment Strategy Statement, which sets out how the Fund invests the assets;  

 the general governance of the Fund, such as meetings of the Pensions Committee,  decisions delegated to 

officers, the Fund’s business plan, etc; 

 the Fund’s risk register; and 

 the information the Fund holds about participating employers. 

Further recommendations 

Valuation frequency 

Under the provisions of the LGPS regulations, the next formal valuation of the Fund is due to be carried out as at 31 

March 2019.  In light of the uncertainty of future financial conditions, we recommend that the financial position of the 

Fund (and for individual employers in some cases) is monitored by means of interim funding reviews in the period 

up to this next formal valuation.  This will give early warning of changes to funding positions and possible revisions 

to funding plans.   

Investment strategy and risk management 

We recommend that the Administering Authority continues to regularly review its investment strategy and ongoing 

risk management programme. 

New employers joining the Fund 

Any new employers or admission bodies joining the Fund should be referred to the Fund Actuary for individual 

calculation as to the required level of contribution. Depending on the number of transferring members the ceding 

employer’s rate may also need to be reviewed. 

Additional payments 

Employers may make voluntary additional contributions to recover any funding shortfall over a shorter period, 

subject to agreement with the Administering Authority and after receiving the relevant actuarial advice. 

Further sums should be paid to the Fund by employers to meet the capital costs of any unreduced early 

retirements, reduced early retirements before age 60 and/or augmentation (i.e. additional membership or additional 

pension) using the methods and factors issued by me from time to time or as otherwise agreed. 

In addition, payments may be required to be made to the Fund by employers to meet the capital costs of any ill-

health retirements that exceed those allowed for within our assumptions.  

Cessations and bulk transfers 

Any employer who ceases to participate in the Fund should be referred to us in accordance with Regulation 64 of 

the Regulations.   

Please notify us if there is any bulk movement of scheme members: 

 involving 10 or more scheme members being transferred from or to another LGPS fund, or 

 involving 2 or more scheme members being transferred from or to a non-LGPS pension arrangement. 
  

Page 71



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

18 

 

 

7 Reliances and limitations 
Scope 

This document has been requested by and is provided to the London Borough of Havering in its capacity as 

Administering Authority to the London Borough of Havering Pension Fund.  It has been prepared by Hymans 

Robertson LLP to fulfil the statutory obligations in accordance with regulation 62 of the Regulations.  None of the 

figures should be used for accounting purposes (e.g. under FRS102 or IAS19) or for any other purpose (e.g. a 

termination valuation under Regulation 64). 

This document should not be released or otherwise disclosed to any third party without our prior written consent, in 

which case it should be released in its entirety.  Hymans Robertson LLP accepts no liability to any other party 

unless we have expressly accepted such liability in writing. 

The results of the valuation are dependent on the quality of the data provided to us by the Administering Authority 

for the specific purpose of this valuation.  We have previously issued a separate report confirming that the data 

provided is fit for the purposes of this valuation including comments on the quality of the data provided. However, if 

any material issues with the data provided are identified at a later date, then the results stated in this report may 

change. 

Actuarial Standards 

The following Technical Actuarial Standards1 are applicable in relation to this report and have been complied with 

where material: 

 TAS R – Reporting;  

 TAS D – Data; 

 TAS M – Modelling; and 

 Pensions TAS. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Steven Law       Barry McKay      

Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries   Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries   

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP   For and behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP  

3 March 2017       3 March 2017    

                                                      
1 Technical Actuarial Standards (TASs) are issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) and set standards for certain items of actuarial 
work, including the information and advice contained in this report. 

Page 72



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

19 

 

 

Appendix A: About the pension fund 
The purpose of the Fund is to provide retirement and death benefits to its members.  It is part of the Local 

Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and is a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme. 

Defined benefit pension scheme 

In a defined benefit scheme such as this, the nature of retirement benefits that members are entitled to is known in 

advance.  For example, it is known that members will receive a pension on retirement that is linked to their salary 

(final salary and/or career average) and pensionable service (for service before 1 April 2014) according to a pre-

determined formula.  

However, the precise cost to the Fund of providing these benefits is not known in advance.  The estimated cost of 

these benefits represents a liability to the Fund and assets must be set aside to meet this.  The relationship 

between the value of the liabilities and the value of the assets must be regularly assessed and monitored to ensure 

that the Fund can fulfil its core objective of providing its members with the retirement benefits that they have been 

promised. 

Liabilities 

The Fund’s liabilities are the benefits that will be paid in the future to its members (and their dependants).  

The precise timing and amount of these benefit payments will depend on future experience, such as when 

members will retire, how long they will live for in retirement and what economic conditions will be like both before 

and after retirement.  Because these factors are not known in advance, assumptions must be made about future 

experience.  The valuation of these liabilities must be regularly updated to reflect the degree to which actual 

experience has been in line with these assumptions.  

Assets 

The Fund’s assets arise from the contributions paid by its members and their employers and the investment returns 

that they generate.  The way these assets are invested is of fundamental importance to the Fund.  The selection, 

monitoring and evolution of the Fund’s investment strategy are key responsibilities of the Administering Authority.  

As the estimated cost of the Fund’s liabilities is regularly re-assessed, this effectively means that the amount of 

assets required to meet them is a moving target. As a result, at any given time the Fund may be technically in 

surplus or in deficit.  

A contribution strategy must be put in place which ensures that each of the Fund’s employers pays money into the 

Fund at a rate which will target the cost of its share of the liabilities in respect of benefits already earned by 

members and those that will be earned in the future. 

The long-term nature of the Fund 

The pension fund is a long-term commitment.  Even if it were to stop admitting new members today, it would still be 

paying out benefits to existing members and dependants for many decades to come.  It is therefore essential that 

the various funding and investment decisions that are taken now recognise this and come together to form a 

coherent long-term strategy. 

In order to assist with these decisions, the Regulations require the Administering Authority to obtain a formal 

valuation of the Fund every three years.  Along with the Funding Strategy Statement, this valuation will help 

determine the funding objectives that will apply from 1 April 2017. 

  

Page 73



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

20 

 

 

Appendix B: Summary of the Fund’s benefits 
Provided below is a brief summary of the non-discretionary benefits that we have taken into account for active 

members at this valuation.  This should not be taken as a comprehensive statement of the exact benefits to be paid. 

For further details please see the Regulations.  

 

Provision Benefit Structure To 
31 March 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 
April 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 April 2014 

Normal 
retirement 
age (NRA) 

Age 65. 

 

Age 65. 

 

Equal to the individual member’s State 

Pension Age (minimum 65). 

Earliest 
retirement 
age (ERA) on 
which 
immediate 
unreduced 
benefits can 
be paid on 
voluntary 
retirement 

As per NRA (age 65). 

Protections apply to active members in the scheme 
immediately prior to 1 October 2006 who would have 
been entitled to immediate payment of unreduced 
benefits prior to 65, due to: 

The benefits relating to various segments of scheme 
membership are protected as set out in Schedule 2 to 
the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional 
Provisions) Regulations 2008 and associated GAD 
guidance.    

 

As per NRA (minimum age 65). 

Protections apply to active members in 
the scheme for pensions earned up to 1 
April 2014, due to: 

a) Accrued benefits relating to pre April 
2014 service at age 65. 

b) Continued ‘Rule of 85’ protection for 
qualifying members. 

c) Members within 10 yrs of existing 
NRA at 1/4/12 – no change to when they 
can retire and no decrease in pension 
they receive at existing NRA. 

Member 
contributions 

Officers - 6% of 
pensionable pay 

Manual Workers – 5% 
of pensionable pay if 
has protected lower 
rates rights or 6% for 
post 31 March 1998 
entrants or former 
entrants with no 
protected rights. 

Banded rates (5.5%-7.5%) 
depending upon level of full-
time equivalent pay.  A 
mechanism for sharing any 
increased scheme costs 
between employers and 
scheme members is 
included in the LGPS 
regulations. 

Banded rates (5.5%-12.5%) depending 
upon level of actual pay.   

Pensionable 
pay 

All salary, wages, fees and other payments in respect 
of the employment, excluding non-contractual 
overtime and some other specified amounts. 

Some scheme members may be covered by special 
agreements. 

Pay including non-contractual overtime 
and additional hours. 

Final pay The pensionable pay in the year up to the date of 
leaving the scheme.  Alternative methods used in 
some cases, e.g. where there has been a break in 
service or a drop in pensionable pay. 

Will be required for the statutory underpin and in 
respect of the final salary link that may apply in 
respect of certain members of the CARE scheme who 
have pre April 2014 accrual. 

N/A 

Page 74



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

21 

 

 

Provision Benefit Structure To 
31 March 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 
April 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 April 2014 

Period of 
scheme 
membership 

Total years and days of service during which a 
member contributes to the Fund.  (e.g. transfers from 
other pension arrangements, augmentation, or from 
April 2008 the award of additional pension).  For part 
time members, the membership is proportionate with 
regard to their contractual hours and a full time 
equivalent). Additional periods may be granted 
dependent on member circumstances. 

N/A 

Normal 
retirement 
benefits at 
NRA 

Annual Retirement 
Pension - 1/80th of 
final pay for each year 
of scheme 
membership. 

Lump Sum 
Retirement Grant - 
3/80th of final pay for 
each year of scheme 
membership.  

 

 

Scheme membership from 1 
April 2008: 

Annual Retirement Pension - 
1/60th of final pay for each 
year of scheme 
membership. 

Lump Sum Retirement Grant 
– none except by 
commutation of pension. 

Scheme membership from 1 April 2014: 

Annual Retirement Pension - 1/49th of 
pensionable  pay (or assumed 
pensionable pay) for each year of 
scheme membership revalued to NRA in 
line with CPI.  

Lump Sum Retirement Grant - none 
except by commutation of pension. 

 

 

Option to 
increase 
retirement 
lump sum 
benefit 

In addition to the 
standard retirement 
grant any lump sum is 
to be provided by 
commutation of 
pension (within 
overriding HMRC 
limits).  The terms for 
the conversion of 
pension in to lump 
sum is £12 of lump 
sum for every £1 of 
annual pension 
surrendered.  

  

No automatic lump sum. Any 
lump sum is to be provided 
by commutation of pension 
(within overriding HMRC 
limits).  The terms for the 
conversion of pension in to 
lump sum is £12 of lump 
sum for every £1 of annual 
pension surrendered. 

No automatic lump sum. Any lump sum 
is to be provided by commutation of 
pension (within overriding HMRC limits).  
The terms for the conversion of pension 
in to lump sum is £12 of lump sum for 
every £1 of annual pension surrendered. 

Voluntary 
early 
retirement 
benefits (non 
ill-health) 

On retirement after age 60, subject to reduction on 
account of early payment in some circumstances (in 
accordance with ERA protections). 

On retirement after age 55, subject to 
reduction on account of early payment in 
some circumstances (in accordance with 
ERA protections). 

Employer’s 
consent early 
retirement 
benefits (non 
ill-health) 

On retirement after age 55 with employer’s consent. 

Benefits paid on redundancy or efficiency grounds are 
paid with no actuarial reduction. 

Otherwise, benefits are subject to reduction on 
account of early payment, unless this is waived by the 
employer. 

Benefits paid on redundancy or 
efficiency grounds are paid with no 
actuarial reduction. 

Employer’s consent is no longer required 
for a member to retire from age 55. 
However, benefits are subject to 
reduction on account of early payment, 
unless this is waived by the employer. 

Page 75



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

22 

 

 

Provision Benefit Structure To 
31 March 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 
April 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 April 2014 

Ill-health 
benefits 

As a result of 

permanent ill-health or 

incapacity. 

Immediate payment of 

unreduced benefits. 

Enhancement to 

scheme membership, 

dependent on actual 

membership.  

Enhancement seldom 

more than 6 years 

243 days.   

 

As a result of permanent ill-

health or incapacity and a 

reduced likelihood of 

obtaining gainful 

employment (local 

government or otherwise) 

before age 65. 

Immediate payment of 

unreduced benefits. 

Enhanced to scheme 

membership, dependent on 

severity of ill health.   

100% of prospective 

membership to age 65 

where no likelihood of 

undertaking any gainful 

employment prior to age 65; 

25% of prospective 

membership to age 65 

where likelihood of obtaining 

gainful employment after 3 

years of leaving, but before 

age 65; or 

0% of prospective 

membership where there is 

a likelihood of undertaking 

gainful employment within 3 

years of leaving employment 

As a result of permanent ill-health or 

incapacity and a reduced likelihood of 

obtaining gainful employment (local 

government or otherwise) before NRA. 

Immediate payment of unreduced 

benefits. 

Enhanced to scheme membership, 

dependent on severity of ill health.   

100% of prospective membership to age 

NRA where no likelihood of undertaking 

any gainful employment prior to age 

NRA; 

25% of prospective membership to age 

NRA where likelihood of obtaining 

gainful employment after 3 years of 

leaving, but before age NRA; or 

0% of prospective membership where 
there is a likelihood of undertaking 
gainful employment within 3 years of 
leaving employment 

Page 76



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

23 

 

 

Provision Benefit Structure To 
31 March 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 
April 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 April 2014 

Flexible 
retirement 

After 5th April 2006, a 
member who has 
attained the age of 50, 
with his employer's 
consent, reduces the 
hours he works, or the 
grade in which he is 
employed, may elect 
in writing to the 
appropriate 
Administering 
Authority that such 
benefits may, with his 
employer's consent, 
be paid to him 
notwithstanding that 
he has not retired 
from that employment. 

Benefits are paid 
immediately and 
subject to actuarial 
reduction unless the 
reduction is waived by 
the employer. 

A member who has attained the age of 55 and who, with his employer's 
consent, reduces the hours he works, or the grade in which he is 
employed, may make a request in writing to the appropriate 
Administering Authority to receive all or part of his benefits,  

Benefits are paid immediately and subject to actuarial reduction unless 
the reduction is waived by the employer. 

Pension 
increases 

All pensions in payment, deferred pensions and dependant’s pensions other than benefits arising 
from the payment of additional voluntary contributions are increased annually.  Pensions are 
increased partially under the Pensions (Increases) Act and partially in accordance with statutory 
requirements (depending on the proportions relating to pre 88 GMP, post 88 GMP and excess 
over GMP). 

Death after 
retirement  

A spouse’s or civil 
partner’s pension of 
one half of the 
member's pension 
(generally post 1 April 
1972 service for 
widowers’ pension 
and post 6 April 1988 
for civil partners) is 
payable; plus   

If the member dies 
within five years of 
retiring and before 
age 75 the balance of 
five years' pension 
payments will be paid 
in the form of a lump 
sum; plus 

Children’s pensions 
may also be payable. 

 

A spouse’s, civil partner’s or nominated cohabiting partner’s pension 
payable at a rate of 1/160th of the member's total membership multiplied 
by final pay (generally post 1 April 1972 service for widowers’ pension 
and post 6 April 1988 for civil partners and nominated cohabiting 
partners) is payable; plus   

If the member dies within ten years of retiring and before age 75 the 
balance of ten years' pension payments will be paid in the form of a 
lump sum; plus 

Children’s pensions may also be payable. 

Page 77



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

24 

 

 

Provision Benefit Structure To 
31 March 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 
April 2008 

Benefit Structure From 1 April 2014 

Death in 
service 

A lump sum of two 
times final pay;  plus  

A spouse's or civil 
partner’s pension of 
one half of the ill-
health retirement 
pension that would 
have been paid to the 
scheme member if he 
had retired on the day 
of death (generally 
post 1 April 1972 
service for widowers’ 
pension and post 6 
April 1988 for civil 
partners); plus 

Children’s pensions 
may also be payable. 

 

A lump sum of three times final pay; plus 

A spouse’s, civil partner’s or cohabiting partner’s pension payable at a 
rate of 1/160th of the member's total (augmented to age 65) 
membership  (generally post 1 April 1972 service for widowers’ pension 
and post 6 April 1988 for civil partners and nominated cohabiting 
partners), multiplied by final pay; plus 

Children’s pensions may also be payable. 

Leaving 
service 
options  

If the member has completed three months’ or more 
scheme membership, deferred benefits with 
calculation and payment conditions similar to general 
retirement provisions;  or 

A transfer payment to either a new employer's 
scheme or a suitable insurance policy, equivalent in 
value to the deferred pension; or 

If the member has completed less than three months' 
scheme membership, a return of the member's 
contributions with interest, less a State Scheme 
premium deduction and less tax at the rate of 20%. 

If the member has completed two years 

or more scheme membership, deferred 

benefits with calculation and payment 

conditions similar to general retirement 

provisions;  or 

A transfer payment to either a new 

employer's scheme or a suitable 

insurance policy, equivalent in value to 

the deferred pension; or 

If the member has completed less than 
two years scheme membership, a return 
of the member's contributions with 
interest, less a State Scheme premium 
deduction and less tax at the rate of 
20%. 

State pension 
scheme  

From 6th of April 2016, the Fund will no longer be contracted out of the State Second Pension. 
Until that date, the benefits payable to each member were guaranteed to be not less than those 
required to enable the Fund to be contracted-out. 

Assumed 
pensionable 
pay 

N/A This applies in cases of reduced 
contractual pay (CPP) resulting from 
sickness, child related and reserve 
forces absence, whereby the amount 
added to the CPP is the assumed 
pensionable pay rather than the reduced 
rate of pay actually received. 

50/50 option N/A Optional arrangement allowing 50% of 
main benefits to be accrued on a 50% 
employee contribution rate. 

 

Note: Certain categories of members of the Fund are entitled to benefits that differ from those summarised above. 

Page 78



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

25 

 

 

Discretionary benefits 

The LGPS Regulations give employers a number of discretionary powers.  The effect on benefits or contributions as 

a result of the use of these provisions as currently contained within the Local Government Pension Scheme 

Regulations has been allowed for in this valuation to the extent that this is reflected in the membership data 

provided.  No allowance has been made for the future use of discretionary powers that will be contained within the 

scheme from 1 April 2017.   

Page 79



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

26 

 

 

Appendix C: Risk based approach to setting contribution rates 
At previous valuations we have calculated contribution rates using a single set of assumptions about future 

economic conditions (a ‘deterministic’ method).  By using this deterministic method, there is an implicit assumption 

that the future will follow expectations (i.e. the financial assumptions used in the calculation) and the employer will 

return to full funding via one ‘journey’.  This approach is summarised in the illustrative chart below. 

 

However, pension funding is uncertain as: 

 the Fund’s assets are invested in volatile financial markets and therefore they go up and down in value; and 

 the pension benefits are linked to inflation which again can go up and down in value over time. 

One single set of assumptions is very unlikely to actually match what happens, and therefore, the funding plan 

originally set out will not evolve in line with the single journey shown above.  The actual evolution of the funding 

position could be one of many different ‘journeys’, and a sample of these are given below. 

 

The inherent uncertainty in pension funding creates a risk that a funding plan will not be a success i.e. the funding 

target will not be reached over the agreed time period. 

Page 80



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

27 

 

 

This risk can never be fully mitigated whilst invested in volatile assets and providing inflation linked benefits, 

however the main disadvantage of the traditional deterministic method is that it does not allow the Fund, employer, 

regulators or actuary to assess and understand the risk associated with the proposed funding plan and the 

likelihood of its success, or otherwise. 

Risk Based Approach 

At this valuation, we have adopted a ‘risk based’ approach when setting contribution rates.  This approach 

considers thousands of simulations (or ‘journeys’) to be projected of how each employer’s assets and liabilities may 

evolve over the future until we have a distribution of funding outcomes (ratio of assets to liabilities).  Each simulation 

represents a different possible journey of how the assets and liabilities could evolve and they will vary due to 

assumptions about investment returns, inflation and other financial factors.  Further technical detail about the 

methodology underlying these projections is set out in Appendix F. 

Once we have a sufficient number of outcomes to form a statistically credible distribution (we use 5,000 outcomes), 

we can examine what level of contribution rate gives an appropriate likelihood of meeting an employer’s funding 

target (usually a 100% funding level) within the agreed timeframe (‘time horizon’) (i.e. a sufficient number of 

successful outcomes).  The picture below shows a sample distribution of outcomes for an employer. 

 
Having this ‘funnel’ of outcomes allows the Fund to understand the likelihood of the actual outcome being higher or 

lower than a certain level.  For example, there is 2/3rds chance the funding level will be somewhere within the light 

shaded area, and there is a 1 in 100 chance that the funding level will be outside the funnel altogether.  Using this 

‘probability distribution’, we then set a contribution rate that leads to a certain amount of funding outcomes being 

successful (e.g. 2/3rds). 

Further detail on the likelihoods used in employer’s funding plans is set out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy 

Statement. 

  

  Successful 
outcomes 

  Unsuccessful 
outcomes 

Page 81



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

28 

 

 

Appendix D: Data 
This section contains a summary of the membership, investment and accounting data provided by the Administering 

Authority for the purposes of this valuation (the corresponding membership and investment data from the previous 

valuation is also shown for reference).  For further details of the data, and the checks and amendments performed 

in the course of this valuation, please refer to our separate data report.  

Membership data – whole fund 

Employee members 

 
*actual pay (not full-time equivalent) 

 

Deferred pensioners 

 
The figures above also include any “frozen refunds” and “undecided leavers” members at the valuation date. 

 

Current pensioners, spouses and children 

 
Note that the membership numbers in the table above refer to the number of records provided to us and so will 

include an element of double-counting in respect of any members who are in receipt (or potentially in receipt of) 

more than one benefit. 

 

The average ages are weighted by liability. 

The expected future working lifetime (FWL) indicates the anticipated length of time that the average employee 

member will remain as a contributor to the Fund.  Note that it allows for the possibility of members leaving, retiring 

early or dying before retirement.   

 

 
 

Number Pensionable Pay* Number Pensionable Pay* CARE Pot
(£000) (£000) (£000)

Total employee membership 6,000 95,701 6,358 106,518 3,863

31 March 2013 31 March 2016

Number Deferred pension Number Deferred pension
(£000) (£000)

Total deferred membership 4,735 6,487 6,212 8,743

31 March 2013 31 March 2016

Number Pension Number Pension
(£000) (£000)

Members 4,570 23,133 4,995 25,631
Dependants 811 2,242 834 3,136
Children 37 72 43 61
Total pensioner members 5,418 25,447 5,872 28,828

31 March 2013 31 March 2016

Membership Profile
2013 2016 2013 2016

Employees (CARE) - 50.2
Employees (Final Salary) 52.5 53.2
Deferred Pensioners 51.1 51.5 - -
Pensioners 68.1 69.1 - -

Average Age (years) FWL (years)

7.1 8.8

Page 82



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

29 

 

 

Assets at 31 March 2016 

A summary of the Fund’s assets provided by the Administering Authority (excluding members’ money-purchase 

Additional Voluntary Contributions) as at 31 March 20163 and 31 March 20136 is as follows: 

 

Accounting data – revenue account for the three years to 31 March 2016 

 
Note that the figures above are based on the Fund accounts provided to us for the purposes of this valuation, which 

were fully audited at the time of our valuation calculations.  

Asset class 31 March 2013 (Market Value) Allocation 31 March 2016 (Market Value) Allocation
(£000) % (£000) %

UK equities 215 47% 359 63%
UK fixed interest gilts 8 2% 12 2%
UK corporate bonds 56 12% 63 11%
UK index-linked gilts 41 9% 52 9%
Overseas equities 94 20% 19 3%
Overseas bonds 14 3% 13 2%
Property 22 5% 33 6%
Cash and net current assets 11 2% 21 4%
Total 461 100% 573 100%

Consolidated accounts (£000)
31 March 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2016 Total

Income
Employer - normal contributions 16,294 18,173 18,533 53,000
Employer - additional contributions 21,590 10,056 15,117 46,763
Employer - early retirement and augmentation strain contributions 590 536 396 1,522
Employee - normal contributions 6,457 6,876 6,965 20,298
Employee - additional contributions 76 63 54 193
Transfers In Received (including group and individual) 2,258 1,573 1,390 5,221
Other Income 0 0 0 0
Total Income 47,265 37,277 42,455 126,997

Expenditure
Gross Retirement Pensions 26,070 27,401 28,190 81,661
Lump Sum Retirement Benefits 5,875 5,676 6,171 17,722
Death in Service Lump sum 442 422 612 1,476
Death in Deferment Lump Sum 0 0 0 0
Death in Retirement Lump Sum 0 0 0 0
Gross Refund of Contributions 2 68 76 146
Transfers out (including bulk and individual) 1,127 1,438 1,906 4,471
Fees and Expenses 1,009 716 867 2,592
Total Expenditure 34,525 35,721 37,822 108,068

Net Cashflow 12,740 1,556 4,633 18,929

Assets at start of year 460,575 506,019 574,669 460,575
Net cashflow 12,740 1,556 4,633 18,929

Change in value 32,704 67,094 -6,361 93,437
Assets at end of year 506,019 574,669 572,941 572,941

Year to

Page 83



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

30 

 

 

Appendix E: Assumptions 
Financial assumptions 

 
*An allowance is also made for promotional pay increases (see table below). 

Mortality assumptions 

 
 

As a member of Club Vita, the baseline longevity assumptions that have been adopted at this valuation are a 

bespoke set of VitaCurves that are specifically tailored to fit the membership profile of the Fund.  These curves are 

based on the data the Fund has provided us with for the purposes of this valuation. Full details of these are 

available on request. 

We have used a longevity improvement assumption based on the industry standard projection model calibrated with 

information from our longevity experts in Club Vita. The starting point for the improvements has been based on 

observed death rates in the Club Vita data bank over the period up to 2012. 

We have used the 2013 version of the Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI) longevity improvements model, 

instead of the more recent 2015 version, as we do not believe the increased mortality experience factored into the 

Financial assumptions 31 March 2013 31 March 2016
(% p.a.) (% p.a.)

Discount rate 4.8% 4.0%
Price inflation (RPI) 3.3% 3.2%
Pay increases* 3.3% 2.4%
Pension increases:

pension in excess of GMP 2.5% 2.1%
post-88 GMP 2.5% 2.1%

pre-88 GMP 0.0% 0.0%
Revaluation of deferred pension 2.5% 2.1%
Revaluation of accrued CARE pension 2.5% 2.1%
Expenses 0.7% 0.8%

Longevity assumptions 31 March 2016
Longevity - baseline

CMI Model version used
Longevity - improvements

CMI calibration based on data from Club Vita using the latest available data 
as at January 2014.

Long term rate of improvement

Vita Lite

CMI_2013
Starting rates

50%

Period of convergence Period effects:

CMI model core values i.e. 10 years for ages 50 and below and 5 years for 
those aged 95 and above, with linear transition to 20 years for those aged 
between 60 and 80.

Cohort effects:  

CMI core i.e. 40 years for those born in 1950 or later declining linearly to 5 
years for those born in 1915 or earlier.

Proportion of convergence remaining 
at mid point

Period effects:
1.25% p.a. for men and women.
Cohort effects:  
0% p.a. for men and for women.

Page 84



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

31 

 

 

2015 model is the start of a new trend.  We believe it is more appropriate to use the 2013 version of the model for 

the 2016 valuation. 

In the short term we have assumed that the improvements in life expectancy observed up to 2010 will start to tail off 

immediately, resulting in life expectancy increasing less rapidly than has been seen over the last decade or two. 

This could be described as assuming that improvements have ‘peaked’. 

In the longer term we have assumed that increases in life expectancy will stabilise at a rate of increase of 0.9 years 

per decade for men and women.  This is equivalent to assuming that longer term mortality rates will fall at a rate of 

1.25% p.a. for men and women. 

However, we have assumed that above age 90 improvements in mortality are hard to achieve, and so the long term 

rate of improvement declines between ages 90 and 120 so that no improvements are seen at ages 120 and over.  

The initial rate of mortality is assumed to decline steadily above age 98. 

Other demographic valuation assumptions 

Retirements in normal health We have adopted the retirement age pattern assumption as 

specified by the Scheme Advisory Board for preparing Key 

Performance Indicators.  Further details about this assumption 

are available on request. 

 

Retirements in ill health Allowance has been made for ill-health retirements before 

Normal Pension Age (see table below). 

  

Withdrawals  Allowance has been made for withdrawals from service (see 

table below). 

  

Family details  A varying proportion of members are assumed to be married (or 

have an adult dependant) at retirement or on earlier death.  For 

example, at age 60 this is assumed to be 90% for males and 

85% for females. Husbands are assumed to be 3 years older 

than wives. 

  

Commutation 50% of future retirements elect to exchange pension for 

additional tax free cash up to HMRC limits for service to 1 April 

2008 (equivalent to 75% for service from 1 April 2008). 

  

50:50 option 5.0% of members (uniformly distributed across the age, service 

and salary range) will choose the 50:50 option. 

 

 

The tables below show details of the assumptions actually used for specimen ages.  The promotional pay scale is 

an annual average for all employees at each age.  It is in addition to the allowance for general pay inflation 

Page 85



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

32 

 

 

described above.  For membership movements, the percentages represent the probability that an individual at each 

age leaves service within the following twelve months. The abbreviations FT and PT refer to full-time and part-time 

respectively. 

Males 

 

Please note that the withdrawal figures include tier 3 ill health. 

Females 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Death Before 
Retirement

FT & PT FT PT FT PT FT PT
20 105 0.21 219.73 439.47 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
25 117 0.21 145.14 290.28 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30 131 0.26 102.98 205.93 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
35 144 0.30 80.46 160.88 0.12 0.09 0.10 0.07
40 150 0.51 64.78 129.48 0.20 0.15 0.16 0.12
45 157 0.85 60.85 121.60 0.44 0.33 0.35 0.27
50 162 1.36 50.16 100.12 1.13 0.85 1.14 0.85
55 162 2.13 39.50 78.88 4.42 3.32 2.56 1.92
60 162 3.83 35.20 70.28 7.78 5.84 2.20 1.65
65 162 6.38 0.00 0.00 14.78 11.09 0.00 0.00

Age
Salary 
Scale

Incidence per 1000 active members per annum

Withdrawals
Ill Health 

Tier 1
Ill Health 

Tier 2

Page 86



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

33 

 

 

Appendix F: Technical appendix for contribution rate modelling  
This appendix is provided for readers seeking to understand the technical methodology used in assessing the 

employer contribution rates. 

In order to assess the likelihood of the employer’s section of the Fund achieving full funding we have carried out 

stochastic asset liability modelling (ALM) that takes into account the main characteristics and features of each 

employer’s share of the Fund’s assets and liabilities. For stabilised employers a full ALM, known as comPASS has 

been used. For other employers a simplified ALM, known as TARGET has been used. Please refer to the Funding 

Strategy Statement to determine which method has been applied for each employer. 

The following sections provide more detail on the background to the modelling. 

Cash flows  

In projecting forward the evolution of each employer’s section of the Fund, we have used anticipated future benefit 

cashflows.  These cashflows have been generated using the membership data provided for the formal valuation as 

at 31 March 2016, the demographic and financial assumptions used for the valuation and make an allowance for 

future new joiners to the Fund (if any employer is open to new entrants). 

For comPASS we have estimated future service benefit cash flows and projected salary roll for new entrants (where 

appropriate) after the valuation date such that payroll remains constant in real terms (i.e. full replacement) unless 

otherwise stated.  There is a distribution of new entrants introduced at ages between 25 and 65, and the average 

age of the new entrants is assumed to be 40 years.  All new entrants are assumed to join and then leave service at 

SPA, which is a much simplified set of assumptions compared with the modelling of existing members. The base 

mortality table used for the new entrants is an average of mortality across the LGPS and is not specific to the Fund, 

which is another simplification compared to the modelling of existing members.  TARGET uses a similar but 

simplified approach to generating new entrants. Nonetheless, we believe that these assumptions are reasonable for 

the purposes of the modelling given the highly significant uncertainty associated with the level of new entrants. 

We do not allow for any variation in actual experience away from the demographic assumptions underlying the 

cashflows.  Variations in demographic assumptions (and experience relative to those assumptions) can result in 

significant changes to the funding level and contribution rates.  We allow for variations in inflation (RPI or CPI as 

appropriate), inflation expectations (RPI or CPI as appropriate), interest rates, yield curves and asset class 

returns.  Cashflows into and out of the Fund are projected forward in annual increments and are assumed to occur 

in the middle of each financial year (April to March).  Investment strategies are assumed to be rebalanced annually.   

Asset liability model (comPASS)  

These cashflows, and the employer’s assets, are projected forward using stochastic projections of asset returns and 

economic factors such as inflation and bond yields.  These projections are provided by the Economic Scenario 

Service (ESS), our (proprietary) stochastic asset model, which is discussed in more detail below.   

In the modelling we have assumed that the Fund will undergo valuations every three years and a contribution rate 

will be set that will come into force one year after the simulated valuation date.  For ‘stabilised’ contributions, the 

rate at which the contribution changes is capped and floored.  There is no guarantee that such capping or flooring 

will be appropriate in future; this assumption has been made so as to illustrate the likely impact of practical steps 

that may be taken to limit changes in contribution rates over time.  

Unless stated otherwise, we have assumed that all contributions are made and not varied throughout the period of 

projection irrespective of the funding position.  In practice the contributions are likely to vary especially if the funding 

level changes significantly.   

Page 87



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

34 

 

 

Investment strategy is also likely to change with significant changes in funding level, but we have not considered 

the impact of this. 

In allowing for the simulated economic scenarios, we have used suitable approximations for updating the projected 

cashflows.  The nature of the approximations is such that the major financial and investment risks can be broadly 

quantified.  However, a more detailed analysis would be required to understand fully the implications and 

appropriate implementation of a very low risk or ‘cash flow matched’ strategy.   

We would emphasise that the returns that could be achieved by investing in any of the asset classes will depend on 

the exact timing of any investment/disinvestment.  In addition, there will be costs associated with buying or selling 

these assets.  The model implicitly assumes that all returns are net of costs and that investment/disinvestment and 

rebalancing are achieved without market impact and without any attempt to 'time' entry or exit.   

Asset liability model (TARGET)  

TARGET uses a similar, but simplified, modelling approach to that used for comPASS.  

Contribution rates are inputs to the model and are assumed not to vary throughout the period of projection, with no 

valuation every three years or setting of ’stabilised’ contribution rates. 

In allowing for the simulated economic scenarios, we have used more approximate methods for updating the 

projected cash flows.  The nature of the approximations is such that the major financial and investment risks can be 

broadly quantified.   

When projecting forward the assets, we have modelled a proxy for the Fund’s investment strategy by simplifying 

their current benchmark into growth (UK equity) and non-growth (index-linked gilts) allocations, and then adjusting 

the volatility of the resultant portfolio results to approximately reflect the diversification benefit of the Fund’s 

investment strategy. 

Economic Scenario Service 

The distributions of outcomes depend significantly on the Economic Scenario Service (ESS), our (proprietary) 

stochastic asset model.  This type of model is known as an economic scenario generator and uses probability 

distributions to project a range of possible outcomes for the future behaviour of asset returns and economic 

variables.  Some of the parameters of the model are dependent on the current state of financial markets and are 

updated each month (for example, the current level of equity market volatility) while other more subjective 

parameters do not change with different calibrations of the model.   

Key subjective assumptions are the average excess equity return over the risk free asset (tending to approximately 

3% p.a. as the investment horizon is increased), the volatility of equity returns (approximately 18% p.a. over the 

long term) and the level and volatility of yields, credit spreads, inflation and expected (breakeven) inflation, which 

affect the projected value placed on the liabilities and bond returns.  The market for CPI linked instruments is not 

well developed and our model for expected CPI in particular may be subject to additional model uncertainty as a 

consequence.  The output of the model is also affected by other more subtle effects, such as the correlations 

between economic and financial variables. 

Our expectation (i.e. the average outcome) is that long term real interest rates will gradually rise from their current 

low levels.  Higher long-term yields in the future will mean a lower value placed on liabilities and therefore our 

median projection will show, all other things being equal, an improvement in the current funding position (because 

of the mismatch between assets and liabilities).  The mean reversion in yields also affects expected bond returns. 

While the model allows for the possibility of scenarios that would be extreme by historical standards, including very 

significant downturns in equity markets, large systemic and structural dislocations are not captured by the 

model.  Such events are unknowable in effect, magnitude and nature, meaning that the most extreme possibilities 

are not necessarily captured within the distributions of results. 

Page 88



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

35 

 

 

Expected Rate of Returns and Volatilities 

The following figures have been calculated using 5,000 simulations of the Economic Scenario Service, calibrated 

using market data as at 31 March 2016.  All returns are shown net of fees.  Percentiles refer to percentiles of the 

5,000 simulations and are the annualised total returns over 5, 10 and 20 years, except for the yields which refer to 

the (simulated) yields in force at that time horizon. Only a subset of the asset classes are shown below. 

The calibration of the model at 31 March 2016 indicates that a period of outward yield movement is expected.  For 

example, over the next 20 years our model expects the 17 year maturity annualised real (nominal) interest rate to 

rise from -1.0% (2.2%) to 0.8% (4.0%). 

 

  

Page 89



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

36 

 

 

Appendix G: Events since valuation date 
Post-valuation events 

These valuation results are in effect a snapshot of the Fund as at 31 March 2016.  Since that date, various events 

have had an effect on the financial position of the Fund.  Whilst we have not explicitly altered the valuation results to 

allow for these events, a short discussion of these “post-valuation events” can still be beneficial in understanding 

the variability of pension funding. 

In the period from the valuation date to early March 2017, the Fund asset returns have been significantly better than 

expected.  However, global forward looking expectations for asset returns have fallen in light of events such as the 

Brexit vote.  Both events have roughly cancelled each other out in terms of the impact on the funding position.  

However, the day to day volatility is significant 

Overall, employer contributions continue to be subject to upwards pressure as a result of post-valuation events. 

It should be noted that the above is for information only: the figures in this report have all been prepared using 

membership data, audited asset information and market-based assumptions all as at 31 March 2016. In particular, 

we do not propose amending any of the contribution rates listed in the Rates & Adjustments Certificate on the basis 

of these market changes, and all employer contribution rates are based on valuation date market conditions. In 

addition, these rates are finalised within a risk-measured framework as laid out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy 

Statement (FSS).  We do not propose altering the FSS or valuation calculations to include allowance for post-

valuation date market changes since a long term view has been taken. 

Other events 

Other than investment conditions changes above, I am not aware of any material changes at whole fund level or 

events occurring since the valuation date.  

Page 90



 

 2016 Valuation – Valuation Report  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

37 

 

 

Appendix H: Rates and adjustments certificate 
In accordance with regulation 62(4) of the Regulations we have made an assessment of the contributions that 

should be paid into the Fund by participating employers for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 in order to 

maintain the solvency of the Fund. 

The method and assumptions used to calculate the contributions set out in the Rates and Adjustments certificate 

are detailed in the Funding Strategy Statement dated TBC and our report on the actuarial valuation dated TBC. 

The required minimum contribution rates are set out below. 

 
*The London Borough of Havering may ‘pre-pay’ their primary and/or secondary contribution rates annually or triennially in 

advance. Given the discounted nature our calculations, the London Borough of Havering Pool rate shown above would be 

eligible for a reduction where the ‘pre-payments’ were made in April.  

**Brookside Infants joined the fund on 1 April 2016 and have been included in the Drapers Multi Academy Trust for contribution 

rate purposes.  

 

Signature:              

Date: 3 March 2017  3 March 2017 

Name:  Steven Law  Barry McKay  

Qualification: Fellow of the Institute and      Fellow of the Institute and   

Faculty of Actuaries                                                      Faculty of Actuaries 

Firm: Hymans Robertson LLP                                                Hymans Robertson LLP 

 20 Waterloo Street  20 Waterloo Street  

 Glasgow  Glasgow 

 G2 6DB      G2 6DB   

Employer/Pool name

- London Borough of Havering Pool* 15.6% £9,650,000 £11,150,000 £12,650,000 15.6% plus £9,650,000 15.6% plus £11,150,000 15.6% plus £12,650,000
61 Abbs Cross School 20.4% 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% 26.0% 26.0% 26.0%
62 Frances Bardsley School 21.5% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 24.8% 24.8% 24.8%
63 Havering Sixth Form College 20.5% £37,000 £38,000 £39,000 20.5% plus £37,000 20.5% plus £38,000 20.5% plus £39,000

64 Havering College of Further & Higher Education 19.5% £331,000 £339,000 £347,000 19.5% plus £331,000 19.5% plus £339,000 19.5% plus £347,000
65 Coopers Company & Coborn School 20.9% 4.3% 4.3% 4.3% 25.2% 25.2% 25.2%

66 Sacred Heart of Mary School 21.4% 4.6% 4.6% 4.6% 26.0% 26.0% 26.0%
175 SLM Fitness and Health Ltd 26.0% - - - 26.0% 26.0% 26.0%
176 SLM Community Leisure Ltd 26.0% - - - 26.0% 26.0% 26.0%
179 Chafford School 20.4% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 22.9% 22.9% 22.9%
189 Brittons Academy 21.1% 3.7% 3.7% 3.7% 24.8% 24.8% 24.8%
190 Campion Academy 20.7% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 24.2% 24.2% 24.2%
191 Hall Mead Academy 21.2% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 25.2% 25.2% 25.2%
192 St Edwards Academy 21.2% 4.7% 4.7% 4.7% 25.9% 25.9% 25.9%
193 Emerson Park Academy 20.6% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 23.1% 23.1% 23.1%
194 Redden Court Academy 20.4% 3.9% 3.9% 3.9% 24.3% 24.3% 24.3%
199 Albany Academy 19.7% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 21.7% 21.7% 21.7%
203 Bower Park 20.7% 4.1% 4.1% 4.1% 24.8% 24.8% 24.8%
205 Langtons Junior Academy 21.9% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 22.1% 22.1% 22.1%
206 Oasis Pinewood Academy 20.2% 2.7% 2.7% 2.7% 22.9% 22.9% 22.9%
207 Breyer Group Repairs 23.8% - - - 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%
208 Breyer Group Voids 23.8% - - - 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%
214 Dycorts 19.1% 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 21.4% 21.4% 21.4%
215 Caterlink TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC

201, 202 Upminster Academies Trust 21.9% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 25.9% 25.9% 25.9%
209, 210 Rise Park Academy Trust 20.6% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 25.1% 25.1% 25.1%

180, 204, 213, 216, 218** Drapers Multi Academy Trust 20.4% 3.4% 3.4% 3.4% 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%
TBC Accent Catering TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC

217 Ravensbourne Academy 19.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 23.0% 23.0% 23.0%
220 Benhurst Primary 23.0% 3.4% 3.4% 3.4% 26.4% 26.4% 26.4%
221 Concordia Academy 17.5% - - - 17.5% 17.5% 17.5%
222 Olive AP Academy 22.7% £0 £0 £0 26.7% 26.7% 26.7%

Employers joining after the valuation date

Employer code

Primary Rate 
(%) 1 April 
2017- 31 

March 2020

Secondary Rate (%/£) Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 PENSIONS COMMITTEE  
    28 March 2017 
 

Subject Heading: 
 
 

INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT 

CLT Lead: 
 

Debbie Middleton 

Report Author and contact details: 
 
 

Debbie Ford 
Pension Fund Accountant 
01708432569 
Debbie.ford@onesource.co.uk  

Policy context: 
 
 

Regulation 7 of the LGPS (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016 requires an administrative authority 
to produce this document 

Financial summary: 
 
 

No direct financial implications 

 
 

The subject matter of this report deals with the following Council 
Objectives 

 
Havering will be clean and its environment will be cared for [] 
People will be safe, in their homes and in the community [] 
Residents will be proud to live in Havering  [x] 

 
 

 
SUMMARY 

 
 
 
In line with the Local Government Pensions Scheme (LGPS) (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 requires an administrating authority, after 
taking proper advice to formulate an investment strategy statement which must be 
in accordance with guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 
 
The Statement sets out the London Borough of Havering’s policies, in its capacity 
as Administering Authority, for the investments of the London Borough of Havering 
Pension Fund. 
 
 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Debbie.ford@onesource.co.uk


 
 

 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 
That the Committee: 
 
 

1. Consider this report and any consultation responses and, subject to these, 
decide whether to adopt the proposed Investment Strategy Statement as set 
out in Appendix A.  

 
2. Consider and agree to the administrative authority’s position in respect of 

reporting compliance against the Myner’s investment principles as set out in 
Appendix D.  
 

3. Considers whether it is interested in becoming members of the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) and the Pensions and Lifetime 
Savings Association (PLSA) and wishes to receive a further report in due 
course (paragraph 2.3(b) refers). 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

REPORT DETAIL 
 
 

1. Background 
 
1.1 LPGS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 Section 7 

(1) states that an administrating authority must, after taking proper advice, 
formulate an investment strategy which must be in accordance with 
guidance issued from time to time by the Secretary of State.  

 
1.2 The Regulations that came into force on 1st November 2016 as set out in 

Appendix B. 
 
1.3 The guidance as issued by the Department for Communities and Local 

Government (DCLG) in September 2016 is set out in Appendix C. 
  
1.4 The authority must publish its Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) no later 

than the 1 April 2017.  
 

1.5 The new ISS replaces the Statement of Investment Principles (SIP) which 
was last updated in November 2015 
 

Page 94



 
 

 

1.6 This is the first statement produced under the new regulations and reflects 
the decisions and discussions held at the training/briefing sessions and the 
Special Pensions Committee meeting held on the 23 January 2017. 
 

 
1.7 The authority’s statement must include:  

(a) money invested in a wide variety of investments;  

(b) the suitability of particular investments and types of investments; 

(c) risk, including the ways in which risks are to be measured and managed; 

(d) its approach to pooling investments, including the use of collective 

investment vehicles and shared services; 

(e) how social, environmental and corporate governance considerations are 

taken into account in the selection, non-selection, retention and 

realisations of investments; 

(f) a policy on the exercise of the rights (including voting rights) attaching to 

investments. 

1.8 In line with LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 
Section 7 (6) the authority must consult such persons as it considers 
appropriate as to the proposed content of its investment strategy. The draft 
version of the ISS was distributed to all participating employers in the fund, 
the actuary, the Local Pension Board and Fund Managers on the 2 March 
2017 for comments. Closing date for the consultation is the 21 March 2017. 

 

1.9 Any comments received from the consultees will be reported to members on 
the night of the meeting for consideration and following the committee’s 
consideration of the consultee’s comments the ISS will be updated where 
required and published. 

 
1.10 The ISS has been formulated after taking advice from the Funds investment 

advisors Hymans Robertson LLP and in accordance with guidance issued 
by DCLG; the DRAFT ISS is attached at Appendix A and will be effective 
from 22 March 2017. 

 
1.11 The Final version will be published on the authority’s website following this 

meeting. 

 
 
2. Myner’s Principles  
 
2.1  Since the LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 

came into force on the 1 November 2016 it is no longer a statutory 

Page 95



 
 

 

requirement to publish its compliance alongside the ISS. Publication is 
voluntary and demonstrates best practice. 

 
2.2 Attached as Appendix D is the statement of compliance which shows the 

 fund’s position in respect of compliance against the six Myner’s principles. 
Please note some of the terminology used in the CIPFA best practice 
column has been superseded by the introduction of the new LGPS 
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.  
 

2.3 The principles were reviewed with regard to the CIPFA guidance and can 
demonstrate that the fund is compliant with the majority of the six principles 
but needs to consider the following area: 

 
a) Principle No.5. Responsible ownership - Administering authorities 

should recognise and ensure that their partners in the investment 
chain adopt, the FRC’s UK Stewardship Code. 

 
Best practice suggests that the committee should engage with, and 
consider the implications of, the UK Stewardship Code on a ‘comply or 
explain’ basis.  
 
Best Practice also suggests that authorities may wish to consider 
seeking alliances with either other pension funds in general, or a group 
of local authority pension funds, to benefit from collective size where 
there is a common interest to influence companies to take action on 
environmental, social and governance issues e.g. LAPFF. 
 
New guidance issued in September 2016 by the DCLG states that 
administering authorities are encouraged to consider the best way to 
engage with companies and explain their policy on stewardship with 
reference to the Stewardship code. Administering authorities should 
become Signatories to the code and state how they implement the 
seven principles and guidance of the code, which apply on a ‘comply or 
explain’ basis.   
 
The fund’s current policy on Environmental, Social and Governance 
(ESG) factors have been included within the ISS but the committee did 
agree at a previous meeting to consider becoming signatories to the 
Stewardship Code and a report will be submitted for consideration at the 
next meeting. 
 
Another consideration for the committee concerns the Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI’s) that The Scheme Advisory Board is looking at 
developing to measure the ‘health’ of funds and to identify those funds 
where potential management problems lie. One of the measures 
includes whether a fund has adopted and reports against the FRC UK 
Stewardship Code.  
 

 

Page 96



 
 

 

b) Action required for full compliance:  CIPFA guidance suggests funds 
seeking to comply with Principle 5 should comply with the UK 
Stewardship Code.  
 
The committee to consider becoming signatories to the 
Stewardship Code will be considered at the next meeting. 
 
With regard to seeking alliances with other pension funds, the Fund has 
joined the London CIV and expects them to undertake appropriate 
collaboration on its behalf where there is a common interest. However, 
the committee may also wish to consider whether they would like 
to receive a further report explaining the benefits and issues of 
joining the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) and the 
Pensions and Lifetime Savings Association (PLSA). An outline of the 
organisations are shown below:  
 
 
LAPFF - The LAPFF is an association of 72 other local authority 
pension funds and seeks to protect the investments of its members by 
promoting the highest standards of corporate governance and corporate 
social responsibility on ESG issues. The annual subscription is £8,460 
pa or £8,250 pa for those that sign up for 3 years. Some member benefit 
include access to quality research into ESG issues , Effective 
engagement with investee companies and networking opportunities for  
elected members and officers involved with the management of the 
LGPS.  
 
PLSA - Other collaboration include becoming a member of the Pensions 
and Lifetime Savings Association (PLSA) formerly the National 
Association of Pension Funds. The PLSA is a not-for–profit membership 
association and exist to support their members by influencing 
stakeholders such as government and regulators to ensure there is a 
secure and viable workplace pension’s environment for scheme 
members, sponsors and trustees. They currently represent over 70% of 
local Authority Pension Funds and provide expert, independent 
guidance and support to keep members up to date on the latest 
regulatory requirements, training and development. The 2017 rates are 
calculated at 20.73 pence per member. Based on March 2016 data this 
will be £3,756.07 (18,119 x 0.2073). Some member benefits include 
complimentary places at the Annual Conference and Exhibition, 
PolicyWatch which includes latest legislation and regulatory 
developments, access to ground-breaking research and discounted 
training. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS 
 
 
 
Financial implications and risks: 
 
There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. The estimated 
costs of producing the ISS including Investment Strategy Training is £8,000 
exclusive VAT and is met from the Pension Fund.  
 
The objective of the Fund is to ensure that assets are invested to secure the 
benefits of the Fund’s members under the LGPS. The Fund’s funding position will 
be reviewed at each triennial actuarial valuation and in line with regulations 
authorities must review and if necessary revise its investment strategy from time to 
time, and at least every 3 years, and publish a statement of revisions to ensure 
that investment and funding objectives are being met and to minimise any costs to 
the general fund. 
 
 
There is a risk that if the guidance and regulations are not followed then 
Regulation 8 of the LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016 enables the Secretary of State to issue a direction if he is satisfied that an 
administering authority is failing to act in accordance with the guidance. The 
Secretary of State can consider intervention but only where this is justified and 
where relevant parties have been consulted.  
 
This follows on from one of the main aims of the new investment regulations 
transferring investment decisions and full consideration to administering authorities 
within a new prudential framework. Administering authorities will be responsible for 
setting their policy on asset allocation, risk and diversity, amongst other things.  
 
In relaxing the regulatory framework for scheme investments, administering 
authorities will be expected to make their investment decisions within a prudential 
framework with less central prescription. It is important therefore that the 
regulations include a safeguard to ensure that this less prescriptive approach is 
used appropriately and in the best long term interests of scheme beneficiaries and 
taxpayers.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



 
 

 

Legal implications and risks: 
 
It is a principle of administrative law that when the Authority has a duty to consult it 
must conscientiously take into consideration the representations of consultees 
before making its decision. Accordingly any comments provided under para 1.8 
above should be considered conscientiously. 
 
Otherwise there are no apparent legal implications and the applicable law is set 
out in the main body of the Report. 

 
 Human Resources implications and risks: 

 
None arise from this report. 
 
Equalities implications and risks: 
 
None arise from this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 
Background Papers List 
LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 
CIPFA publication investment decision making and disclosure Dec 09 and 2012 
Investment Strategy Statement 2017 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 001 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

Draft Investment Strategy Statement – March 2017 

Purpose of the report 

To recommend the approval of an Investment Strategy Statement (“ISS”) for the London Borough of Havering 

Pension Fund (“the Fund”), a copy of which is attached as part of this report. 

Background 

For many years Local Government Pension Funds have been required to maintain a Statement of Investment 

Principles (“SoIP”). New Local Government Pension Scheme (“LGPS”) Investment Regulations became effective 

on 1 November 2016. These Regulations remove many of the investment restrictions that were formerly in place 

for the LGPS and, in effect, allow individual Funds considerable discretion about where and how to invest. The 

Regulations also introduced a requirement for administering authorities to formulate, publish and maintain an ISS 

and this needs to be approved by April 2017. The ISS is a more detailed version of the SoIP, with the SoIP being 

no longer necessary. 

Statutory background 

The new investment regulations (Section 7) state the following: 

 An authority must, after taking proper advice, formulate an investment strategy which must be in accordance 

with guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 

   

 The authority’s investment strategy must include—  

o a requirement to invest fund money in a wide variety of investments;  

o the authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and types of investments;  

o the authority’s approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are to be measured and managed;  

o the authority’s approach to pooling investments, including the use of collective investment vehicles 

and shared services;  

o the authority’s policy on how social, environmental or corporate governance considerations are taken 

into account in the selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of investments; and  

o the authority’s policy on the exercise of the rights (including voting rights) attaching to investments.  

 

 The authority’s investment strategy must set out the maximum percentage of the total value of all investments 

of fund money that it will invest in particular investments or classes of investment.  

 

 The authority’s investment strategy may not permit more than 5% of the total value of all investments of fund 

money to be invested in entities which are connected with that authority within the meaning of section 212 of 

the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007(e).  

 

 The authority must consult such persons as it considers appropriate as to the contents of its investment 

strategy.  

 

 The authority must review and if necessary revise its investment strategy from time to time, and at least every 

3 years, and publish a statement of any revisions.  

 

 The authority must invest, in accordance with its investment strategy, any fund money that is not needed 

immediately to make payments from the fund.  

  

Page 101



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 002 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

Update 

On the following pages we have provided a draft version of the recommended ISS. The document must be 

approved before 1 April 2017. The draft is based on a template produced by Hymans Robertson LLP, the Fund‟s 

investment advisor, and covers all of the necessary areas.  

We look forward to discussing this draft with you. Following this meeting, we anticipate finalising document to 

reflect your comments. The document will then, in line with the regulations, have to be consulted with the relevant 

parties e.g. employers in the Fund.   

We look forward to discussing this paper with you at your March meeting. 

Prepared by:- 

Simon Jones, Senior Investment Consultant 

Callum Stewart, Investment Analyst 

March 2017 

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

  

Page 102



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 003 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

Investment Strategy Statement: [Published Month] 2017 

Introduction and background 

This is the Investment Strategy Statement (“ISS”) of the London Borough of Havering Pension Fund (“the Fund”), 

which is administered by Havering Council, (“the Administering Authority”). The ISS is made in accordance with 

Regulation 7 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 

2016 (“the Regulations”). 

The ISS has been prepared by the Fund‟s Pension Committee (“the Committee”) having taken advice from the 

Fund‟s investment adviser, Hymans Robertson LLP and having regard to guidance issued by the Department for 

Communities and Local Government (DCLG). The Committee acts on the delegated authority of the 

Administering Authority.  

The ISS, which was approved by the Committee on [xx Month 2017], is subject to periodic review at least every 

three years and without delay after any significant change in investment policy. The Committee has consulted on 

the contents of the Fund‟s investment strategy with such persons it considers appropriate. 

The Committee seeks to invest in accordance with the ISS, any Fund money that is not needed immediately to 

make payments from the Fund. The ISS should be read in conjunction with the Fund‟s Funding Strategy 

Statement (dated [xx Month] 2017).   

The suitability of particular investments and types of investments 

The primary investment objective of the Fund is to ensure that the assets are invested to secure the 

benefits of the Fund‟s members under the Local Government Pension Scheme. Against this 

background, the Fund‟s approach to investing is to: 

 Optimise the return consistent with a prudent level of risk; 

 Ensure that there are sufficient resources to meet the liabilities; and 

 Ensure the suitability of assets in relation to the needs of the Fund. 

The Fund‟s funding position will be reviewed at each triennial actuarial valuation, or more frequently as 

required. 

The Committee aims to fund the Fund in such a manner that, in normal market conditions, all accrued 

benefits are fully covered by the value of the Fund's assets and that an appropriate level of contributions 

is agreed by the employer to meet the cost of future benefits accruing. For employee members, benefits 

will be based on service completed, but will take account of future salary and/or inflation increases. 

The Committee has translated its objectives into a suitable strategic asset allocation benchmark for the Fund. It 

plays an important role in meeting the longer-term cost of funding, and how that cost may vary over time. This 

benchmark is consistent with the Committee‟s views on the appropriate balance between generating a 

satisfactory long-term return on investments whilst taking account of market volatility and risk and the nature of 

the Fund‟s liabilities.  This approach helps to ensure that the investment strategy takes due account of the 

maturity profile of the Fund (in terms of the relative proportions of liabilities in respect of pensioners, deferred and 

active members), together with the level of disclosed surplus or deficit (relative to the funding bases used).  

It is intended that the Fund‟s investment strategy will be reviewed at least every three years following actuarial 

valuations of the Fund.  

Within each major market the Fund‟s investment managers will maintain a diversified portfolio of securities 

through direct investment or via pooled vehicles.  An Investment Management Agreement is in place for each 

Page 103



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 004 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

investment manager, which sets out the relevant benchmark, performance target and asset allocation ranges, 

together with further restrictions. 

In addition, the Committee monitors investment strategy on an ongoing basis, focusing on factors including, but 

not limited to: 

 Suitability given the Fund‟s level of funding and liability profile 

 The level of expected risk 

 Outlook for asset returns 

The Committee also monitors the Fund‟s actual allocation on a regular basis to ensure it does not notably deviate 

from the target allocation.  The Committee has adopted a rebalancing policy which is triggered if the Fund‟s asset 

allocation deviates by 5% or more from the strategic allocation.  

In order to avoid excessive rebalancing, the assets will not be brought back to the absolute strategic benchmark, 

but to a position that is approximately half way between the tolerance level and the target allocation. This also 

takes into consideration that there is a time lag between reporting a variance, and the rebalancing of the funds. 

If rebalancing is triggered, the assets will be rebalanced back to within 2.5% of the strategic asset allocation. 

In exceptional circumstances, when markets are volatile or when dealing costs are unusually high, the Pensions 

Committee may decide to suspend rebalancing temporarily. The priority order for funding rebalancing is to first 

use surplus cash, followed by dividend and or interest income and lastly using sales of overweight assets. The 

Pensions Committee will seek the written advice of the investment adviser with regard to rebalancing and detailed 

distribution of cash or sale proceeds. 

  

Page 104



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 005 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

Investment of money in a wide variety of investments 

Asset classes 

The Fund may invest in quoted and unquoted securities of UK and overseas markets including equities 

and fixed interest and index linked bonds, cash, property and commodities either directly or through 

pooled funds. The Fund may also make use of contracts for differences and other derivatives either 

directly or in pooled funds investing in these products for the purpose of efficient portfolio management 

or to hedge specific risks.  

The Committee reviews the nature of the Fund‟s investments on a regular basis, with particular 

reference to suitability and diversification. The Committee seeks and considers written advice from a 

suitably qualified person in undertaking such a review. If, at any time, investment in a security or 

product not previously known to the Committee is proposed, appropriate advice is sought and 

considered to ensure its suitability and diversification. 

The Fund‟s target investment strategy is set out below. The table also includes the maximum 

percentage of total Fund value that it will invest in these asset classes. In line with the Regulations, the 

authority‟s investment strategy does not permit more than 5% of the total value of all investments of 

Fund money to be invested in entities which are connected with that authority within the meaning of 

section 212 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

Table 1: Fund allocation 

Asset class Benchmark Proportion % 
Maximum 

% 

Global Equity 30.0 45.0 

Multi Asset 42.5 50.0 

Property 6.0 15.0 

Infrastructure 2.5 10.0 

Bonds & Cash 19.0 25.0 

Total 100.0  

At 31 December 2016, the expected return of this portfolio was 4.2%p.a. with an expected volatility of 9.8%p.a. 

This volatility includes an assumed diversification benefit. In the absence of this diversification, the expected 

volatility would have increased to 13.2%p.a.  Further details on the Fund‟s risks, including the approach to 

mitigating risks, is provided in the following section. 

Managers 

The Committee has appointed a number of investment managers all of whom are authorised under the Financial 

Services and Markets Act 2000 to undertake investment business. 

The Committee, after seeking appropriate investment advice, has agreed specific benchmarks with each 

manager so that, in aggregate, they are consistent with the overall asset allocation for the Fund. The current 

manager benchmarks are set out in the Appendix to this Statement. The Fund‟s investment managers will hold a 

mix of investments which reflects their views relative to their respective benchmarks. Within each major market 

and asset class, the managers will maintain diversified portfolios through direct investment or pooled vehicles. 

The manager of the passive funds in which the Fund invests holds a mix of investments within each pooled fund 

that reflects the composition of their respective benchmark indices. 

  

Page 105



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 006 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

The approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are to be measured and managed 

The Committee is aware that the Fund has a need to take risk (e.g. investing in growth assets) to help it achieve 

its funding objectives. It has a risk management programme in place that aims to help it identify the risks being 

taken and has put in place processes to manage, measure, monitor and (where possible) mitigate the risks being 

taken.  

The principal risks affecting the Fund are set out below. We also discuss the Fund‟s approach to 

managing these risks and the contingency plans that are in place: 

Funding risks 

Asset values may not increase at the same rate as liabilities with an adverse impact on the funding position. A 

Funding Strategy Statement (“FSS”) is prepared every three years as part of the triennial valuation and the 

Council monitors the Fund‟s investment strategy and performance relative to the growth in the liabilities at mid -

cycle to the triennial valuation. 

Financial mismatch – The Council recognises that assets and liabilities have different sensitivities to changes in 

financial factors. To mitigate the risk an investment strategy is set which provides exposure to assets providing 

inflation protected growth as well as cash flow generating assets that match the Fund‟s liabilities. 

Changing demographics – This relates to the uncertainty around longevity. The Council recognises 

there are effectively no viable options to mitigate these risks and assesses the impact of these factors 

through the Funding Strategy Statement and formal triennial actuarial valuations. 

Systemic risk - The possibility of an interlinked and simultaneous failure of several asset classes 

and/or investment managers, possibly compounded by financial „contagion‟, resulting in an increase in 

the cost of meeting the Fund‟s liabilities.  

The Committee measures and manages financial mismatch in two ways: 

1. As indicated above, the Committee has set a strategic asset allocation benchmark for the Fund. 

This benchmark was set taking into account asset liability modelling which focused on 

probability of success and level of downside risk.  This analysis will be revisited as part of the 

2019 valuation process. The Committee assesses risk relative to the strategic benchmark by 

monitoring the Fund‟s asset allocation and investment returns relative to the benchmark.  

2. The Committee also assesses risk relative to liabilities by monitoring the delivery of returns 

relative to a strategic benchmark.  The current strategic benchmark is the return on index-linked 

Government bonds plus 1.8% per annum, which is consistent with the discount rate used by the 

Actuary to value the Fund‟s liabilities.   

The Committee also seeks to understand the assumptions used in any analysis and modelling so they 

can be compared to their own views and the level of risks associated with these assumptions to be 

assessed. 

The Committee seeks to mitigate systemic risk through a diversified portfolio, but recognise that it is 

not possible to make specific provision for all possible eventualities that may arise under this heading. 

  

Page 106



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 007 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

Asset risks 

Concentration risk - This relates to the risk that the performance of a single asset class, investment or manager 

has a disproportionate influence on the Fund‟s performance. The Council attempts to mitigate this risk by 

establishing a well-diversified strategic asset allocation, reviewing the investment strategy regularly and following 

a regular fund manager review process. The Fund‟s investment in multi-asset and absolute return mandates 

increases diversification further, with investment managers able to invest across the full spectrum of the 

investment universe in order to manage risk. 

Liquidity risk - Investments are held until such time as they are required to fund payment of pensions. The 

liquidity risk is being very closely monitored as the Fund matures (i.e. as the level of benefit outgo increases 

relative to the contributions received by the Fund). The Council manages its cash flows and investment strategy 

to ensure that all future payments can be met and that sufficient assets are held in liquid investments to enable 

short term cash requirements to be met. 

Currency risk – The strategic asset allocation adopted by the Council provides for an element to be held 

overseas to provide diversification and exposure to different economies. Such investment is however subject to 

fluctuations in exchange rates with an associated positive or adverse impact on performance. The Council 

however recognises that it can adopt a long term perspective on investments and consequently is able to absorb 

short term fluctuations in exchange rates.  

Environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) risks – The Council recognises that environmental, 

social and ethical issues have the potential to impact on the long term financial viability of an 

organisation. The Council monitors both developments within the investment environment and the 

voting of its appointed managers, supported through annual reporting from the Fund‟s investment 

advisers on the voting and engagement activity of its investment managers.  

Manager risk - Fund managers could fail to achieve the investment targets specified in their 

mandates. This is considered by the Council when fund managers are selected and their performance 

is reviewed regularly by the Committee as part of the manager monitoring process.  

The Fund‟s strategic asset allocation benchmark invests in a diversified range of asset classes. The Committee 

has put in place rebalancing arrangements to ensure the Fund‟s “actual allocation” does not deviate substantially 

from its target. The Fund invests in a range of investment mandates each of which has a defined objective, 

performance benchmark and manager process which, taken in aggregate, help reduce the Fund‟s asset 

concentration risk. By investing across a range of assets, including liquid quoted equities and bonds, as well as 

property, the Committee has recognised the need for access to liquidity in the short term. 

The Fund invests in a range of overseas markets which provides a diversified approach to currency markets. 

Some managers have the discretion to make use of currency exposure within their specific mandates.  The 

Committee will assess the Fund‟s currency exposures during their risk analysis.  Details of the Fund‟s approach 

to managing ESG risks are set out later in this document. 

The Committee has considered the risk of underperformance by any single investment manager and have 

attempted to reduce this risk by appointing a number of managers and making use of passive investment. The 

Committee assesses the investment managers‟ performance on a regular basis, and will take steps, including 

potentially replacing one or more of their managers, if underperformance persists. 

Other provider risks 

Transition risk - The risk of incurring unexpected costs in relation to the transition of assets among 

managers. When carrying out significant transitions, the Committee seeks suitable professional 

advice. 

Page 107



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 008 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

Custody risk - The risk of losing economic rights to Fund assets, when held in custody or when being 

traded. 

Credit default - This risk relates to the other party(s) in a financial transaction (the counterparty) failing to meet its 

obligations to the Fund.  Where appropriate, the Council has set guidelines with its fund managers and its 

custodian to limit its exposure to counterparty risk.   

Stock-lending risk – The possibility of default and loss of economic rights to Fund assets.  

The Committee monitors and manages risks in these areas through a process of regular scrutiny of its 

providers, and audit of the operations it conducts for the Fund, or has delegated such monitoring and 

management of risk to the appointed investment managers as appropriate (e.g. custody risk in relation 

to pooled funds).  The Committee has the power to replace a provider should serious concerns exist. 

A separate schedule of risks that the Fund monitors is set out in the Fund‟s Funding Strategy 

Statement. 

The approach to pooling investments, including the use of collective investment vehicles and shared 

services 

The Fund is a shareholder and a participating scheme in the London CIV Pool. The London CIV is authorised by 

the FCA as an alternative investment Fund Manager with permission to operate a UK based Authorised 

Contractual Scheme Fund. The structure and basis on which the London CIV Pool will operate was set out in the 

July 2016 submission to Government.   

The Fund‟s intention is to invest its assets through the London CIV Pool as and when suitable Pool investment 

solutions become available. An indicative timetable for investing through the Pool was set out in the 2016 

submission to Government. The key criteria for assessment of Pool solutions will be as follows: 

1 That the Pool enables access to an appropriate solution that meets the objectives and benchmark criteria 

set by the Fund. 

2 That there is a clear financial benefit to the Fund in investing in the solution offered by the Pool, should a 

change of provider be necessary. 

At the time of preparing this statement, 42.5% of the Fund‟s assets were invested through the Pool as follows: 

Asset Class Invested through pool Retained outside pool 

Global Equity 15.0% 15.0% 

Multi Asset 27.5% 15.0% 

Property - 6.0% 

Infrastructure - 2.5% 

Bonds & cash - 19.0% 

Total 42.5% 57.5% 

The Fund currently holds 15% of its assets in life funds and intends to retain these outside of the London CIV in 

accordance with government guidance. 

Page 108



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 009 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

The Fund holds 6% of the Fund in property assets and these will remain outside of the London CIV pool as the 

cost of exiting this strategy would have a negative financial impact on the Fund.  These will be held until such time 

as a cost effective means of transfer to the Pool is available or until the Fund changes asset allocation and makes 

a decision to disinvest. 

Any assets not currently invested in the Pool will be reviewed at least annually to determine whether the rationale 

remains appropriate, and whether it continues to demonstrate value for money.  

How social, environmental or corporate governance considerations are taken into account in the 

selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of investments 

It is recognised that a range of factors, including Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factors, can 

influence the return from investments. The Fund will therefore invest on the basis of financial risk and return 

having considered a full range of factors contributing to the financial risk including ESG factors to the extent these 

directly or indirectly impact on financial risk and return. In making investment decisions, the Fund seeks and 

receives proper advice from internal officers and external advisers with the requisite knowledge and skills.  

The Fund requires its investment managers to integrate all material financial factors, including corporate 

governance, environmental, social, and ethical considerations, into the decision-making process for all fund 

investments. It expects its managers to follow good practice and use their influence as major institutional 

investors and long-term stewards of capital to promote good practice in the investee companies and markets to 

which the Fund is exposed. 

The Fund expects its external investment managers (and specifically the London CIV through which the Fund will 

increasingly invest) to undertake appropriate monitoring of current investments with regard to their policies and 

practices on all issues which could present a material financial risk to the long-term performance of the fund such 

as corporate governance and environmental factors. The Fund expects its fund managers to integrate material 

ESG factors within its investment analysis and decision making.  

Effective monitoring and identification of these issues can enable engagement with boards and management of 

investee companies to seek resolution of potential problems at an early stage. Where collaboration is likely to be 

the most effective mechanism for encouraging issues to be addressed, the Fund expects its investment 

managers to participate in joint action with other institutional investors as permitted by relevant legal and 

regulatory codes.  

The Fund monitors the activity of its investment managers on an ongoing basis and will review the approach 

taken annually. 

At the present time the Committee does not take into account non-financial factors when selecting, retaining, or 

realising its investments. The Committee will review its approach to non-financial factors periodically, taking into 

account relevant legislation and the Law Commission‟s guidance on when such factors may be considered. 

Additionally, the Committee monitors legislative and other developments with regards to this subject and will 

review its approach in the event of material changes. 

The Committee understands the Fund is not able to exclude investments in order to pursue boycotts, divestment 

and sanctions against foreign nations and UK defence industries, other than where formal legal sanctions, 

embargoes and restrictions have been put in place by the Government.  

The Fund does not at the time of preparing this statement hold any assets which it deems to be social 

investments; however, this ISS places no specific restrictions on the Fund in respect of such investments beyond 

those of suitability within the Investment Strategy as a whole and compatibility with the Committee‟s fiduciary 

duties. In considering any such investment in the future, the Committee will have regard to the Guidance issued 

by the Secretary of State and to the Law Commission‟s guidance on financial and non-financial factors.  

Page 109



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 010 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

The Fund in preparing and reviewing its Investment Strategy Statement will consult with interested stakeholders 

including, but not limited to Fund employers, investment managers, Local Pension Board, advisers to the Fund. 

The exercise of rights (including voting rights) attaching to investments 

The Fund recognises the importance of its role as stewards of capital and the need to ensure the highest 

standards of governance and promoting corporate responsibility in the underlying companies in which its 

investments reside. The Fund recognises that ultimately this protects the financial interests of the Fund and its 

ultimate beneficiaries. The Fund has a commitment to actively exercising the ownership rights attached to its 

investments reflecting the Fund‟s conviction that responsible asset owners should maintain oversight of the 

companies in which it ultimately invests recognising that the companies‟ activities impact upon not only their 

customers and clients, but more widely upon their employees and other stakeholders and also wider society. 

The Fund‟s investments through the London CIV are covered by the voting policy of the CIV which has been 

agreed by the Pensions Sectoral Joint Committee. Voting is delegated to the external managers and monitored 

on a quarterly basis. The CIV will arrange for managers to vote in accordance with voting alerts issued by the 

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum as far as practically possible to do so and will hold managers to account 

where they have not voted in accordance with the LAPFF directions.  

In respect of the Fund‟s investments outside the London CIV, the Committee has delegated the exercise of voting 

rights to the investment managers on the basis that voting power will be exercised by them with the objective of 

preserving and enhancing long term shareholder value. Accordingly, the Fund‟s managers have produced written 

guidelines of their process and practice in this regard. The managers are strongly encouraged to vote in line with 

their guidelines in respect of all resolutions at annual and extraordinary general meetings of companies under 

Regulation 7(2)(f). The Committee monitor the voting decisions made by all its investment managers and receive 

reporting from their advisers to support this on an annual basis. 

The Fund will incorporate a report of voting activity as part of its Pension Fund Annual report which is published 

on the Council website. 

At the time of production of the ISS the Fund has not issued a separate Statement of Compliance with the 

Stewardship Code, but fully endorses the principles embedded in the seven Principles of the Stewardship Code.  

In addition, the Fund expects its investment managers to work collaboratively with others if this will lead to greater 

influence and deliver improved outcomes for shareholders and more broadly.  

The Fund through its participation in the London CIV will work closely with other LGPS Funds in London to 

enhance the level of engagement both with external managers and the underlying companies in which invests. 

  

Page 110



London Borough of Havering Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

March 2017 011 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\5\1\3\AI00013315\$D1QBBGYO.DOCX 

 

Appendix: Current manager benchmark allocations 

Asset class Manager Benchmark and target 
Benchmark 
Allocation % 

Equities 30.0 

Global Equity State Street FTSE All World Equity Index 7.5 

Fundamental Equity State Street 
FTSE RAFI All World 

3000 Index 
7.5 

Active Global Equity Baillie Gifford 
MSCI All Countries 

Index plus 2.5%  
15.0 

Multi-asset 42.5 

Absolute Return Ruffer LIBOR+ 15.0 

Diversified Growth Baillie Gifford 
UK Base Rate plus 

3.5% 
12.5 

Real Return GMO OECD CPI g7 plus 5% 15.0 

Real assets 8.5 

UK Core Property UBS 

IPD All Balanced 

Property Funds 

Weighted Average 

Index 

6.0 

Local infrastructure Internal  2.5 

Bonds and cash 21.0 

Active bonds Royal London 

 50% iBoxx £ non- Gilt over 10 

years 

 16.7% FTSE Actuaries UK gilt 

over 15 years 

 33.3% FTSE Actuaries Index- 

linked over 5 years 

 Plus 1.25% 

19.0 

Total 100.0 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S  

2016 No. 946 

PUBLIC SERVICE PENSIONS, ENGLAND AND WALES 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 

Made - - - - 21st September 2016 

Laid before Parliament 23rd September 2016 

Coming into force - - 1st November 2016 

The Secretary of State makes these Regulations in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 

1(1) and 3(1) to (4) of, and Schedule 3 to, the Public Service Pensions Act 2013(a). 

In accordance with section 21(1) of that Act, the Secretary of State has consulted such persons and 

the representatives of such persons as appeared to the Secretary of State to be likely to be affected 

by these Regulations. 

In accordance with section 3(5) of that Act, these Regulations are made with the consent of the 

Treasury. 

Citation, commencement and extent 

1.—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016. 

(2) These Regulations come into force on 1st November 2016. 

(3) These Regulations extend to England and Wales. 

Interpretation 

2.—(1) In these Regulations— 

“the 2000 Act” means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000(b); 

“the 2013 Regulations” means the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013(c); 

“the Transitional Regulations” means the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional 

Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014(d); 

“authority” means an administering authority listed in Part 1 of Schedule 3 to the 2013 

Regulations; 

“fund money” means money that is or should be in a pension fund maintained by an authority; 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 2013 c. 25; see section 2 of and Schedule 2 to that Act as to how the power is exercisable by the Secretary of State. 
(b) 2000 c. 8. 
(c) S.I. 2013/2356. 
(d) S.I. 2014/525. 

Page 113



 2

“proper advice” means the advice of a person whom the authority reasonably considers to be 

qualified by their ability in and practical experience of financial matters; 

“the Scheme” means the scheme established by the 2013 Regulations. 

(2) Any restrictions imposed by these Regulations apply to authorities which have the power 

within section 1 of the Localism Act 2011(a) (local authority’s general power of competence) or 

section 5A(1) of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004(b) in the exercise of those powers. 

(3) Any authority which does not have the powers mentioned in paragraph (2) has, by virtue of 

these Regulations the power to do anything authorised or required by these Regulations. 

Investment 

3.—(1) In these Regulations “investment” includes— 

(a) a contract entered into in the course of dealing in financial futures, traded options or 

derivatives; 

(b) a contribution to a limited partnership in an unquoted securities investment; 

(c) a contract of insurance if it is a contract of a relevant class, and is entered into with a 

person within paragraph (2) for whom entering into the contract constitutes the carrying 

on of a regulated activity within the meaning of section 22 of the 2000 Act(c). 

(2) The persons within this paragraph are— 

(a) a person who has permission under Part 4A of the 2000 Act (permission to carry on 

regulated activities)(d) to effect or carry out contracts of insurance of a relevant class; 

(b) an EEA firm of the kind mentioned in paragraph 5(d) of Schedule 3 to the 2000 Act (EEA 

passport rights), which has permission under paragraph 15 of that Schedule(e) to effect or 

carry out contracts of insurance of a relevant class; and 

(c) a person who does not fall within sub-paragraph (a) or (b) whose head office is in an EEA 

state other than the United Kingdom, and who is permitted by the law of that state to 

effect or carry out contracts of insurance of a relevant class. 

(3) A contract of insurance is of a relevant class for the purposes of paragraphs (1)(c) and (2) if 

it is— 

(a) a contract of insurance on human life or a contract to pay an annuity on human life where 

the benefits are wholly or partly to be determined by reference to the value of, or income 

from, property of any description (whether or not specified in the contract) or by 

reference to fluctuations in, or an index of, the value of property of any description 

(whether or not so specified); or 

(b) a contract to manage the investments of pension funds, whether or not combined with a 

contract of insurance covering either conservation of capital or payment of minimum 

interest. 

(4) For the purposes of this regulation— 

“limited partnership” has the meaning given in the Limited Partnerships Act 1907(f); 

“recognised stock exchange” has the same meaning as in section 1005 of the Income Tax Act 

2007(g); 

“traded option” means an option quoted on a recognised stock exchange; and 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 2011 c. 20. 
(b) 2004 c. 21; section 5A was inserted by section 9(1) of the Localism Act 2011. 
(c) Section 22 was amended by section 7(1) of the Financial Services Act 2012 (c. 21). 
(d) Part 4A of the 2000 Act was inserted by section 11(2) of the Financial Services Act 2012. 
(e) Paragraph 15 was amended by S.I. 2003/2066, 2007/3253, 2012/1906,2013/1881 and 2015/575. 
(f) 1907 c. 24.  
(g) 2007 c. 3; section 1005 was substituted by the Finance Act 2007 (c. 11) and amended by the Taxation (International and 

Other Provisions) Act 2010 (c. 8). 

Page 114



 3

“unquoted securities investment partnership” means a partnership for investing in securities 

which are not quoted on a recognised stock exchange when the partnership buys them. 

Management of a pension fund 

4.—(1) An authority must credit to its pension fund(a), in addition to any sum otherwise 

required to be credited by virtue of the 2013 Regulations or the Transitional Regulations— 

(a) the amounts payable by it or payable to it under regulations 15(3)(b), 67 and 68 of the 

2013 Regulations (employer’s contributions and further payments); 

(b) all amounts received under regulation 69(1)(a) of the 2013 Regulations (member 

contributions); 

(c) all income arising from investment of the fund; and 

(d) all capital money deriving from such investment. 

(2) In the case of an authority which maintains more than one pension fund, as respects sums 

which relate to specific members, the references in this regulation to the authority’s pension fund 

is to the fund which is the appropriate fund(b) for the member in question in accordance with the 

2013 Regulations. 

(3) Interest under regulation 71 of the 2013 Regulations (interest on late payments by Scheme 

employers) must be credited to the pension fund to which the overdue payment is due. 

(4) An authority must pay any benefits to which any person is entitled by virtue of the 2013 

Regulations or the Transitional Regulations from its pension fund. 

(5) Any costs, charges and expenses incurred administering a pension fund may be paid from it 

except for charges prescribed by regulations made under sections 23, 24 or 41 of the Welfare 

Reform and Pensions Act 1999(c) (charges in relation to pension sharing costs). 

Restriction on power to borrow 

5.—(1) Except as provided in this regulation, an authority must not borrow money where the 

borrowing is liable to be repaid out of its pension fund. 

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), an authority may borrow by way of temporary loan or overdraft 

which is liable to be repaid out of its pension fund, any sums which it may require for the purpose 

of— 

(a) paying benefits due under the Scheme; or 

(b) to meet investment commitments arising from the implementation of a decision by it to 

change the balance between different types of investment. 

(3) An authority may only borrow money under paragraph (2) if, at the time of the borrowing, 

the authority reasonably believes that the sum borrowed and interest charged in respect of that sum 

can be repaid out of its pension fund within 90 days of the borrowing. 

Separate bank account 

6.—(1) An authority must hold in a separate account kept by it with a deposit-taker all fund 

money. 

(2) “Deposit-taker” for the purposes of paragraph (1) means— 

(a) a person who has permission under Part 4A of the 2000 Act (permission to carry on 

regulated activities) to carry on the activities specified by article 5 of the Financial 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) An administering authority is required to maintain a pension fund by regulation 53(1) of, and paragraph 1 of Schedule 3 to 

the 2013 Regulations. 
(b) See regulation 53(2) of and Part 2 of Schedule 3 to the 2013 Regulations for provisions relating to an administering 

authority becoming the “appropriate administering authority” in relation to a person.  
(c) 1999 c. 30; see S.I. 2000/1047 and S.I. 2000/1049. 

Page 115



 4

Services and Markets Act 2000 (Regulated Activities) Order 2001 (accepting 

deposits)(a); 

(b) an EEA firm of the kind mentioned in paragraph 5(b)(b) of Schedule 3 to the 2000 Act 

(EEA passport rights) which has permission under paragraph 15 of that Schedule(c) to 

accept deposits; 

(c) the Bank of England or the central bank of an EEA state other than the United Kingdom; 

or 

(d) the National Savings Bank. 

(3) An authority must secure that the deposit-taker may not exercise a right of set-off in relation 

to the account referred to in paragraph (1) in respect of any other account held by the authority or 

any party connected to the authority. 

Investment strategy statement 

7.—(1) An authority must, after taking proper advice, formulate an investment strategy which 

must be in accordance with guidance issued from time to time by the Secretary of State. 

(2) The authority’s investment strategy must include— 

(a) a requirement to invest fund money in a wide variety of investments; 

(b) the authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and types of 

investments; 

(c) the authority’s approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are to be assessed and 

managed; 

(d) the authority’s approach to pooling investments, including the use of collective 

investment vehicles and shared services; 

(e) the authority’s policy on how social, environmental and corporate governance 

considerations are taken into account in the selection, non-selection, retention and 

realisation of investments; and 

(f) the authority’s policy on the exercise of the rights (including voting rights) attaching to 

investments. 

(3) The authority’s investment strategy must set out the maximum percentage of the total value 

of all investments of fund money that it will invest in particular investments or classes of 

investment. 

(4) The authority’s investment strategy may not permit more than 5% of the total value of all 

investments of fund money to be invested in entities which are connected with that authority 

within the meaning of section 212 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 

2007(d). 

(5) The authority must consult such persons as it considers appropriate as to the proposed 

contents of its investment strategy. 

(6) The authority must publish a statement of its investment strategy formulated under paragraph 

(1) and the first such statement must be published no later than 1st April 2017. 

(7) The authority must review and if necessary revise its investment strategy from time to time, 

and at least every 3 years, and publish a statement of any revisions. 

(8) The authority must invest, in accordance with its investment strategy, any fund money that is 

not needed immediately to make payments from the fund. 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) S.I. 2001/544; article 5 was amended by S.I. 2002/682. 
(b) Sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph (5) was substituted by S.I. 2006/3211 and then further substituted by S.I. 2013/3115. 
(c) Paragraph 15 has been amended by S.I. 2003/2066, S.I. 2007/3253, 2012/1906, 2013/1881 and 2015/575. 
(d) 2007 c. 28; section 212 was amended by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (c. 13) and there are 

prospective amendments made by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (c. 2). 

Page 116



 5

Directions by the Secretary of State 

8.—(1) This regulation applies in relation to an authority’s investment functions under these 

Regulations and the 2013 Regulations if the Secretary of State is satisfied that the authority is 

failing to act in accordance with guidance issued under regulation 7(1). 

(2) Where this regulation applies in relation to an authority the Secretary of State may make a 

direction requiring all or any of the following— 

(a) that the authority make such changes to its investment strategy under regulation 7 as the 

Secretary of State considers appropriate, within such period of time as is specified in the 

direction; 

(b) that the authority invest such assets or descriptions of assets as are specified in the 

direction in such manner as is specified in the direction; 

(c) that the investment functions of the authority under these Regulations and under the 2013 

Regulations be exercised by the Secretary of State or a person nominated by the Secretary 

of State for a period specified in the direction or for so long as the Secretary of State 

considers appropriate; 

(d) that the authority comply with any instructions of the Secretary of State or the Secretary 

of State’s nominee in relation to the exercise of its investment functions under these 

Regulations and the 2013 Regulations and provide such assistance as the Secretary of 

State or the Secretary of State’s nominee may require for the purpose of exercising those 

functions. 

(3) Before making a decision whether to issue a direction under this regulation, and as to the 

contents of any direction, the Secretary of State must consult the authority concerned. 

(4) In reaching a decision whether to issue a direction under this regulation, and as to the 

contents of any direction, the Secretary of State must have regard to such evidence of the manner 

in which the authority is discharging or proposes to discharge its investment functions as is 

reasonably available including— 

(a) any report from an actuary appointed under section 13(4) of the Public Service Pensions 

Act 2013 (employer contributions in funded schemes) or by the authority under 

regulation 62 of the 2013 Regulations (actuarial valuations of pension funds); 

(b) any report from the local pension board appointed by the authority or from the Local 

Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board(a); 

(c) any representations made by the authority in response to the consultation under paragraph 

(3); 

(d) any other evidence that the Secretary of State regards as relevant to whether the authority 

has been complying with these Regulations or acting in accordance with guidance issued 

under regulation 7(1). 

(5) If the Secretary of State is of the opinion that additional information is required to enable a 

decision to be taken whether to issue a direction under this regulation, or as to what any direction 

should contain, the Secretary of State may carry out such inquiries as the Secretary of State 

considers appropriate to obtain that information. 

(6) An authority must comply with any request from the Secretary of State intended to facilitate 

the obtaining of information under paragraph (5). 

Investment managers 

9.—(1) Instead of managing and investing fund money itself, an authority may appoint one or 

more investment managers to manage and invest fund money, or any part of such money, on its 

behalf. 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) The Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board is established by regulation 110 of the 2013 Regulations (which 

was inserted by S.I. 2015/57). 

Page 117



 6

(2) But the authority may only appoint an investment manager if the authority complies with 

paragraphs (3) and (4). 

(3) The authority must reasonably believe that the investment manager’s ability in and practical 

experience of financial matters make that investment manager suitably qualified to make 

investment decisions for it. 

(4) The authority must take proper advice in relation to the appointment and the terms on which 

the appointment is made. 

Investments under section 11(1) of the Trustee Investments Act 1961 

10. An authority to which section 11 of the Trustee Investments Act 1961(a) applies may invest, 

without any restriction as to quantity, in any investment made in accordance with a scheme under 

section 11(1) of that Act (which enables the Treasury to approve schemes for local authorities to 

invest in collectively). 

Consequential amendments 

11.—(1) The 2013 Regulations are amended as follows. 

(2) For regulation 57(1)(i) (pension fund annual report) substitute— 

 “(i) the current version of the investment strategy under regulation 7 (investment 

strategy statement) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management 

and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016;”. 

(3) For regulation 58(4)(b) (funding strategy statement) substitute— 

“(b) the current version of the investment strategy under regulation 7 (investment 

strategy statement) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.”. 

(4) For regulation 69(2)(b) (payment by Scheme employers to administering authorities) 

substitute— 

“(b) paragraph (1)(c) does not apply where the cost of the administration of the fund is 

paid out of the fund under regulation 4(5) (management of a pension fund) of the 

Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2016.”. 

Revocations and transitional provision 

12.—(1) The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2009(b) and the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 

Funds) (Amendment) Regulations 2013(c) are revoked. 

(2) Regulations 11 (investment policy and investment of pension fund money), 12 (statement of 

investment principles), 14 (restrictions on investments), 15 (requirements for increased limits) of 

and Schedule 1 (table of limits on investments) to the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 continue to have effect in relation to an 

authority until the date when that authority first publishes its investment strategy statement under 

regulation 7. 

(3) For the period starting on 1st November 2016 and ending on whichever is the earlier of the 

date the authority publishes its investment strategy statement under regulation 7, or 31st March 

2017, regulation 7 applies to an authority only to the extent necessary to enable that authority to 

formulate and publish its investment strategy statement. 

 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 1961 c. 62; section 11(1) was amended by the London Government Act 1963 (c. 4) and the Local Government Act 1985 (c. 

51). 
(b) S.I. 2009/3093. 
(c) S.I. 2013/410. 

Page 118



 7

 

 

We consent to the making of these Regulations 

 David Evennett 

 Guto Bebb 

 Two of the Lords Commissioners of Her Majesty’s Treasury 

 

 

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

 

 Marcus Jones 

 Parliamentary Under Secretary of State 

21st September 2016 Department for Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Regulations) 

These Regulations make provision in relation to the management and investment of pension funds 

held by administering authorities required to maintain such funds by the Local Government 

Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 

Regulations 2 and 3 respectively contain definitions and make provision that the restrictions 

imposed by the regulations bind authorities which have the “power of general competence” in the 

exercise of that power. 

Regulations 4, 5 and 6 respectively set out which payments must be made into and out of the 

pension fund, restrict powers of borrowing and require fund money to be in a separate account. 

Regulations 7 and 8 respectively require authorities to publish an investment strategy in 

accordance with guidance issued by the Secretary of State and enable the Secretary of State to 

issue a direction to any authority which fails to comply with its statutory obligations as regards its 

pension fund or which fails to act in accordance with the guidance. 

Regulations 9 and 10 respectively allow for the appointment of investment managers and 

investment in Treasury approved schemes. 

Regulations 11 and 12 respectively make consequential amendments relating to the investment 

strategy published under regulation 7 and transitional provisions. 

No impact assessment has been produced because it has no impact on business, charities or 

voluntary bodies and minimal impact on the public sector. 
  

  

© Crown copyright 2016 

Printed and published in the UK by The Stationery Office Limited under the authority and superintendence of Carol Tullo, 

Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office and Queen’s Printer of Acts of Parliament. 

Page 119



£6.00 

UK2016092116   09/2016   19585 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2016/946 

 

Page 120



 

September 2016 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

Local Government Pension Scheme 

 

Guidance on Preparing and Maintaining an Investment 
Strategy Statement 

 

Page 121



 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2016 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this 
licence,http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ or write to the 
Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: 
psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Department for Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK  

September 2016 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-4897-4

Page 122

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/dclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK


 

 

Foreword  

This guidance has been prepared to assist administering authorities in the local 
government pension scheme in England and Wales with the formulation, publication and 
maintenance of their Investment Strategy Statement. 

New investment regulationsto be introduced later this year will include a requirement for 
administering authorities to publish new Investment Strategy Statements by 1st April 2017 
in accordance with the guidance set out below.   
 
Administering authorities will be required to act in accordance with the provisions in this 
guidance when Regulation 7 of the Local Govenrment Pension Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 comes into force.  
 

Part 1 
 
Introduction and background 
 
This guidance has been prepared to assist administering authorities in the formulation, 
publication and maintenance of their Investment Strategy Statement required by 
Regulation 7 of The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2016. Unless otherwise stated, references to regulations are to the 
2016 Regulations.  
 
An administering authority’s duty to prepare, maintain and review their Funding Strategy 
Statement under Regulation 58 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013 (“the 2013 Regulations”) is unaffected.    
 
Statutory background 
 
Regulation 7(1) requires an administering authority to formulate an investment strategy 
which must be in accordance with guidance issued by the Secretary of State.  
 
The Investment Strategy Statement required by Regulation 7 must include:- 
 

a) A requirement to invest money in a wide variety of investments; 

b) The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and types of 

investments; 

c) The authority’s approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are to be 

measured and managed; 

d) The authority’s approach to pooling investments, including the use of collective 

investment vehicles and shared services;  

e) The authority’s policy on how social, environmental or corporate governance 

considerations are taken into account in the selection, non-selection, retention and 

realisation of investments; and 

Page 123



 

 

f) The authority’s policy on the exercise of rights (including voting rights) attaching to 

investments. 

The Investment Strategy Statement must also set out the maximum percentage of the total 
value of all investments of fund money that it will invest in particular investments or classes 
of investment. This, in effect, replaces Schedule 1 to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 (“the 2009 
Regulations”).  
 
Under Regulation 7(6) and (7), the statements must be published by 1st April 2017 and 
then kept under review and revised from time to time and at least every three years.  
Under transitional arrangements, key elements of the 2009 Regulations relating to 
investment policies will continue in force until such time that the Investment Strategy 
Statement under Regulation 7 is published. 
 
Directions by the Secretary of State 
 
Regulation 8 enables the Secretary of State to issue a Direction if he is satisfied that an 
administering authority is failing to act in accordance with this guidance.  
 
One of the main aims of the new investment regulations is to transfer investment decisions 
and their consideration more fully to administering authorities within a new prudential 
framework. Administering authorities will therefore be responsible for setting their policy on 
asset allocation, risk and diversity, amongst other things. In relaxing the regulatory 
framework for scheme investments, administering authorities will be expected to make 
their investment decisions within a prudential framework with less central prescription. It is 
important therefore that the regulations include a safeguard to ensure that this less 
prescriptive approach is used appropriately and in the best long term interests of scheme 
beneficiaries and taxpayers.  
 
Where there is evidence to suggest that an authority is acting unreasonably, it may be 
appropriate for the Secretary of State to consider intervention, but only where this is 
justified and where the relevant parties have been consulted. Regulation 8 includes a 
number of safeguards, including full consultation with the relevant authority, to ensure that 
the proposed power is used appropriately, proportionately and only where justified by the 
evidence.   
 
The Secretary of State’s power of intervention does not interfere with the duty of elected 
members under general public law principles to make investment decisions in the best 
long-term interest of scheme beneficiaries and taxpayers.  
 
The power of Direction can be used in all or any of the following ways:- 
 

a) To require an administering authority to make changes to  its investment strategy in 

a given timescale; 

b) To require an administering authority to invest assets as specified in the Direction; 

c) To transfer the investment functions of an administering authority to the Secretary 

of State or a person nominated by the Secretary of State; and 

Page 124



 

 

d) To require an administering authority to comply with any instructions from either the 

Secretary of State or the appointed person in circumstances when the investment 

function has been transferred.  

Before issuing any Direction, the Secretary of State must consult the administering 
authority concerned and before reaching a decision, must have regard to all relevant 
evidence including reports under section 13(4) of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013; 
reports from the scheme advisory board or from the relevant local pension board and any 
representations made in response to the consultation with the relevant administering 
authority. The Secretary of State also has the power to commission any other evidence or 
additional information that is considered necessary.  
 
General 
 
Part 2 below sets out the guidance for authorities under each of the component parts of 
Regulation 7.  The specific requirements under each heading are shown at the end of 
each sub section in a text box and in bold type. It is important to note, however, that these 
lists are not exclusive and that administering authorities are also required to comply with 
general public law principles and act within a prudential framework. 
 

Part 2 
 
Regulation 7(2) (a) - Investment of money in a wide variety of investments  
 
A properly diversified portfolio of assets should include a range of asset classes to help 
reduce overall portfolio risk. If a single investment class is not performing well, 
performance should be balanced by other investments which are doing better at that time. 
A diversified portfolio also helps to reduce volatility. 
 
For example, the range of asset classes could include UK and overseas equities of 
different sectors; bonds with varying maturity; alternative investment assets such as 
private equity, infrastructure and cash instruments. 
 
However, this guidance does not purport to prescribe the specific asset classes over which 
fund monies must be diversified. This remains a decision for individual administering 
authorities to make. Administering authorities are expected to be able to demonstrate that 
those responsible for making investment decisions have taken and acted on proper advice 
and that diversification decisions have been taken in the best long term interest of scheme 
beneficiaries. 
 
An administering authority must also be able to demonstrate that they review their 
diversification policy from time to time to ensure that their overall target return is not put at 
risk. 
 
Summary of requirements 
 
In formulating and maintaining their policy on diversification, administering authorities:- 
 

 Must take proper advice 

Page 125



 

 

 Must set out clearly the balance between different types of investments 

 Must identify the risks associated with their overall investment strategy 

 Must periodically review their policy to mitigate against any such risks  

Regulation 7(2)(b) - The suitability of particular investments and types of 
investments  
 
The concept of suitability is a critical test for whether or not a particular investment should 
be made. Although individual investment classes will have varying degrees of suitability in 
the context of an authority’s funding and investment strategies, the overall aim of the fund 
must be to consider suitability against the need to meet pension obligations as they fall 
due. 
 
Assessing the suitability of different investment classes involves a number of factors 
including, for example, performance benchmarks, appetite for risk, policy on non-financial 
factors and perhaps most importantly, funding strategy.   
 
What constitutes suitability is clearly a matter for individual administering authorities to 
consider and decide in the light of their own funding and investment strategies, but there is 
a clear expectation that the assessment should be broadly consistent across all 
administering authorities. Administering authorities must therefore take and act on proper 
advice in assessing the suitability of their investment portfolio and give full details of that 
assessment in their Investment Strategy Statement. 
 
Summary of requirements 
 
In formulating their policy on the suitability of particular investments and types of 
investments, administering authorities:- 
 

 Must take proper advice 

 Should ensure that their policy on asset allocation is compatible with 

achieving their locally determined solvency target 

 Must periodically review the suitability of their investment portfolio to ensure 

that returns, risk and volatility are all appropriately managed and are 

consistent with their overall investment strategy 

Regulation 7(2)(c) - The approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are to be 
measured and managed 
 
The appetite of individual administering authorities for taking risk when making investment 
decisions can only be a matter for local consideration and determination, subject to the 
aim and purpose of a pension fund to maximise the returns from investment returns within 
reasonable risk parameters. 
 
Some of the key risks that an administering authority needs to be aware include financial, 
demographic or regulatory risks. A detailed summary of the identification of all risks and 
counter-measures to mitigate against them is beyond the scope of this guidance, but 
administering authorities will continue to have regard to the requirement under Regulation 

Page 126



 

 

58 of the 2013 Regulations to have regard to the “Guidance on Preparing and Maintaining 
a Funding Strategy Statement” published by CIPFA, which includes a section on risk and 
the ways in which it can be measured and managed.  
 
Summary of requirements 
 
In formulating their policy on their approach to risk, administering authorities:- 
 

 Must take proper advice 

 Should clearly state their appetite for risk 

 Should be aware of the risks that may impact on their overall funding and 

investment strategies 

 Should take measures to counter those risks 

 Should periodically review the assumptions on which their investment 

strategy is based 

 Should formulate contingency plans to limit the impact of risks that might 

materialise 

Regulation 7(2)(d) - The approach to pooling investments, including the use of 
collective investment vehicles and shared services  
 
All authorities must commit to a suitable pool to achieve benefits of scale. Administering 
authorities must confirm their chosen investment pool meets the investment reform and 
criteria published in November 2015, or to the extent that it does not, that Government is 
content for it to continue.  
 
Any change which results in failure to meet the criteria must be reported by the 
administering authority, and/or pool, to the Secretary of State and the Scheme Advisory 
Board. 
 
Administering authorities should set out their approach to pooling and the proportion of 
assets that will be invested through the pool. This must include the structure and 
governance arrangements and the mechanisms by which the authority can hold the pool to 
account.  
 
Where services are shared or jointly procured, the administering authority must set out the 
rationale underpinning this and the cost benefit of this, as opposed to pooling. 
 
Administering authorities must provide a summary of assets to be held outside of the pool, 
and how this demonstrates value for money. The progress of asset transfers to the pool 
must be reported annually against implementation plans and submitted to the Scheme 
Advisory Board. Where it is possible that an asset could be pooled in the future, authorities 
must set a date for review and criteria that need to be met before the asset will be pooled.  
 
Summary of requirements 
 
In formulating and maintaining their approach to pooling investment, including the use of 
collective investment vehicles and shared services, an administering authority must:- 

Page 127



 

 

 

 Confirm the pooling arrangements meet the criteria set out in the November 

2015 investment reform and criteria guidance at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/479925/criteria_and_guidance_for_investment_reform.pdf, or have been 

otherwise agreed by the Government 

 Notify the Scheme Advisory Board and the Secretary of State of any changes 

which result in failure to meet the criteria 

 Set out the proportion of assets that will be invested through pooling 

 Set out the structure and governance arrangements of the pool and the 

mechanisms by which the authority can hold the pool to account 

 Set out the services that will be shared or jointly procured 

 Provide a summary of assets that the authority has determined are not 

suitable for investing through the pool along with its rationale for doing so, 

and how this demonstrates value for money;  

 Regularly review any assets, and no less than every 3 years, that the authority 

has previously determined should be held outside of the pool, ensuring this 

continues to demonstrate value for money 

 Submit an annual report on the progress of asset transfers to the Scheme 

Advisory Board 

 
Regulation 7(2)(e) -  How social, environmental or corporate governance 
considerations are taken into account in the selection, non-selection, retention and 
realisation of investments  
 
When making investment decisions, administering authorities must take proper advice and 
act prudently. In the context of the local government pension scheme, a prudent approach 
to investment can be described as a duty to discharge statutory responsibilities with care, 
skill, prudence and diligence. This approach is the standard that those responsible for 
making investment decisions must operate.  
 
Although administering authorities are not subject to trust law, those responsible for 
making investment decisions must comply with general legal principles governing the 
administration of scheme investments. They must also act in accordance with ordinary 
public law principles, in particular, the ordinary public law of reasonableness. They risk 
challenge if a decision they make is so unreasonable that no person acting reasonably 
could have made it. 
The law is generally clear that schemes should consider any factors that are financially 
material to the performance of their investments, including social, environmental and 

Page 128



 

 

corporate governance factors, and over the long term, dependent on the time horizon over 
which their liabilities arise. 
 
However, the Government has made clear that using pension policies to pursue boycotts, 
divestment and sanctions against foreign nations and UK defence industries are 
inappropriate, other than where formal legal sanctions, embargoes and restrictions have 
been put in place by the Government.  
 
Although schemes should make the pursuit of a financial return their predominant concern, 
they may also take purely non-financial considerations into account provided that doing so 
would not involve significant risk of financial detriment to the scheme and where they have 
good reason to think that scheme members would support their decision. 
 
Investments that deliver social impact as well as a financial return are often described as 
“social investments”. In some cases, the social impact is simply in addition to the financial 
return; for these investments the positive social impact will always be compatible with the 
prudent approach. In other cases, some part of the financial return may be forgone in 
order to generate the social impact. These investments will also be compatible with the 
prudent approach providing administering authorities have good reason to think scheme 
members share the concern for social impact, and there is no risk of significant financial 
detriment to the fund. 
 
Summary of requirements 
 
In formulating and maintaining their policy on social, environmental and corporate 
governance factors, an administering authority:- 
 

 Must take proper advice 

 Should explain the extent to which the views of  their local pension board and 
other interested parties who they consider may have an interest will be taken 
into account when making an investment decision based on non-financial 
factors  

 Must explain the extent to which non-financial factors will be taken into 
account in the selection, retention and realisation of investments 

 Should not pursue policies that are contrary to UK foreign policy or UK 
defence policy 

 Should explain their approach to social investments 

 
Regulation 7(2)(f) - The exercise of rights (including voting rights) attaching to 
investments 
 
The long-term investment interests of administering authorities are enhanced by the 
highest standards of corporate governance and corporate responsibility amongst the 
companies in which they invest. Poor governance can negatively impact shareholder 
value.  
 
Stewardship aims to promote the long term success of companies in such a way that the 
ultimate providers of capital also prosper. Stewardship activities include monitoring and 
engaging with companies on matters such as strategy, performance, risk, capital structure 

Page 129



 

 

and corporate governance, including culture and remuneration. Engagement by 
administering authorities is purposeful and can identify problems through continuing 
dialogue with companies on these matters as well as on issues that are the immediate 
subject of votes at general meetings.  
 
Engagement enables administering authorities as long term shareholders to exert a 
positive influence on companies to promote strong governance, manage risk, increase 
accountability and drive improvements in the management of environmental, social and 
corporate governance issues.  
 
Administering authorities are encouraged to consider the best way to engage with 
companies to promote their long-term success, either directly, in partnership with other 
investors or through their investment managers, and explain their policy on stewardship 
with reference to the Stewardship Code. Administering authorities should become 
Signatories to the Code and state how they implement the seven principles and guidance 
of the Code, which apply on a “comply or explain” basis.  
 
Concern has been expressed in the past about the scope of Regulation 12(2)(g) of the 
2009 Regulations which, in effect, allowed each administering authority to decide whether 
or not to adopt a policy on the exercise of the rights attaching to investments, including 
voting rights. To increase awareness and promote engagement, Regulation 7(2)(f) now 
requires every administering authority to formulate a policy that reflects their stewardship 
responsibilities. 
 
Summary of requirements 
 
In formulating their policy on the exercise of rights, administering authorities:- 
 

 Must give reasons in their Investment Strategy Statement for not adopting a 

policy of exercising rights, including voting rights, attaching to investments 

 Should, where appropriate, explain their policy on stewardship with reference 

to the Stewardship Code 

 Should strongly encourage their fund managers, if any, to vote their company 

shares in line with their policy under Regulation 7(2)(f) 

 May wish to appoint an independent proxy voting agent to exercise their 

proxy voting and monitor the voting activity of the managers, if any, and for 

reports on voting activity to be submitted annually to the administering 

authority 

 Should publish a report of voting activity as part of their pension fund annual 

report under Regulation 57 of the 2013 Regulations 

 
 
 

 

Page 130



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

1. Effective decision-making

Administrating authorities should ensure that : SUMMARY: FULLY COMPLIANT

(a) Decisions are taken by persons or 
organisations with the skills, knowledge, 
advice and resources necessary to make them 
effectively and monitor their implementation; 
and

1) Administering authorities should have a designated group of 
elected members appointed to a committee to whom responsibility 
for pension fund activities have been assigned.

A designated group of elected members, reflecting the political 
balance of the Council, have been appointed to a Pensions 
Committee who are responsible for pension fund functions, as 
specified in the Council's constitution  (Part 2).

(b) those persons or organisations have 
sufficient expertise to be able to evaluate and 
challenge the advice they receive, and manage 
conflicts of interest

2) Roles of the officers with responsibility for ensuring the proper 
running of the administration authority's and the committee's 
business should be set out clearly. The rules drawn up should 
provide a framework for the committee's code of business and 
include a process for the declaration of conflicts of interest.

Roles of the officers with responsibility for the day to day running of 
the administering authority's and the committee's business is 
specified in the Council's constitution  (Part 3). Declarations of 
interests are considered at the start of each committee meeting.

3) The committee should be governed by specific terms of 
reference, standing orders and operational procedures that define 
those responsible for taking investment decisions, including officers 
and/or external investment managers.

The Pensions Committee is governed by specific terms of reference 
and is specified in the Council's constitution (Part 3), officer functions 
are also specified (Part 3).

4) The process of delegation should be described in the 
constitution and record delegated powers relating to the committee. 
This should be shown in a public document, such as the statement 
of investment principles.

The delegation process for the day to day running of the pension 
scheme is specified in the Council's constitution (Part 3). The 
Council's constitution is available via the Council's 
website:www.havering.gov.uk, follow links council, democracy and 
council, constitution of the council or select the link below. 
Havering ‐ Library folder ‐ Constitution

5) In describing the delegation process, roles of members, officers, 
external advisors and managers should be differentiated and 
specified.

Roles of members, officers, external advisors and managers are no 
longer required to be specified in the ISS 

6) Where possible, appointments to the committee should be 
based on consideration of relevant skills, experience and 
continuity.

Where possible, appointments made to the committee are based on 
consideration of relevant skills, experience and continuity.

P
age 131



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

7) The committee should ensure that it has appropriate skills, and 
is run in a way designed to facilitate effective decision making. It 
should conduct skills and knowledge audits of its membership at 
regular intervals. The adoptation of a training plan and an annual 
update of training and development needs would represent good 
practice to demonstrate that the committee is actively managing 
the development of its members. A statement should appear in the 
annual report describing actions taken and progress made.

Structured training of elected members ensures that members are 
proficient in investment issues. The Council incorporates training 
within its forward looking business plan for the fund. Forward looking 
business plan is presented at the first Pensions Committee meeting 
of the financial year and reported in the Pension Fund Annual 
Report. Members agreed to completing the CIPFA's  Knowledge and 
Skills self assessment of training needs. The training plan 
incorporates the outcomes of the self assessments. Following the 
establishment of a Local Pension Board (LPB) a joint training 
strategy will be developed that will incorporate training of Pension 
Committee members with LPB members, where appropriate.

8) The committee review its structure and composition regularly 
and provide each member with a handbook containing committee's 
terms of reference, standing orders and operational procedures. It 
is good practice to establish an investment or other subcommittee 
to provide focus on a range of issues.

Council recommends that the membership of the Pensions 
Committee remains static for the life of their term in office to facilitate 
knowledge continuity and helps to maintains expertise within the 
committee. Elected members are provided with  a copy of their roles 
and responsibilities. The committee has not established any 
subcommittees as the Pensions Committee focuses only on the 
activities of the pension fund.

9) The committee may wish to establish subcommittees or panels 
to take responsibility for progressing significant areas of activity 
between meetings.

The Council does have a pension panel that exercises discretions 
within the LGPS and deals with the Internal Dispute Resolution 
Procedure regulations. 

10) The committee should obtain proper advice from suitably 
qualified persons, including officers. The CFO should assess the 
need for proper advice and recommend to the committee when 
such advice is necessary from an external advisor. The committee 
should ensure that it has sufficient internal and external resources 
to carry out its responsibilities effectively.

The Pensions Committee has appointed two advisors – Investment 
advisor and Actuarial advisor.    The Pension Fund Manager 
provides in house support to members. The Pension Committee is 
also supported by the Statatory Swection 151 and the Council's 
pension administration and payroll sections.  Internal and external 
resources are considered as part of the business plan.

11) Allowances paid to elected members should be set out in a 
published allowances scheme and reviewed regularly.

Members of the Pensions Committee expenses are reimbursed in 
line with the Council’s constitution (Part 6 -‘Members Allowance 
Scheme’)

12) Employees appointed as member representatives should be 
allowed adequate time off from normal duties to attend meetings.

Havering Council's conditions of service permits special leave up to a 
number of specified days for employees who act as a member of a 
publicly elected body.

13) Papers and related documentation should be clear and 
comprehensive, and circulated to members of the committee 
sufficiently in advance of the meeting.

Committee policy established and ensures that target dates for report 
clearance and agenda dispatch targets are met. Members receives 
agendas five working days prior to meeting date. 

P
age 132



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

14) The CFO should be given the responsibility for the provision of 
a training plan and ensure that members are fully aware of their 
statutory & fiduciary duties.

The Training Plan is incorporated within the Business Plan and 
includes a log of training undertaken and attendance. Indicative 
future training plans are also included in the business plan.

15) The CFO should ensure that a medium term business plan is 
created and contains: financial estimates for the investment and 
administration of the fund, appropriate provision for training, major 
milestones and issues to be considered, key targets and method of 
measurement. The business plan should be submitted to the 
committee for consideration.

The Business Plan is considered by the Pensions Committee and 
contains: financial estimates for the investment and administration of 
the fund, appropriate provision for training, major milestones and 
issues to be considered, key targets and method of measurement. 
The business plan also incorporates the training plan.

16) Business plan to review the level of internal and external 
resources the committee needs to carry out its functions.

Medium term Business Plan is considered by the Pensions 
Committee. The business plan includes the outcome of an internal 
review of resources, when appropriate. 

17) Administrating Authorities are required to prepare, publish and 
maintain statements of compliance against a set of good practice 
principles for scheme governance and stewardship . 

The Pension Fund prepares, publishes and maintains a statement of 
compliance against a set of good practice principles. The statement 
shows the extent to which the administrating authority complies with 
the principles and is reviewed annually. 

18) Administrating authorities are required to publish a Governance 
Compliance Statement in accordance with CLG guidance. 

The Governance Compliance Statement is included within the 
Annual Report and is available on the Council's website: 
www.havering.gov.uk (under Council, democracy and elections, 
council budgets and spending, then Pension Fund) or select the link 
to the pensions page below.
Pension Fund page

19) The fund's Administration Strategy documents should refer to 
all aspects of the committee's activities relevant to the relationship 
between the committee and the employing authorities.

In line with regulations, the fund currently does not have an 
administration strategy, consideration of adopting this strategy is 
reviewed regularly. 

2. Clear objectives
SUMMARY: FULLY COMPLIANT

The committee should: As part of the Valuation process consideration is given, with full 
consultation of the fund's actuary, to :          

(a)  An overall investment objective (s) should be 
set out for the fund that takes account of the 
scheme's liabilities, the potential impact on local 
tax payers, the strength of the covenant for non-
local authority employers, and these should be 
clearly communicated to advisors and 
investment managers.

1) demonstrate that in setting an overall objective of the fund it 
has considered: the fund's liabilities in the context of expected net 
contribution inflows; the adequacy of the fund's assets to meet its 
liabilities; the maturity profile of the fund's liabilities and its cash 
flow situation.

the fund's liabilities in the context of the expected net contribution 
inflows; adequacy of the assets to meet its liabilities; maturity profile 
and its cash flows;

P
age 133



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

2) consider the nature of membership profiles and financial 
position of the employers in the fund and decide, on the advice of 
actuaries, whether or not to establish sub funds.

membership profiles; financial position of the employers and 
whether or not to establish a sub fund;

3) seek to include the achievement of value for money and 
efficiency in its objectives and all aspects of its operation

value for money;

4) with the CFO need to give consideration to the general and 
strategic impact of the funding levels and employer contribution 
rates on Council tax levels over time. The responsibility of the 
actuary to keep employer contribution rates as constant as 
possible over time is the primary means of achieving this.

and the general and strategic impact of the funding levels and 
employer contribution rates on Council tax levels over time.              

The Fund's investment policies and objectives are laid out in the 
Funding Strategy Statement (FSS)  and can be found on the 
Councils website, www.havering.gov.uk, council, democracy and 
elections, council budgets and spending, then pension fund or by 
selecting the link below. 
Pension Fund page

5) consider its own appetite for risk and that of the employers in 
the fund when considering advice on the mix of asset classes and 
on active and passive management. Consider all assets classes 
currently available to members.

The Pensions Committee considers, in consultation with the fund's 
investment advisor, its own appetite for risk when setting the 
investment strategy and considers the mix of asset classes and 
weighs up the risk v return in considering whether the assets are 
managed on a passive or active basis.   The Investment Strategy 
currently includes a mix of different asset classes which are 
managed actively and passively. 

6) take proper advice and should appoint advisors in open 
competition and set them clear strategic investment performance 
objectives. The committee should state how the advisors' overall 
performance will be measured and the relevant short, medium 
and longer term performance measurement framework. All 
external procurement should be conducted within the EU 
procurement regulations and the administrating authority's own 
procurement rules.

The Pensions Committee appoints external advisors in line with EU 
procurement rules and the administrating authorities own 
procurement rules. The committee states how performance is to be 
measured for the advisors and a service review is undertaken and 
reported to the committee annually. 

7) also demonstrate that  it has sought proper advice, including 
from specialist independent advisors, as to how this might be 
expressed in terms of the expected or required annual return on 
the fund and how it should be measured against stated 
benchmarks.

After full consultation with the Council’s Actuary and Investment 
advisors a clear financial and therefore fully measurable investment 
objective for the fund has been set.

8) consider when it would be desirable to receive advice based on 
an asset/liability study and make appropriate arrangements.

The Pensions Committee commission the fund's investment advisor 
and actuary to undertake an asset/liability study as appropriate, when 
compiling the investment strategy

P
age 134



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

9) evaluate the split between equities and bonds before 
considering any other asset class. It should state the range of 
investments it is prepared to include and give reasons why some 
asset classes may have been excluded. Strategic asset 
allocations decision should receive a level of attention (and, 
where relevant, advisory or management fees) that fully reflects 
the contribution they can make towards achieving the fund's 
investment objectives.

All asset classes were considered as part of the investment strategy 
review process and the range of investments are included in the 
Fund's ISS 

10) have a full understanding of the transaction-related costs 
incurred, including commissions, and have a strategy for ensuring 
that these costs are properly controlled.

 Transaction costs are disclosed in the statement of accounts. 

11) Understanding transaction-related costs should be a clear 
consideration in letting and monitoring a contract and where 
appropriate, independent and expert advice should be taken, 
particularly in relation to transition management.

Understanding transaction costs are considered and where 
appropriate expert advice would be sought. Costs are considered in 
the decision making process when any changes to the investment 
strategy are under discussion.

12) The use of peer group benchmarks should be for comparison 
purposes only and not to define the overall fund objective.

The committee uses the services of WM Performance Measurers for 
independent monitoring of performance against benchmarks. Peer 
group benchmark performance is used for comparison purposes 
only.

3. Risk and liabilities
SUMMARY: FULLY COMPLIANT

a) In setting and reviewing their investment 
strategy, administering authorities should take 
account of the form and structure of liabilities.

The committee should:

b) These include the implications for local tax 
payers, the strength of the covenant for 
participating employers, the risk of their default 
and longevity risk.

1) set an overall investment strategy for the fund that: represents 
its best judgement of what is necessary to meet the fund's 
liabilities given its understanding of the contributions likely to be 
received from employer (s) and employees; takes account of the 
committee's attitude to risk, and specifically its willingness to 
accept underperformance due to market conditions.

2) ensure that its investment strategy is suitable for its objectives 
and takes account of the ability to pay of the employers in the 
fund.
3) consider the extent to which the cash flow from the fund's 
assets should attempt to match the liabilities and the relevant 
timing. It should also consider the volatility of returns it is 
prepared to accept.

A full investment strategy review was carried out following the 
actuarial valuation results in 2016. The Fund has formulated its own 
asset allocation based on identified liabilities particular to the fund. 
The Fund's investment strategy was adopted having considered the 
members attitude to risks and are covered in the ISS and FSS.

P
age 135



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

4) be aware of its willingness to accept underperformance due to 
market conditions. If performance benchmarks are set against 
relevant indices, variations in market conditions will be built in, 
and acceptable tolerances above and below market returns will 
be stated explicitly. Benchmarks are likely to be measured over 
periods of up to seven years.
5) believe that regardless of market conditions, on certain asset 
classes, a certain rate of return is acceptable and feasible. 

6) state whether a scheme specific benchmark has been 
considered and established and what level of risk, both active and 
market risk, is acceptable to it.

Specific benchmarks are considered as part of any investment 
strategy review and monitored on an on-going basis.

7) receive a risk assessment in relation to the valuation of its 
liabilities and assets as part of the triennial valuations. Where 
there is reasonable doubt during performance monitoring of the 
fund about valuation of assets and liabilities the CFO should 
ensure that a risk assessment is reported to the committee, with 
any appropriate recommendations for action to clarify and/or 
mitigate the risks.
8) at the time of the triennial valuations, analyse factors affecting 
long-term performance and receive advice on how these impact 
on the scheme and its liabilities. The committee should also ask 
this question of its actuaries and other advisors during 
discussions on performance.
9) use reports from internal and external auditors to satisfy itself 
about the standards of internal control applied to the scheme to 
its administration and investment operations. Ensuring effective 
internal control is an important responsibility of the CFO.

The external auditors opinion is included in the Pension Fund Annual 
Report. Internal control audits for pensions are undertaken frequently 
by internal auditors and are reported to Audit Committee. Any 
identified issues would be reported to the Pensions Committee. 
Audited Internal Control reports are submitted by the Investment 
Managers and checked by officers for matters of concerns.

10) The fund's Statement of Investment Principles should include a 
description of the risk assessment framework used for potential 
and existing investments.

The Pension Fund's Statement of Investment Principles includes a 
description of the risk assessment framework.

11) Objectives for the overall fund should not be expressed in 
terms that have no relationship to the fund's liabilities, such as 
performance relative to other pension funds, or to a market index.

Objectives for the overall fund are set having regard to: the 
advisability of investing fund money in a wide range of investments; 
the suitability of particular investments and types of investments and 
the results of asset/ liability modelling.

The Fund receives a risk assessment as part of the Valuation 
process with full consultation of the Fund's Actuary. Performance is 
monitored and reported to the committee on a quarterly basis and 
includes recommendations for action where appropriate. Liabilities 
are considered as part of the triennial valuations and mid valuations, 
however cash flow is monitored monthly and reported to committee 
quarterly.

The Fund in aggregate has a liability related benchmark (strategic 
benchmark). However for individual mandates, the fund managers 
have a specific benchmark (tactical benchmark) and a performance 
target that may be based on broad indices or composites. The 
targets are shown in the Fund's ISS.

P
age 136



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

12) The Annual Report of the pension fund should include an 
overall risk assessment in relation to each of the fund's activities 
and factors expected to have an impact on the financial and 
reputational health of the fund. This could be done by summarising 
the contents of a regularly updated risk register. An analysis of the 
risks should be reported periodically to the committee, together 
with necessary actions to mitigate risk and assessment of any 
residual risk.

The Pension Fund Annual Report includes an overall risk 
assessment in relation to each of the fund's activities and includes a 
copy of the Risk Register. This will be reported periodically to the 
Pensions Committee.

4. Performance assessment
SUMMARY: FULLY COMPLIANT

Investments

a) Arrangements should be in place for the 
formal measurement of performance of the 
investments, investment managers and advisors

The committee should:

b) Administering authorities should also 
periodically make a formal assessment of their 
own effectiveness as a decision- making body 
and report on this to scheme members

1) explicitly consider, for each asset class invested, whether active 
or passive management would be more appropriate; where it 
believes active management has the potential to achieve higher 
returns, set both targets and risk controls that reflect this, giving 
managers the freedom to pursue genuinely active strategies; if 
setting limits on divergence from an index, ensure that they reflect 
the approximations involved in index construction and selection. 

As part of any investment strategy review the Pension Fund 
considered and adopted its own asset allocation in full consultation 
with the Fund's investment advisor, it considered and has adopted 
active and passive management and appropriate targets and risk 
controls set. 

2) explicitly consider, in consultation with its investment manager 
(s), whether the index benchmarks are appropriate, and in 
particular, whether the construction of the index creates incentives 
to follow sub-optimal investment strategies 
3) Where active management is selected, divergence from a 
benchmark should not be so constrained as to imply index tracking 
(i.e. passive management) or so wide as to imply unconstrained 
risk.
4) Performance targets in relation to benchmark should be related 
to clear time periods and risk limits and monitoring arrangements 
should include reports on tracking errors.

Performance monitoring reports are presented to the committee 
quarterly and covers the latest quarter, rolling one year and three 
year performance. Where appropriate fund managers will report 
tracking errors. Each Fund Manager presents their performance 
reports to the committee on alternate quarters, on each other 
alternate quarters they meet with officers. Exceptions to this are the 
pooled managers and the absolute return manager who reports to 
officers and the committee once a year.

Benchmarks are set in agreement with the fund's investment 
manager (s)

P
age 137



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

5) Although returns will be measured on a quarterly basis a longer 
time frame (three to seven years) should be used to assess the 
effectiveness of the fund management arrangements and review 
the continuing compatibility of the asset/liability profile.

The asset /liability profile is considered at each triennial valuation.

6) Investment activity in relation to benchmark should be monitored 
regularly to check divergence and any impact on overall asset 
allocation strategy.

In addition to officer reports, the investment advisor monitors and 
reports quarterly to the Pension Committee on performance, 
personnel, process and organisational issues of fund managers.  The 
fundamental risk of the investment strategy not delivering the 
required – net of fee- return is measured quarterly in terms of the 
overall financial objective.  

7) Returns should be obtained from specialist performance 
agencies independent of the fund managers.

The Pension Fund uses the services of WM performance measurers 
who independently report against the overall fund and individual 
manager returns on a quarterly basis. WM returns are monitored 
against fund manager returns and discrepancies are investigated. 
WM also produce an annual performance report.

8) Investment manager returns should be measured against their 
agreed benchmark and variations should be attributed to asset 
allocation, stock selection, sector selection and currency risk, all of 
which should be provided by an independent performance 
measurement agency

Each quarter, WM measure fund manager returns against their 
agreed benchmarks and variations are attributed to asset allocation 
and stock selection. Relative risk is also measured and the degree of 
the manager deviating from the benchmark is included in the WM 
report.

9) In addition to the overall fund returns the return achieved in each 
asset class should be measured so that the impact of different 
investment choices can be assessed (e.g. equities by country, fixed 
interest by country and type etc.).

The Pension Fund does not measure fund returns on an asset class 
basis because the focus is on how individual manager performance 
contributes to the overall fund performance. However the weightings 
in each asset class are monitored and reported.

10) The use of peer group benchmarks (such has CIPFA/WM) may 
not be appropriate for directing a mandate of a manager insofar as 
they infer a common asset liability structure or investment 
requirement. Such benchmarks can be used for comparative 
information.

WM performance returns against peer group benchmarks are used 
for comparison purposes only.

11) The mandate represents the instruction to the manager as to 
how the investment portfolio is to be managed, covering the 
objective, asset allocation, benchmark, flexibility, risk parameters, 
performance targets and measurement timescales.

The mandate agreed with the investment manager includes how it is 
to be managed and covers the objective, asset allocation, 
benchmark, flexibility, risk parameters, performance targets and 
measurement timescales.

P
age 138



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

Advisors

12) The committee should devise a performance framework 
against which to measure the cost, quality and consistency of 
advice received from its actuaries.  It is advisable to market test the 
actuarial service periodically.
13) It is necessary to distinguish  between qualitative assessments 
(which are subjective) and quantitative reviews which require the 
compilation of series of data and are therefore more long term by 
nature.
14) Consultants should be assessed on a number of issues 
including the appropriateness of asset allocation recommendations, 
the quality of advice in choosing benchmarks and any related 
performance targets and risk profiles. The quality and 
appropriateness of the investment managers that are 
recommended and the extent to which advisors are proactive and 
consistent in recommending subsequent changes.

15) When assessing managers and advisors it is necessary to 
consider the extent to which decisions have been delegated and 
advice heeded by officers and elected members
Decision-making bodies
16) The process of self assessment involves both officers and 
members of the committee reviewing a range of items, including 
manager selection, asset allocation decisions, benchmarking 
decisions, employment of consultants and best value outcomes;

Pensions Committee performance is reviewed as part of the Annual 
Report. Performance can be measured by the success or otherwise 
of the strategy put in place and the individual performance of 
investment managers appointed by the committee, and full 
compliance with governance requirements including attendance at all 
training sessions.

17) the objective of the reviews would be to consider whether 
outcomes were as anticipated, were appropriate, or could have 
been improved.
18) The committee should set out its expectations of its own 
performance in its business plan. This could include progress on 
certain matters, reviews of governance and performance and 
attendance targets. It should include standards relating to 
administration of the committee's business such as:

The Business Plan sets out the expectations of the committee.

19) attainment of standards set down in CIPFA's knowledge and 
skills framework and code of practice; achievement of required 
training outcomes; achievement of administrative targets such as 
dates for issuing agendas and minutes.

Achievement of training outcomes are self assessed by the Pensions 
Committee. Targets such as dates for issuing agendas and minutes 
are strictly adhered to. Achievement of administrative targets are 
reported in the Pension Fund Annual report. 

Annual service assessments are undertaken for the services 
provided the Fund's actuary and advisors. They are measured 
against a set of criteria adopted by the Pension Committee. 

P
age 139



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

20) This assessment should be included in the fund's Annual 
Report.

The assessment of the committee expectations and training are 
included in the Annual Report

5. Responsible ownership
SUMMARY: PARTIALLY COMPLIANT

Administrating authorities should:
a) recognise, and ensure that their partners in 
the investment chain adopt, the FRC's UK 
Stewardship Code 

1) Policies regarding responsible ownership must be disclosed in 
the statement of investment principles which must be contained the 
annual report.

Policies on Social Environmental and ethical considerations are 
disclosed in the ISS, a copy of which is also included in the Pension 
Fund Annual Report.

b) include a statement of their policy on 
responsible ownership in the statement of 
investment principles

2) Responsible ownership should incorporate the committee's 
approach to long term responsible investing including its approach 
to consideration of environmental, social and governance issues.

The Pension Committee has considered socially responsible 
investments and the view has been taken that the funds investment 
managers to integrate all material financial factors into the decision 
making process for fund investments. 

c) report periodically to scheme members on the 
discharge of such responsibilities.

3) The committee should discuss the potential for consideration of 
environmental, social and governance issues to add value, in 
accordance with its policies on responsible investing, when 
selecting investment managers and in discussing their subsequent 
performances.
4) Authorities may wish to consider seeking alliances with either 
other pension funds in general, or a group of local authority 
pension funds, to benefit from collective size where there is a 
common interest to influence companies to take action on 
environmental, social and governance issues e.g. LAPFF.

5) It is important to ensure that through the terms of an explicit 
strategy that an authority's policies are not overridden, negated or 
diluted by the general policy of an investment manager.

The ISS is distributed to fund managers so that they are aware of the 
overall strategy. Fund managers are included in the consultation 
process if there are major changes.

6) Where the exercise of voting action is separated from the 
investment manager, authorities should ensure that the appropriate 
investment decision is taken into account by reference to those 
appointed to manage the investments. Authorities may use the 
services of external voting agencies and advisors to assist 
compliance in engagement. Measuring effectiveness is difficult but 
can only be achieved by open monitoring of action taken

Fund managers have been given delegated authority to vote in 
accordance with their proxy voting policies.  Fund Managers report 
voting activity quarterly and made available for the Pensions 
Committee to review.

7) The committee should ensure that investment managers have 
an explicit strategy, setting out the circumstances in which they will 
intervene in a company that is acceptable within the committee's 
policy.

Consideration of compliance will need to be given for future 
appointments. For existing investment managers, where applicable 
they are compliant or work is well underway to becoming compliant.

Over the long term, the Pensions Committee requires the investment 
mangers to consider, as part of the investment decisions, socially 
responsible investment issues and the potential impact on 
investment performance. 

P
age 140



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

8) The committee should engage with, and consider the 
implications of, the UK Stewardship Code on a comply or explain 
basis

The Committee has in the past accepted the principles laid down in 
the ' Institutional Shareholders Statement of Responsibilities and the 
policy is set out in the current version of the ISS. The UK 
Stewardship Code which has superseded this will need to be 
considered by the committee. 

9) The committee should also ensure that external partners in the 
investment chain (advisors, consultants, investment mangers, etc.) 
adopt the UK Stewardship Code insofar as it relates to their 
activities on behalf of the fund.

The UK Stewardship Code is directed to institutional investors (asset 
owners and asset managers with equity holdings in UK listed 
companies) and should apply on a comply-or-explain basis. Currently 
all of the funds asset managers and service providers have adopted 
the code.

10) The United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative 
(UNEP FI) has published Principles for Responsible Investment 
(UNPRI) and has encouraged asset owners and asset managers to 
sign up and commit to the six principles and regularly assess 
themselves against a comply or explain framework.

The UNPRI is voluntary and applies on a comply or explain basis. All 
but two of the fund's asset managers have adopted the code. One of 
these managers is in the advanced stage of completing the 
documentation and the other manager is actively considering joining 
in 2016. 

6. Transparency and reporting 
SUMMARY: FULLY COMPLIANT

Administrating authorities should: The committee should:
a) act in a transparent manner, communicating 
with stakeholders on issues relating to their 
management of investment, its governance and 
risks, including performance against stated 
objectives

1) ensure that its Governance Compliance Statement is maintained 
regularly. It should actively challenge any non- compliance and be 
very clear about its reasons for this and be comfortable with the 
explanations given.

The Governance Compliance Statement is considered and reviewed 
by the Pensions Committee on a regular basis. Any non-compliance 
is reported and necessary actions included.

b) provide regular communication to scheme 
members in the form they consider most 
appropriate.

2) have a comprehensive view of who its stakeholders are and the 
nature of the interests they have in the scheme and the fund. There 
should be a clearly stated policy on the extent to which 
stakeholders will take a direct part in the committee's functions and 
those matters on which they will be consulted.

The Governance Compliance Statement includes a statement on the 
extent to which stakeholders will take a direct part in the Pensions 
Committee's functions. Stakeholders are consulted and notified on 
major strategic and legalisation matters.   

3) build an integrated approach to its own governance and to 
communicating this and all other aspects of its work to its 
stakeholders.

The work of the Pensions Committee is publicly available on the 
Councils website at www.havering.gov.uk, follow links for council & 
democracy, committees, then pension committee. There is also a 
dedicated page on the Council's website for the Pension Fund under 
the page for council and democracy. How the work is communicated 
to its stakeholders is included in the fund's Communication Strategy, 
select link below to see the pensions page on the councils website. 

Pension Fund page

P
age 141



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

4) seek examples of good practice from the published reports and 
communication policies of other pension funds. It should also share 
examples of its own good practice. The full range of available 
media should be considered and used as appropriate.

Havering has undertaken partnership working with the London 
Pension Fund Authority who have developed a website to enable 
pension sharing best practices across the London Boroughs at 
www.yourpension.org.uk. Havering Pension Fund is also members of 
the CIPFA Pensions Network and the London Pension Fund Forum 
which are good sources of sharing best practices.

5) compare regularly its annual report to the regulations setting out 
the required content and, if the report does not fully comply with the 
requirements, should ensure that an action plan is produced to 
achieve compliance as soon as possible.

The Pension Fund Annual Report is prepared in accordance with 
Regulation 57 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 which applied from 1 
April 2014. It is also prepared in accordance with guidance published 
by CIPFA/PRAG in August 2014. 

6) The Funding Strategy (FSS) , the Statement of Investment 
Principles (SIP) and the Governance Compliance Statement are 
core source documents produced by the fund to explain their 
approach to investments and risks.

The FSS, the ISS and the Governance Compliance Statement are 
available on the Council's website at www.havering.gov.uk and are 
included on a dedicated page for the Pension Fund under the link for 
council and democracy, or select the link below. This page also 
includes the Pension Fund's Communication Strategy. Where 
applicable reference to all these documents is made in other 
publications. 
Pension Fund page

With regard to the FSS and SIP, they should:
7) contain delegation process and the roles of officers, members, 
external advisors and managers should be differentiated. The 
process by which the overall fund allocation process has been 
determined and include reference to assumptions as to future 
investment returns; mandates given to managers should describe 
fees structures, scale of charges, whether ad valorum or fixed, 
performance element built in, stating the implications for risk 
control; copies should be made available and its availability made 
clear in publications.

The policies shows the delegation process and the roles of officers, 
members, external advisors and how managers are differentiated; 
the process by which the fund allocation has been determined and 
includes references to assumptions on future returns; mandates 
given to each manager are described, including fees; and 
implications for risk control. 

With regard to the Governance Compliance Statement it must 
include:
8)   information on whether administrating authority delegates, the 
whole or part function; if it does delegate must state frequency of 
meetings, terms of reference, structure and operational 
procedures. It must also include whether the committee includes 
representatives of employing authorities and if so, whether they 
have voting rights.

The Governance Compliance Statement includes information on the 
administering authorities delegation process and functions delegated 
to the Pensions Committee. It also includes the frequency of 
meetings, terms of reference, structure and operational procedures. 

P
age 142



STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES ‐ COMPLIANCE AGAINGST MYNER'S PRINCIPLES  APPENDIX D

Principle Best Practice Guidance (CIPFA) Havering Position/Compliance

9)  details of the extent to which it complies with CLG guidance. 
Where the statement does not comply, reasons must be given. A 
copy of the statement must be sent to the CLG.

The Governance Compliance Statement also includes a table which 
shows the extent of compliance with DCLG guidance and a copy has 
been sent to theD CLG.

With regard to the fund's Communication Strategy it must:
10) set out the administering authority's policy on: the provision of 
information and publicity about the scheme to members, 
representatives of members and employing authorities; the format, 
frequency and method of distributing such information or publicity; 
the promotion of the scheme to prospective members and their 
employing authorities.

The Communication Statement includes: the administrating 
authorities policy on provision of information and publicity about the 
scheme, it also includes the format, frequency and method of 
distribution of such information. 

P
age 143



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT
	FSS Appendix A DRAFT Funding Strategy Statement 2016 v2 DF

	5 2016 ACTUARIAL VALUATION DRAFT REPORT
	2016 Draft Valuation Report Appendix A

	6 INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT
	ISS Appendix A LBH DRAFT ISS  as at  02 03 17
	ISS Appendix B LGPS Management and Investment of Funds Regulations 2016
	ISS Appendix C LGPS_Guidance_on_Preparing_and_Maintaining_an_Investment_Strategy_Statement
	ISS Appendix D DRAFT compliance statement SIX Myners principle (2)


